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(Knum' ow =MAL VISIONS OF THE PEACE, 
City and County of New York, 

Part III. 

411"10. ..... 
• 

TRH PEOPLE etc., 

VS. 

AMMO TORELLI and WILLIAM 
!ABENTINI. 

01:40 ' 

• • 

Before 

MoMAMON, J., 

and a jury. 

New York, June 4th, 1903. 

Indictment filed April 22nd, 1903, 

Charge: Assault in the Second Degree. 

Appearances: 

. Por the People, Assistant District Attorney Robert Townsend. 

For the Defendant, Louis Steckler, Esq. 

A jury was impanelled and sworn. 

Mr Townsend opened the case on behalf of the People. 
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MOM, Sr CAns 
*AO. 

CRASt GORMA 110 called am a witness on behalf of 

th0 Peoples br4nie,!; duly sworn* testified as follows: 

MR. TOWNVUD: T ask that all the witnesses be 

exclutieds, 

TITY COURT: The witme 800 on both sides will ho 

exc1nele4 from the court room and remain outside until 

called. 

. MA. STROEUR: Does that refer to character wit-, 

nemmos? 

TnE COURT: No. 7itnes'sen who 1,411 testify 139 to 

the charaoter of the defendaant may remain In the court 

roOms 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY TOWNEWND: 

Q, Your occuPation is what? A Policeman,. 

(4, you are a captain of pollee A Captain of Polices 

q You are connected with what preoinct? A I am connected 

with the 4th Precinct now. At the time of the assault I WOM 

oonneote4 with the 16th Precinct. 

Q, Whmi wan that/ A On the 12th of April, 1903'. 

q YOu were then connected with the 16th Preeinot? A Yost 

Q, ROW long have you been on the o 00 A This Is my 
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k roll /met beers captain how lone A Thin is the 3r4 year 

that ,I hsVe been captain, 
a 

41 Do you recollect the night of the 12th of APrilo 1903? 

A, Yell. str,. 

• Q Did you nee the deffIldants.that night? A Yes, sir, 

Q Where were they4? A They were in the bar in Saloon at 

149 Dle.cker Street. 

Q County of New York? A Yes, sir, County of Row York, it 

0. 12115 in the morning' A Yes, sir. 

;-

 

Q. That was the morninr of the 13th? A 12th, Saturday 

night and Saturday morning* 

Q State olearly to the jury what happened, what wal4' the 

occasion of you going there and what happened there with 

relation to these two defondante A I went out on patrol duty 

Ahat night and had been into different places, and on mY' way 

through Bleecker fltreet, at about ten minutes past twelve -

Passed, this place, 149 Bleecker Street, looked through the wind0w4 

and I saw it in full operation-- three bartenders. 

MR. nonams.: I ask that that be stricken Outs 

full operation", Lot blm• state what he saw. 

THE COURT: Strike out the words "in full 

operation", 

You OW three bartenders? A Yes, and about fifteen men. 



lined up at the bar. T went Into the place and asked who 

In °barges and Torelli was pointed out to me • 

UR. MCKIM: I ask that that be stricken out, 

don't know whom he ask d. 

TB? COURT: Leave out "I asked who was in charge". 

TBI iN$: I asked Torelli if he had Charged, 

13T 1. 711T4 

Which in Torelli? A That is the person, (Pointing to 

defen ant). 

q Where was Torelli when you first 04W h1M9 A Behin4 

bar, at the centre part of the bar. 

q You stepped up to him and said what? A I asked him, 

"Are you in. dhare" Be says, "1" am the boss, wh. are you?" 

I says, "1 mm captain of this precinct and I want you to close up 

and clear out your bar." He says, "Oh, you go to hell I am 

going on". I then went down to the lower end of the bar where 

this Parent ml Was towards the door, he was serving drinks 'be-

hind the bar, and asked him for a glass of whiskey, 4hict he 

served to me. I paid him ten cents for it and tasted the liquor, 

and told him that he was a prisoner and I placed him under arrest. 

Then tt mu; n,:,oessary to vo to the other end of the room, to get 

behind the bar, where the entrance VO4,41, and I went up there and 

"started towards that end. Torelli started also and antioiPated 

mos impeded me, mr14 he says, "You can't arrest nobody here 



'704401. 

,And be OhoVed M. bank, and he pidked up a twnhler'.i. 

Q Whodid, A Torelli. 

Torelli the ProPrietor? A Yes* sir. That im the man - 

(Pointing to defendant)* HO said he was the boss, And he throwed 

it Sitmet Wowed it at my head, And I put up my left hand 

Wore my face, and the tumb3.er broke on my hand. It Out me 

ieverely4 There is a slight soar here yet. That being the 

graver offenoe, then 

M.STiCKLBR; Objeoted to. 

rr COURT Leave out your comments. State what 

you did. 

THE /ITNESSi As soon as he otruok ric., with the 

tumbler I dosed in on me, and grabbed him by the neot, 

r opys, arrest you. And 1 dragged him out from 

behind the bar, and as I dragged him out I was struck on 

all sides by the people in the Place. 

13Y B, TOWNSMUDI 

About how many were in there? A Thirty. 

Q What happened to you? A I was pulled away and shoved. 

way from Torelli. And then he picked up the oeoond tumbler 

and he throwed it at me. I maw it ooming and I dodged it, 

throwed my head to the right, and it mtruok me here at the side 

of the head s glanoing blow. I went towards Torelli again and 

410004 in on him and tried to take him towards the door so that 
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- Could got him outside, Med they surrounded me, and would strike 

MA4 one of the Prisoners struck mo in the face, and another.. 

Objected to. 

THE •COURT: Is it this defendant hre? 

THR WITTIBSS; The one Charged in the indiotment. 

MR. STMCKLERI I ask that it be stricken out no 

incompetent, irrelevant and immaterial. 

Tim COURT: It is art of the ref) getas. 

Defendant excepts. 

BY MR. TOWNSIM: 

Can you state his name? A I don't know his name; I 

know him by eight. Toreili cl.n4 another person grabbed me and 

drawed to towards the bar. As they did that Parentini jumped up 

on the bar--

TRW COURT: Who in Parentini? 

THR WITIMS: This other defendant, 

TUR COURT: That man there (Indicating defPndant), 

WITTIWTS: Yes, sirs.- and he struck me on the 

head with, a club. I have tho elub here. 

7.)Y MI TOV1SEND: 

Q Produce the olub? 

9 g 

A (Witnesn produoem the club.) He 

on his kneem on the 1Nar with this club, and Torelll had me 

on o0e side, and another man that wan arrested at the time, on 

the other. And this Parentini struck Mo on the top of the. head 
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tide, With this. Re held it in about th.:',43 position (illustrat-, 

ing)t This thing was hanging down like this, / broke away from 

thou And Went towards the door, and I was struok on the right 

eide ef the 0Y0 with. another tumbler by the person that had hold 

of me with TorelX1* 

BR* AMER: I object to to timony as to other 

toORMUlt#40 

Objection overrtled* 

Defendant excepts. 

THE WITIMS: They were strikink me all around, 

ant several others that got away struck me. 

MR. UrNONTAR; X make the name objection. 

TH-N COURT: I allow it as p rt of the trans otiON-

Wendant excepts. 

1:1-fX WV:MSS; I got to the door with the orowd 

around me, striking and hitting MP and kickine, me; 

an4 I 441.,o force open t'fic door ana found it had be'on 

fastened. They were glass panel doors, doublv doort4 

and I put my foot through a glass panel, first on one 

sido and then on other, and. put my sho414er to the 

aoor, protectin nymoIS 5.F 'nnolk an J oould While I Wask 

doine 60 from the blows of t;hc Offorent people; and 

I forced. that door and got outside, and they followed. 

Me botween-**, there wao an out.ide door and an inside 
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(I] 

.somnp••••• 

door; they followed me out there and still commenced 

to 1004t and assault Me, and I found that the outside 

doer was also famtened, one door I foroed with my feat, 

and the other door 1 throwed some person through it, 

and in throwing him through the door that forced the 

second door open, and I got to the street. And I asked 

for somebody to go and get me anoistance, and in a few 

minutes, two policemen, some that will be present here 

today, Oftme to' my aolei otance. 

BY 1114. TOWPFMNDs 
C. 

q Do you remember what offioer it mike A There was 

ffl oer Kiernan, O'Brien, Convoy and Fitssimmone, $1,e4 Doteotte. 

Sullivan. 

q They ewe to your assistance. Then what happened, 

,k We went into the place again and it had been deserted; every* 

body had left the place, 4nd I gq,ve orders--

MR. STIMLNR: Never mind what orders you gave, 

BY MR* TOWNSVD: 

Q who, happened then' A The officers that came to my 

meoistance sea robed the house and brought--

MR. 3TNOKLER$ I objeot to what they did, 

BY VB. TOWNUNDI 

Did they make an et, A: Yen, are 

q 004r0h404 the house and arrested Whom'? A Torelli, 
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Where did they find him? A. They told me they found him 

n his room. 

Objected to. 

BY MR. TOWN§END: 

Q That is hearsay. They can testify to that. They 

brought Toroth., and who else was arrested? A Torelli and nine 

*Viers were brought into the saloon. 

Q Was Parentini one of those? A He was brought in that 

time, but he was not Arrested until the following day. 

When Torelli was brought into the saloon what happened 

there? A I identified him as one of the persons that assaulted 

me, and ordered him to be taken to the station house in the 

Patrol wagon. 

Did he say anything in English" A No,. not that I 

remember. 

When did you next see Parentini. You say you saw him 

that night? A I saw him that night. 

Q Was he identified that night" A No. He had Changed 

his clothes. He was partly identified. 

MR. STECKLER: I ask that that be stricken out. 

Let him state the circumstances. 

THE COURT: He is stating the circumstances.. 

Defendant excepts. 

T1D1 COURT: What do you except to? 



MR. MECKIXR: I except to the fact that he savt 

. that this man changed his clothes, to the fact that 

your Honor allows this testimony to stand, that this 

-man says he was partly identified. 

THE COURT: He can state the fact how he was 

partly identified, and whether he wore the same clothes 

he did before, idwhether he was the same person. He 

is stating the circumstances. 

Defendant excepts. 

HtIVER. TOWNSEND': 

You say he was then in a different suit of clothes from 

What he was when he attacked you? 

Objected to as leading. 

Objection sustained. 

Question withdrawn. 

BY MR. TOWNSEND: 

Q He had different clothes on? 

THE COURT': Was the man who was brought there the , 

same man who assaulted you in the saloon  

THE WITNESS: He was the same man. 

THE COURT: Did he wear the same clothes that he 

did when he assaulted you? 

THE WITNESS: No. 

BY MR. TOWNSEND: 

What was the difference? A He had only his Undershirt, ' 
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and a different, coat, no hat on. 

(t -'Had he trousers on? A I don't know anything about the 

trousers. MY right eye was almost closed at the time, and my 

eyes were full of blood, and I could not properly see him at 

the time. 

Q He is the man now you say? A He is the man. 

Q The man that assaulted you that night? A Yes, sir; he 

is the man. 

Q About that club-- where did you get that? A I got it 

behind the bar. 

Q Where did you get it? A I ordered one of the officers to 

go and get it from behind the bar. 

Q You identify that as the club that Parentini struck you 

with? A Yes, sir. 

Q You had no further talk with this man at any time-- you 

didn't talk with thee, two defendants again? A No, no further 

talk with them. 

6' 

THE COURT': Were you present when they were 

brought before the sergeant? 

THE WITNESS: Yes, sir; I identified them at 

the station house again, and made the charges against' 

them. 

THE COMM Did they make any statement there, 

either of them? 
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THE WITNESS: NO. But they made a statement to --

101t. STECKLER: I object. 

THE COURT: Did they make a statement in the 

P0.110e Court? 

THE WITNESS: No-- to Detective Sullivan. 

THE COURT: In your presence? 

THE WITNESS: No. 

THE COURT; Then don't state it. 

TOWN SEND,: 

Q Do you know Mr Carroll? A Yes, sir. 

Q Did you see him that night? A Yes, sir. 

When for the first time? A In the station house. 

Q Had you known him before? A Never saw him before'. 

Q He came into the station house when these men were under 

arrest? A Yes, sir. 

GROSS EXAMINATION BY MR STECKLER: 

Q Were you in uniform that night? A No, sir. 

Q What kind of clothes did you wear? A Clothes that 

.are generally worn at that season of the year, dark clothes. 

Q Was it the suit you have on now? A No. 

What color coat was it? A Kind of a dark coat. 

Q Have you got it here with. you? A No. I could get it. 

Q What sort of a vest did you have? A Same as the coat, 
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Rather shabby, both of them? A No. 

How about the trousers, What kind of trousers did you have 

on? A Stripe trousers, dark stripe. 

You had a derby hat, a black derby hat? A Yes, sir. 

Q And a colored shirt, A Not a colored shirt. 

q What Rind of shirt was it? A One of thesanegligee 

Blurts. 

(1 With stripes in it? A Stripes in it. 

Q. Colored stripes? A Colored stripes. 

q Had you ever seen this defendant before that night, 

either of them? A Not that I know of. 

Q You didn't know them? A No. 

Q . You don't know whether they knew you or not? A Yes, 

sir. I know Torelli knowed me. 

Q You never saw him before, did you? A I told him who I 

was. 

Q, Before you came in the place do you know whether Torelli 

knew Who you were? A No, I don't. 

Q What time did you leave the station house 'that night? 

A Near ten o ' clock. 

Q, what time? A Between nine and ten o'clock. 

A little after nine, was it not? A Something around 

that tiMe. 

Q About a quarter past nine? A Later Alkihn that. 
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A And did you return again after you left the station 

house? AL Not.until I.went in after the assault. 

Q Where had you been before nine o'clock that night? 

A Been Patrolling the precinct. 

Q Before nine? A Before-- I had been in the station 

house. 

Prom what hour? A I guess up from six o'clock or so 

U]  to •eleven o'clock, when I turned out the platoon. 

Q Did you go out then? A After nine o'clock I went out--

yes, sir. 

Q. Did you go out between six and nine? A No. 

Q At nine o'clock you went out and you patrolledthe 

precinct? A Yes, sir. 

Q Until what hour? A About the time I went in this 

place, about 12:15. 

Q Before you went in this place you went in a' concert hall? 

A Yes, sir. 

Q What time did you get in the concert hall? A 12:05 

Q (Question repeated.) A. 12:05 A. M. 

Q Sure about that? A Yes, sir-- oh-- which do you mean.. 

by the concert saloon? 

Q You know the conbert saloon I mean, don't you? A: Do 

you Mean the theatre? 
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Q The theatre, if you call it such? A I got in therd 

after ten o'clock. 

A 

hours? 

Street, 

And You stayed. in that place until about twelve? 

No; it was about 11:50 

That is about twelve? A About twelve-- yes, sir. 

You stayed in that concert hall or theatre about two 

A Very near it. 

Where was that concert hall or theatre? A In Sullivan 

And you sat in the audience? A Yes, sir. 

Q Did the people in that place know that you were a 

police captain? A I don't think they did. I didn't make mySelf 

known. 

Q You paid your admission to go in there? A No admission. 

Q You went in there and sat down? A Sat down. 

Q And looked at the performance? A Yes, sir. 

Q Are you a drinking man? A No. 

Q You do drink, don't you? A No, I don't drink. 

Q Never? A I taste a drink once in a while, but I don't 

drink at all. I will take a drink but that is all. 

Q You stayed in there until ten minutes to twelve? 

A Yes, sir. 

Q When you say you went in at ten and stayed until ten 

minutes to twelve you base that time on, your own watch, don't 

II 



I. 

'Yog? • A. .1170,0i, sir. 

-4' Youhatt-a watch in your pocket and you looked at the . 

A Ieflt, sir, 

Q1 , And  according to your watch it was ten minutes to twelve. 

when you left that place? A Yes, sir. 

Q And yOU walked. from there up to where? A To Bleecker 

Street. 

Q How long did it take you to walk up to Bleecker Street?' 

A it took me until twelve o'clock. 

Q About what time did you get id front of Mr Torelli10 

place? A 'About ten minutes past twelve. But there Is- one 

place you didn't ask me about. I went into another place-. 

Q, Another bar room? A Another bar room. 

Q Did you make any arrests there?. A No. 

Q Did you make any attempt to make arrests? A No. 

Q What time did you get into that other bar room? A Five 

minutes past twelve. 

It was open? A It was open. 

Q, There were other saloons open besides that one that you 

passed? A Not that I see. 

Q You got in there five minutes past twelve? A Yes., 

tin 

sir. 

How long did you stay there? A Long enough to tell 

him to ,close the place. 
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Q What time did you leave there? A About eight minutes 

pot 01011e. 

Q That was half a block Away from Torelli's place? 

Yee, Sir. 

Q What time did you get in front of Torelli's place? 

A Ten minutes past twelve. 

Q That was according to your watch, ten minutes past 

twelve, is that correct? A Yes, sir. 

Torelli keeps No. 149 Bleecker Street? A Yes, sir. 

Q And his house •runs through into Sullivan Street or 

Thompson Street? A I don't brow anything about the rear. 

Q I say or into Thompson Street? A I don't know anything 

about the rear of the house. 

Q Describe if you will the kind of place that Torelli keep". 

there? A It has two or three steps down from the sidewalk, and. 

he h4s double doors at the entrance, and a big plate glass window. 

Q, One or two? A One window, on the left of the entrance, 

Q Is it a private house remodeled, is it not? A. Yes, sir; 

it is a private house. 

Q And there are four or five stories? A Four, I judge. 

Q He keeps hotel there? A Yes:sir. 

Q And up to that time you knew that wasa respectable 

Place, didn't you? A I knew nothing about the place. 

q now long were you captain of that precinct? A Three 
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mOnth0v. 

Q; During that time you had'some knowledge of the place? 

A Not. at a11. 

Q.:Didn't you know whether it was a place of respectability 

or not? A I judge so or I would have had complaints against 

It. 

Q You had had no complaint against it on any account 

Whatsoever? A None. 

Q And Torelli had a hotel license? A Yes, sir. 

(I How long to your knowledge was that place in existence 

there run by Torelli? A Three month-s. 

Q, Haven't you known that it was there for many years prior 

to that time? A I knew nothing about it. 

Q You had no information on that subject? A None at all. 

Q When you got to the place the curtain was all up? 

A Yes, sir. 

Q The lights were lit in. the saloon? A Yes, sir. 

There were about fifteen men as you say standing along 

the bar? A Fifteen-- yes, sir. 

Q Drinking? A Drinking. 

" q In open sight of the street? A Yes, sir. 

Q And there were men 'in the bar room, it the back, drinking 

at tables? A Yes, sir. 

Q Altogether how many people would you say a person could 



see from the street drinking at the bar or at the tables? 

A Thirty. 

Q Thirty, including the men at the bar? A Yes, sir--

al 
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Did you see any screens up in the rear? A No. 

None at all? A No. 

How far back could you look from the street? A I could 

10bk back to the end Of the bar, thirty-five feet. 

Q, How deep was this saloon itself, how far back did it 

run? A I judge the saloon run back about sixty feet. 

Q Could not you see the other thirty feet? A No. 

q Why? A From the position the saloon is, down. 

Q If a person would go down those two steps they could 

see through? A Yes, sir, whenyou got on a level. 

You didn't go down to a level? A Not until I went 

in. 

Q You stood on the street? A Yes, sir. 

Q And looked down? A I looked down and looked in. 

C And saw these drinking people standing at the bar and 

sitting at the tables? A Yes, sir. 

Q When had you looked at your watch before you got to 

Torelli's? A When I was at this Vesuvius place. 

Q .It was then eight minutes past twelve? A Yes, sir. 

Q Did you look at your watch again? A Yes, sir, In 



front of Torelli s place. 

What time was it then? A Ten minutes past twelve. 

Q Row long did you stand in front of this place before 

you made at attempt to go in? A Two or three minutes. 

Q And yoti stood on the sidewalk? A Yes, sir. 

Q And after standing there two or three minutes what did 

you do then? A I went in and asked who was in charge. 

You went in? A Yes, sir. 

Q You walked down those three steps? A Yes, sir. 

Q And walked through the door? A Yes, sir. 

Q, It was wide open? A Yes, sir. 

Q Front doors open? A Front doors open. 

Q And the vestibule doors open? A Two doors open. 

There is a vestibule right from the entrance? A There 

are two doors. 

q They were both open? A Yes, sir. 

Q, And you walked in? A Walked in. 

•RI Do you remember at the Police Court you testified that 

you stood in front of Torelli's about five minutes? A NO, I 

don't remember that. 

(1 If you did testify in the Police Court that you stood 

there five minutes it must have been five minutes? A I didn't 

testify only to what I am testifying here. 
to 

Q If I readityou your testimony-- you state-- A That 
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was never read to me after the stenographer took the notes. 

Q Did you testify in the Police Court? A Same as I am 

testifying here, 

Q Were you sworn there? A Yes, sir. 

Q Did you give your testimony? A Yes, sir. 

Q Was this question put to you and did you make this 

answer: "Q. How long did you stay outside of Torelli's and 

look in that window? A. About five min#tes." A That is not 

correct. 

Q You did not swear to that? A I didn't swear to that. 

q You had on a blue coat, did you not? A Black. 

Q Blue trbusers? A Stripe, gray stripe, very dark. 

Q Did you testify in the Police Court in answer to this 

question as follows: What colored coat? A. I call it 

black. Sort of black ribbed? A. Yes, sir. Q. Same sort 

of vest? A. Same material. Q. And blue trousers? A. Blue 

trousers."-- did you swear to that? A That is wrong. 

You did not swear to that? A I did not swear to that. 

Q What sort of a tie did you have on? A Gray, 

Q You walked in that place and what was the very first 

thing, if anything, that you did when you got in that place? 

A I asked who was in charge. 

Q Do you remember who you asked? A 'No. 

Q Did you ask that loudly? A No, in an ordinary tone or 

Volvos 
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• Q Of whom did yo8 ask? A I said to Torelli, "Are you in • 

charge?" 

Q Whom did you first address your conversation to? A One 

Of the people or persohs that was in the place. 

Q, At the bar, somebody that was drinking there? A, Back 

from the bar. 

q Somebody that was drinking there? A Some that were 

Standing there; as soon as I entered the place at the door 

there was people around there. 

Q Was it somebody that was drinking there? A No; the 

person was not drinking. 

Q, 

Q, 

Was he the bartender? A No. 

He was a man outside of the bar? A Yes. 

And he told you Torelli? A He didn't speak at all; he• 

pointed to Torelli. 

Q, What did you do then? A I went up to Torelli and I 

asked him if he was in charge. 

part. 

Q, What part of the bar was Torelli in? A The centre 

Q, When you asked him that question what did he say to yOU? 

A He said he was the boss. 

Q What was the next thing you said? A I told him to 

' close up his bar and stop his business in the bar. 
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Q What was the language that you used to him? A I says, 

"Clear out your bar and stop business in the bar". 

Q What did he say? A He says, Who are you?" I says, 

"I am the captain of thisprecinct". 

•Q Did you say it so that he could hear it? A I was 

talking to him-- yes, sir. 

Q What else did you say or do? A Then he said to me, he 

says, "Oh, you go to hell". 

Q,Afteryou told him you were captain of the precinct the 

next answer he gave was, "You go to hell"? A Yes, sir. And 

he says, "1 will go on,". Then I stood and looked at him 

serving drinks and receiving the money for it. 

Q You stood there all this time? A Yes, sir, for a 

minute or Ealf a minute. And then I went down to the end of 

the bar. 

Q Towards which end? A Towards the door. 

Q Towards the front? A The front or the window-- where 

another bartender, Parentini, was serving drinks; and I asked 

him for a drink of whiskey. 

Q, When you say Parentini, you mean this defendant here 

(Pointing to defendant)? A Yes, sir. 

What did he have on  A He had a sack coat, and a 

polo cap. I could not see any other part of his clothing. 

Did he have on an apron? A No. 
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Q Did Torelli }law an apron on? A Yes, sir; and he was. 

n his shirt sleeves. 

9, You said there were three men behind the bar? A Yes, 

sir. 

Q Did the other man have an apron? A Yes, sir. 

(I The only man that had no apron was parentini? A Yes, 

Parentini. 

Q at else happened when you walkedto the end of the bar? 

A I asked him for a drink of whiskey, which he served. I gave 

him ten cents for it, and tasted it. 

Who served, it to you? A Pal-entini. 

And that was after you told Torelli you were captain 

of the precinct and to close up? A Yes, sir. 

Q Then you walked to the front of the bar and asked 

Parentini for this whiskey? A Yes, sir. 

Q And he gave it to you? A Yes, sir. 

Torelli saw him give it to you? A I don't know. 

(4, He was behind the bar? A I didn't pay attention to• 

that. I was not looking at him at all. I can't tell whether 

seen me or not. 

You got your whiskey? A I got my whiskey. 

Q You paid ten cents? A I paid ten cents. 

Q And Parentini took it  A Parentini took it-- yes, 

he 

Q Put it in the drawer? A In one of the cash registers. 
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:And then I told him he.was under arrest, 

Q Told who? A Parentini. 

Q Did Torelli hear that? A He must when he stopped me. 

Q -Did you show your badge that time? A I showed it to 

Torelli. 

Q When? A When I told him who I was. 

Q The moment you got in you told him to close up, that you 

were captain of the precinct? A When he told me he was the 

boss. 

.Q That was the first conversation? A With him-- yes. 

Q You then took up your coat and showed that badge? 

A Yes, sir. 

q Your badge that you have here? A Yes, sir. 

Q That is what you testified to at the Police Court? 

A Yes, sir. 

Q Right at the back of your vest? A Right here (indicat-

ing). 

Q You pulled it open and said, "Close up, I am the captain 

of the precinct"? A I said to close up his bar. 

Q Did you. say, "1 am captain of the precinct"? A Yes, 

sir. 

THE COURT': But he did not say it in that connec-

tion. He testified that the defendant asked him, "Who 
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are You?" 

BY MR. STECKLER: 

You said, "Close up your bar", and he said, Who are you?" 

A Yes.. 

Q You said., "I am captain of the precinct, here is my 

is that right? A When I said, "I am captain of the 

Precinct", I displayed my Shield at the time. I didn't say, • 

olters is my shield". 

Q You displayed it? A Yes, sir. 

Q He said, 'Tau go to hell"? A Yes, sir. 

Q Anything else? A Only what I told you. He said, "I 

will go an". 

Q When he said that to you did you .go behind the bar? 

A I attempted to. 

Q Did you take the drink 9 A No-- afterwards. 

Q, You knew when you came into that place, according to 

your watch ten minutes past twelve, he was then violating the 

law? A Yes, sir. 

Q You knew it was not necessary to take a drink? A I have 

had a good many excise cases. That was part of the evidence I 

wanted to get. 

Q Didn't you know as a police officer that if you saw this 

man selling after twelve o'clock that was all the evidence you 

needed that he was violating the law then? A I knew that. 

J. 
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Q Then he told you to go to hell and you made no attempt 

arrest him, but walked to the other end of the bar and took 

:-4i4rink? A .Y.00, sir, becauSe there was more than one--

. STECKLER: Fever mind that. 

THE COURT: He may explain. 

B. STECKLER: I object to that. 

THE COURT: Go on. 

MR. STECKLER: Exception. 

BY MB. STECKLER: 

(1 When you told him You were captain of the precinct you 

Said it loud enough for everybody to hear it? A For TorelX1 

to hear it. 

Q Loud enough for the people around the bar to hear it 

too? A It was a pretty big room. 

Q You were right amongst the fifteen people drinking 

there? A They were very intent upon their business. 

Q Were you among those fifteen persons? A You are asking 

my opinion. I don't know whether everybody in the place heard 

me. 

Q You did not whisper lt? A I was not talking to them 

any louder than I am talking to you. 

Q You were talking as loud, weren't you? A In an ordinaty 

conversational tone of voice. He was only about two or three 

'feet away from me-- just as I would talk to a person about three 
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feet away from ihe I told him. 

Q You testified in the Police Court, did you not: N. If 

you did say that you are under arrest, anybody around the bar, 

ten feet Away might have heard you? A. They might." Did you 

testify to that? A They might. , 

Q "Q. If they had good hearing they could have heard? 

A. Yeti, sir." Did you testify .6 that? A What is that? 

Q "Q, If they had good hearing they could have heard? 

A. "Yes, sir." A That is right. 

When you then took your drink and said to Parentini, 

TrOu are under arrest", you started to walk towards the tear end 

Of the saloon, didn't you? A Yes, sir. 

Q In order to get as you testified around the bar? 

A Yes, sir. 

The opening was about twenty-five feet from the front? 

.A Twenty-five or thirty feet. 

When you got to that opening did you go in behind the' 

bar? A I was interfered with, I could not get in. 

Who interfered with you? A Torelli. 

Q Where was he when you got there? A At the end of the 

bar, the opening. 

Q When you got there what did he do? A He shoved me bud(' 

and says, "You can't, arrest anybody here". Then he picked up - 

the tumbler, throwed it at me. 
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14 When he said, "You can't get in behind here",-- A He 

' MY'S, "You can't arrest anybody". 

Q When he said that did you try to push your way by him? 

AL Yes, sir. 

Q Did you take hold of him? A No, I tried to edge by 

him. 

You dammed your elbow up against hire A *Yes, sir. 

Q Did you jam them up against the bar? A I don't know, 

_Q, Was it a gentle jam that you gave him? A I was intent 

upon one purpose, to get my prisoner. 

Q Was it a gentle jam that you gave him? A I was not 

judging, them things, whether it was gentle or not. 

Q You made up your mind to get behind the bar? A Yes, 

to get my prisoner-- yes, sir. 

Q, You didn't take particular notice what efforts you made.. 

to get behind the bar? • A I will make any effort to get a, 

prisoner. 

Q, Did you hit the man? A Not until he struck me. 

Q, Did you hit him at that time? A No. 

Q Did you ever put your hand on him until you saw he 

threw a glass at you? A No, not until I made a prisoner of 

Q, When you pushed yourself against him what didTorelli 

say, if anything, to you? A He said) before that, "You can't 
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arrest anybody here". 

Q When you Pushed him, tried to get by him with your 

elbow, what did he say to you? A I don't remember his saying 

anything. 

Q Did he say anything? A Not that I know of. 

What did he say to you before you started to push him 

with your elbow-- what did he say to you? A He says, "You 

oan t arrest anybody here". 

Q Is that the language he used? A Yes, sir. 

Q Is that all he said? A All I heard him say. 

Q Nothing more violent than that? A Nothing more. 

Q Did you testify in the Police Court to this question: 

"Q. nerd did he shove you? A. On the breast. Q. Away from 

the bar? A. Away from the bar. Q. Give us exactly what he. 

said. A. He said, 'You son, of a bitch, you ain't going to 

arrest nobody'."-- did he say that, did you testify to that? 

A That is right. 

Q You left that part out today? A I didn't think of it 

but that is true. You put me in mind of it. 

Q This testimony in the Police Couqrt was correct? A That 

part is correct. 

Q. The other part that you testified to before as not having 

sworn to was incorrect? A Which part? 

Q, The questions which you denied9 A About the five 
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minutes, 

ct les, A That was wrong. 

(1• And about the blue trousers-- that was wrong? A That 

was Wrongs,- blue trousers. 

Q But this part is right, you had forgot that today? 

A / didn't remember the "son of a bitch". 

When he pushed you what sort of a push was it he gave 

You? A Pretty violent. 

Q What happened to you? A As soon as he pushed me he 

Picked up a glass and throwed it at me. 

Q, What kind of a glass was it? A A small beer glass. 

Q When he threw that at you where did it hit you? 

A Left hand. 

Q You testified. here when he threw the beer glass you Put 

up your hand to ward it off? A Yes, sir. 

Q When you did that you said he closed in on you? A No, 

I closed in on him. 

Show us the way you closed in on him? A Shall I show 

you like I did in the Police Court? 

Q Yes-- just as violently and just as gently as you did it 

then. A (Witness illustrates) I got him by the neck like 

this, and dried to pull him out from behind the bar. 

Q Did you do it? A No, because there were too many in 

the Place. 
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Q YOU Were not quite as gentle as that? A Just about 

like tills* 

Q Didn't you take a glass and.hit him in the face? 

A No  had no chance to. 

Q, Did you strike him in the face? A I did. 

Q Did you cut his eye? A His eye was cut. 

Q Did you cut his cheek? A I only noticed his eye was 

cut. 
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Q Didn't you cause the blood to flow from it? A I don't 

know. I think it was my blood was on him. 

Q Did he bleed? A I didn't see any blood from him. 

Q But you cut him? A I hit him in the eye, I remember 

that. 

Q You cut his eye? A I don't know whether it was cut or 

not. My hand was bleeding at the time. 

Q You didn't cut him until he pushed you'? A No. 

Q But you did hit him? A I hit him 10-th) my left hand. 

Q Clenched fist? A Yes, sir. 

Q Did you have a ring on? A I never wear one. 

Did you have a glass or instrument in your hand? 

A No. 

Q, You caught him by the nexk? A By the collar, on both 

sides, by the collar, not the neck, both hands. 

9, Did you testify before: "Q. What do you mean by closed, 
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in? A. 1 caught him by the neck. 

nedkI the collar. 

ft A yeol sir, round. the 
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,Q Didn't you demonstrate in the.Police Court that you 

,iipnittbed hik this way (illustrating) with one hand, and the neck 

:by. the other? A Both hands. 

And Started choking him? A No. 

Q, Didn't you have a man and took hold of him this way 

(illUstrating)? A Just the same way I done here. 

Q, Sure Of that? A Sure of that. 

You didn't sky at that time wby the neck"? A I say 

now I got him by the neck. 

After you grabbed him that way you let go afterwards? 

A I was pulled away from him. 

• q And then you saw Torelli take up another glass and throW - 

it at you again? A Yes, sir. 

IS that correct? A That is right. 

41 Where did that second glass hit you? A Side of the 

head. 

Q What sort of a glass was that? A Small beer glass. 

Q, Small? A Yes, sir. 

Q Sure about that? A Sirei 

Q, You. didnt sky it was a large one in the Police Court? • 

A I think the Judge drawed a diagram of the glass. 

Q Did you sky it was a large or a =all glass in. the Police 

• i" 
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Court? A About four inches. 

Q Did you say it was large or small? A I said an ordinary 

-beer glass. The Judge asked me the question--

I didn't a& that. 

THE COURT: He has a right to explain his answer. 

MR. STECKLER: Not upon my examination, if your 

Honor please. 

THE COURT: Oh, yes. 

MR. STECKLER: But this is cross examination. 

-THE COURT: Go on then. 

BY MB. STECKLER: 

Q, When you did get away from all these people that you say 

were assaulting you, you say that the door was locked and you 

could not get out? A 1 could not get out. 

Q, How did you get out? A Put my foot through the panel 

of the door, both panels, on the inside door, and put my Shoulder 

to it, and then the'Sr fought me between the outside doors. 

Q Did you break the first one open? A Yes, sir. 

Q When you got out into the vestibule it was a storm door, 

Was it not one of these box doors? A Same as the c:ther. 

Was it not a box door, that leads out into the street? 

A In my judgment it was on a line with thil house. 

Was•it not a storm door, a winter storm door, covered 
A 

on the top and on, all sides? A No, not that I. know of. 

WO, 
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V111 you swear it was not? 

COURT: 

Q Give your best recollection of the door? A It was two 

ordinary doors going in on a line with the house, the first door 

was, then there was an inside door and a kind of a vestibule; 

it Was .more of a vestibule than a storm door. 

BY MR. STECKLER: 

Q Was it not a storm door you had to go out of? A No. 

The window caused--

Q Was there a storm door there? A I don't know whether it 

was or not. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q Do you know what a storm door is? A Yes, sir. 

Q What is it? A A storm door is an extension built out 

from the house, with a roof or shed over it, and sides on it, 

Which you can disconnect from the house altogether; it can be 

used in inclement weather. 

BY MR. STECKLER: 

Q, Was that the door you had to get out of? A Not that 

kind of a door, not a storm door. 

Q, 

Sure of that? A In my judgment it was not. 

Are you sure of that? A I am not sure of it-- no. 

Q If that was the door you had to break that open too? 

A I broke both doorsopen too. 
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A I broke them both open. 

Because they were both locked? A Both locked-- yes, 

sir. 

Q Who was the officer on post that night? A Officer 

Kiernan. 

Was he the first man that came to your assistance? 

A Yes, sir. 

Where had you seen Kiernan before you went into that 

saloon? A It might have been two or three days before that. 

Had you seen him that evening? A No. 

(I Now is it not a fact that you got out of .that saloon 

without breaking open any doors, without breaking open any windOWO , 

or kiokingthem in, and that all the kicking and breaking that was . 

done was done by you when you got into that storm door, and then. • 

you kicked from the outside into the place? A That is not 

true. 

Q It is not a fact that while you were kicking in the 

doors this very officer Kiernan or some other officer came up 

and wanted to club you, not knowing who you were, and you said, 

"Hold up, I am captain of this precinct"? A That is not true* 

Q, Have you got Torellils shirt there? A Yes, sir. 

Q3 How did you get that? A Detective Sullivan got it up 

In„ 10 room that night. (Witness produces Shirt.) It wast on 



401, 

37 

him. n'e had charge of the shirt himself. 

Q That is his Shirt all right? A That is his Shirt. 

Q You may put it down? A (Witness lays shirt on the 

floor at his feet.) 

Q, You had a pistol, club and knife with you that night, 

did you not. A I had a pistol and a pocket knife. 

And a club? A Here is the pocket knife. (Shows knife. 

No club. 

CI You claim this man hit you on the head with a club? 

A Yes, sir. 

• Q During all the time that you were hit with this glass 

and this club were you ever knocked senseless? A No. 

• Q You always retained your senses during the entire time? 

A Yes, sir. 

Q Have you got scars now on your head or any part of your 

body from the effect of the blows you got? A I think there is 

a scar here (indicating). I cannot see it myself. 

Q Did you ever look in the glass to find it? A There is a 

scar on the head here (indicates). 

Q, Sure of that? A I can feel it. 

Q, You know where you were hit? A On the head. 

q There is a scar there? A I can feel this. 

Q, Didn't you testify in he Police Court there was not? 

A There was indications of it at the Police Court. 
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Did you tels4if3r1 
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Was there any scar? A. No scar; 

Only my eye blackened".--- did you swear to that? A I showed 

the Judge 114y hand. 

.q Yoti walked to the station house from there? A. Yes; 

There Was an officer with MB. 

Q When the officers came to your assistance from the street 

you remember men being brought down from the different parts of 

the -hotel? A Yes, sir. 

Q, You ordered everybody in the building to be brought down 

to you? A Yes, sir. 

q And your men, so far as you know, went up and obeyed 

your orders? A Yes, sir. 

• Q And when you ordered them to be brought down wa8 this 

young man brought down (indicating one of defendants)? A  

sir. 

Q, And when he was brought before you didn't you say) ”ThiS 

is not one of the men"? A I said--

Q Did you say that-- yes or no? A No, I did not, 

Q He was brought before you  A Yes, sir. 

Q Were you asked by any of the officers, "Is this one of 

the men"? A No. 

Q And you answered that it was not? A No. 

q You did not order his arrest that night, aid you/ 

A No, 
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:Gt .At the time he wpm brought down was there any other young 

brought With him? A Yes. 

Q 404 you seen that boy before? A No. 

1)t) you identify him now as one of the boys, or any of 

the men in the place that hurt you? A The other boy? 

(1, Yes. A I judge he was about fourteen years old, 

THE COURT: What boy? 

MR. STECKLER: They are all out in the hall. 

.3Y1411., STECKLER: 

Do you know whether that other boy was in the place 

when this assault was taking place? A I don't know. 

Did you see him there? A I did not. 

Q What did he have on when he came down and was brought 

before you? A An undershirt. 

Q, Did he have anything over his undershirt? A Yes, sir; 

he had a sack coat on, and was bare headed. 

(1. Did he have any Shoes -on? A I didn't look at his feet. 

Q 'Did he have a hat on? A No. 

Q Why didn't you make a charge against him that nights 

A Because I was not confident. 

Q, You were not confident? A No. 

It happened within a few minutes of that time? A Yes, 

sir, a few minutes. 

Q What made you so confident the next day that this was 



40 

the man? A Because his appearance was so changed when they 

brought him down that night. 

Q Hew Was it you brought him the next day-- or when was it 

you discovered he was the man? A The next afternoon in the St. 

Vincent Hospital. 

4,, How did you discoverhim then? A Because I had a Chance 

to think of who he was, and his appearance was similar or very - 

near to that of the time he was behind the bar when he sold me 

the drink. 

Q, , You gathered from his appearance when he was brought 

, befere you the next day that he was the man? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Only from his  appearance? A Yes, sir, from his gener41: 

appearance. 

You saw him the night before, the night when the assault • 

took- place, when he was brought down to you then, you. saw his 

face that night? A Yes, sir. 

Q And you did not identify him then? A One eye was closed 

.up, and both of my eyes were full of blood. 

Q But you were able to identify nine other men that night,,... 

weren't you.? A Yes, sir. 

Q And you identified the other nine men as men who had 

assaulted you? A But he had changed his appearance, went 

upstairs. 

4 Changed his clothes? A His appearance. 



41 

Q Did you identify the nine other men that night? A Ten, 

Q And you were positive that those ten men had assulted 

you? A Yet sir. 

Q And this man was brought down when the other ten were,_ 

and you said he was not one of the men? A I didn't sdy he 

was not. 

Q That did you say? A That I didn't know sure. 

Q And the next day in the afternoon when you saw him in 4 

different suit of clothes you said you thought he was the man? 

A I said I was positive he was the man. 

Q You had never seen him in your life before? A Not 

.before that night. 

Q And you didn't see him after that until he was brought to 

you? A No. 

4 When you identified him next day was there anybody else. 

betide him there when you identified him9 A Only the officer 

that brought him. 

Q The officer brought him to you and you said, "That is the 

man"? A Yes, sir. 

Q, You did not pick him out of a lot of men? A No. 

Q He was brought to you and you were asked whether that 

was the man, and you said yes? A That is right. 

BY NIL TOWNSEND: 

4 Do you think of any correction that you want to make in 
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your testimony? A I donPt know of any. 

Pr any explanation? A Only in relation' to this shirt, 

that this blood is My blood on the shirt. 

BY NIR. STECKLER: 

Q, All your blood? A All my blood. 

Q None of his? A None of his. 

You didn't pee him bleed at all? A Only my blood Was. . 

on his face. 

face. 

Q But you cut his face a little hit? A I hit him in. the 

You didn't cut him? A I hit him in the face. 

T OSEPH W. CARROLL, called asawitness on behalf 

of the People, being duly sworn, testified as follows: 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. TOWNSEND: 

Q Where do you live, Mr Carroll? A At the present time, 

at the Majestic Hotel in the Bowery. 

Q 'What is your business? A Salesman. 

For what company9 A The Blue Trading Stamp Company.. 

0, Where is their place of business? A 32 East 23rd 

Street. 

Q, Do you know the saloon 149 Bowery? A No, sir, I do nOt'o. 

I mean the southeast corner of Bleecker Street and 
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WestBroadwaY? A I do. 

Were you there 
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on the night. of 11th of April? A Refresh 

my Memory as tO the date. 

Q It was the date of the occurrence in question. A Yes, 

sir. 

About what time were you there? A Until the place 

closed up at twelve o'clock that night. 

Q What portion of the block is this place? A On the 

southeast corner of West Broadway. 

(1 Is it the corner store? A The corner store-- yes, 

sir. 

You went out of there, did you? A Yes, sir. 

About what time? A About five minutes after twelve 

o'clock. 

Q Where did you go then? A Walked down the street toWard0'. 

the Mills House. 

Q, Did you pass 149 Bleecker Street? A Yes, sir. 

Q That is the point in question. What place is that, 

what kind of a place is it  A It is a saloon. 

What tine were you there about? A Possibly ten minutee. 
after 
IltfA:tWelve. It may only have been five minutes after twelve. 

Q Where were you, what 

.the street, when I saw Capt. 

stop. 

were you doing there? A walkeng up 

Gorman come by, that is all, and 

• 
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-Did you see what he did? A Yes, sir. 

What did he do? A I'saw him go into Torelli's 

saloon. 

Q What did you do just after he went in? A I stood there. 

I thought there was going to be some fun. 

Q How near were you to the windows? A Then I was od the 

4 
opposite side of the street. 

Q When the Captain went in? A, Yes, sir, 

'Q What did you do-- change your position? A When I 

heard some noise on the opposite side, glasses being broken, 

front windows, door windows being broken, I ran across the 

street. 

Q,, And did what? A I first watched for a while. 

Q Through the window? A Yes, sir, double doors there. 

Q Did you see the Captain in the place? A Yes, sir. 

Q What position was he in? A He was in one end of the 

bar, and had his handup like that (illustrating) over his head, 

and the glasses or sakething was being thrown at him, and once 

in a while I would hear a glass hit up against the window, right 

up against the front door. 

Q Could you see his face? A Yes, sir. 

RI Anything on it? A I could not see anything on it--

sir. His back was towards the door. 

THI COURT: You were lookin through the windows 



of the door? 

THE WITNESS: Yes, sir. 

• THE COURT: Not the ordinary windows? 

THE WITNESS: The double doors. 

BYMR. TOWNSEND: 

Q Did you sag  anything? A Yes. I said to the people 

round there assembled--

MR. STECKLER: I object to what he said to the 

people around there. 

THE COURT: No matter what he said. 

BY CR. TOWNSEND: 

Q Then what happened to you, if anything? 

MR. STECKLER: I object to what happened, if 

anything. 

THE COURT: Let him state what he did and saw. 

The next thing I got hit, that is all. 

BY MR. TOWNSEND: 

Q Did you fly or run? A I ran like a soldier, I got 

away as soon as I could. 

Q What were you hit with? 

Objected to. 

A I could not tell you. 

MR. STECKLER: You were hit in the street? 

THE WITNESS: Yes, sir. 
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MR. STECKLER: I submit that that is incompetent. 

THE COURT: It will not harm your case. 

MR. STECKLER: Exception. 

CROSS -EXAMINATION BY B. STECKLER: 

You had some man arrested for hitting you? A No. 

Q Didn't you make any charge against a man in the Police 

Court? A No. 

Q Weren't you up in the Jefferson Market Court? A I 

(I Didn't you have a -complaint against a man up there? A Yes, 

sir. 

Q, 'What is the man's name? A I could not tell you. 

MR. STECKLER: Will Mr Townsend give me the name 

of the defendant in that case? 

MR. TOWNSEND: I have not it. 

BY I.  $TECKLER: 

(1 You had some man from the street arrested? A No. You  

Must make a better statement than that. 

Q There was nobody from the Saloon hit you? A No, not  

that I know of. 

Q Some stranger in the street hit you  A Yes, sir. 

Q And that man whom you made a charge against was dis-

charged in the Police Court? A I was in the hospital. 
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Was this man discharged in the Police Court? A He was 

Aischarged in the Polite Court. 

Q YOu made a complaint against him, testified against him? 
4 

A The polite officer brought that man up to me, I was in the bed, 

and I could not identify him. 

MR. STFICKLER: I object to all this testimony, 

your Honor. 

TEE COURT: I rule it out. I rule out all about 

the person assaulting him; that is stricken out; not 

his testimony as to what he saw in the saloon. 

BY MR. STECKLER: 

Q While you were on the other side of the street you 

heard the front door glass breaking? A Yes, sir. 

And the windows, you saw those being smashed in? 

A No, I saw none of them smashed in. 

0, What did you see broken? A The front doors. 

You saw those windows broken in? A Yes, sir. 

Q Then you came across the street? A Yes, sir. 

Q And you saw the Captain at the other end of the bar? 

A No. He was near the front door, on the south side of the 

saloon. 

Q Were there storm doOrs there? A Yes, sir; two glass 

doors. 

Q. Was there a cover or shed over them? A Yes, sir. 
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(1 They were ordinary storm doors, like these would be, 

bore• was the inside Part going in (illustrating)-- there were 

000-dobre7 A Yes sir. 

R And the outside door was a storm door? A Yes, sir. 

Q. And there was a hood over it? A No, I don't think 

there was. 

It was the ordinary storm_door? A The ordinary door 

you find in any saloon. 

Q You know what I mean by storm door? A Yes, sir. There 

.WOUld be a projection out. There was no projection out that I 

can recollect.. 

Q, Was there any projecting storm door? A That I could not 

. recall. I am not familiar with the place at all. 

TVaRROLD. B.  G.ARRIGAN, called asawitness in 

behalf of the People, being duly sworn, testified as 

follows: 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. TOWNSEND: 

What is your occupation? A I am a doctor of medicine,* 

Are you a surgeon? A At the hospital. 

Q, What hospital? A St. Vincent. 

Were you on the night of the 12th of April? A Yes, 

41?" s 
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Did You See Capt.. Gorman, the complainant ir). this case? 

A 'saw Capt. Gorman one night in April; I don't know whether 

It was the 12th. 

Q This is the gentleman who sits over here (Indicating 

witness Gorman). A Yes, sir. 

Q What time of night was it? A It was in the early 

morning; I don't know the exact time; about one o'clock I 

think. 

'CI Who was with him? A There was another man there named 

0„ The last witness? A Yes, sir. 

Q Was there any other officer that you recollect? A In 

the police station 16th Precinct there were several. 
there 

Q You made an examination? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Of Capt. Gortan? A Yes, sir. 

State what you found in such examination? A The 

Captain was conscious. He seemed confused and very nervous. 

He had a wound overthe outer angle of the right eye. The right 

pupil-- I think it wae the right pupil-- I am not sure which 

pupil, was larger than the left. He had several wounds on his 

hands, and they looked like they were marle with glass. They 

were abrasions more than wounds. And his pulse was slow. That 

le about all. It was slow and somewhat feeble. 

Q Did you examine the scalp? A Well, yes, but I don't 
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recollect What was on his scalp. 

Q ' Do you .kmCw where the Captain went from there? A I 

took him into the hospital." 

Q Did you take him, from the Station house to the hospital? 

A Yes, 4t, 

Q Was he treated there.? A Yes, sir. 

Q Did he stay there over night? A Yes, sir, he stayed 

there several days afterwards. 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR STECKLER: 

Q These cuts that he received he could have received from 

any kind of breaking glass? A Why, yes. 

Q Ordinary contusions, were they not? A No, they were 

not contusions; they were abrasions. 

Q That is a cut, it could be made by any sharp instrument? 

A An abrasion can be done without a sharp instrument. It is a 

rubbing off of the superficial layer. 

It could be done by breaking glass' A Yes. 

BY THE COURT: 

Did he remain in the hospital in consequence of those 

injuries that you speak of9 A Yes, sir. 

.For treatment for those injuries? A Yes, sir. 
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WILLIAM Y. rIERNAN, called aira' witness in 

behalf of the People, being duly sworn, testified as 

fol1ows: 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. TOWNSEND: 

Q Ate you connected with the Police Force? A Yes, sir. 

Q What precinct? A 16th. 

Do you recollect the night of the 12th of April, 1903? 

A Yes, sir. 

Q About 12;15 that morning where were you? A West 

Broadway and Bleecker Street. 

Q Patroling? A Patroling-- yes, sir. 

q What happened while you were there" A While I was on 

the corner I heard a crash of glass and ran down Bleecker 

Street and saw a man in the doorway, that is the storm door. 

What number Bleecker Street" A I think it is 149. 

Q It was this saloon in question" A Yes, sir. 

Q, Who was the man you saw there" A The Captain. 

Q Capt. Gorman, the complainant in this case? A Yes, 

-What was he doing? A Well, he appeared to be kicking 

at'the doors or something. I know there was glass falling, 

an4-1--oTrened- the door andsaid, , 'That is the -matter with you,?" 

MR. STEMER: Who said that? 

THE WITNESS: I said it. He says, "T am captain . 
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of this precinct". He says, "1 have been assaulted". 

And I tmmediately, entered with him. 

BY :MR. TOWNSEND: 

Q You enteeed the place? A Yes, sir, with the Captain. 

Q You and the Captain went in there, and what did you 

find? A I saw Torelli behind the bar. 

Q. The defendant in this case? A The defendant. 

Q .1inybody else did you see? A Near the sidd entrance 

there were several men. 

a 
Q What did you do? A I said, "You are under arrest". 

And the Captain' says, "Go get assistance". They were running ju 

like--

MR. STECKLER: I can't hear you. 

THE WITNESS: They were running through the hall**. . 

way. It sounded to me as if they were ascending 

stairs. I went out and rapped my stick, and when I. 

returned another officer --

THE COURT: You rapped for assistance? 

THE WITNESS: Rapped for assistance-- yes, sir. 

BY 1B. TowNsEND: 

Then another officer came in and you went upstairs? 

A Yes, sir. 

What did you do then? A We entered the doors. told 

theft they were under arrest. I took a couple of men down, and, 



other officera came in the meantime and brought others down. 

Q What about Torelli? A When I returned after rapping 

for assistance I didn't see Torelli in the saloon. 

Q Who arrested Torelli, do you know? A I think Officer 

Sul ivan. 

Did you notice the Captain's appearance, his face and so 

forth at that time? A Yes, sir. 

Q State what it was. A He had no hat on, his collar was 

torn Open, tie and so forth, and his face covered with blood. 

Q, Did you see Parentini, the co-defendant, at that time? 

A I am not positive. I havecften seen him, but I am not 

positive whether he was there at the time. 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. STECKLER: 

Q, Describe this storm 'door, will you please? A They 

project from the building I judge a couple of feet. 

Q, Are they covered, is there a top to them? A I think 

SO. 

Q And sides? A Sides-- yes, sir-- glass sides. 

Q And that door and the entrance to the saloon are the 

only two doors there are that go into that saloon? A I believe 

there is a door underneath the stoop that enters a hallway. 

q That is on the side? A Yes, sir. 

Q I mean the front entrance; there is only two doors, 
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the storm door and the other door that leads into the 

Place? A Yes, sir. 

Q Where was capt. Gorman when you saw him? A In the 

storm -door there. 

Q What Was he doing? A He appeared to be kicking or 

something. I could hear the crash of the glass. 

Q Which way was the racing when he was kicking? A At 

the time I opened the door his head was-- I could not see his 

face, that is, part of it, that is all. I could see his hair. 

Q. He was faCing in the saloon? A Like facing in the 

saloon. 

Q And he was kicking into the saloon? A I could not say 

that. He was kicking at something. 

Q And was he not kicking that storm door towards the 

inside and glass was breaking as he was doing it? A I don't 

know whether it was the storm door or the side. 

Q If it was not the storm door was it not the inside door 

that he was kicking from the outside, and was not the glass break-

ing in that way? A That I am not positive about. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q, Did you see him or did you only hear the breaking of 

glass? A I only heard the breaking of glass. 

Q, Did you see him break that glass? A No. 

BY MR. STECKLER: 
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.Q He 1‘111 facing towards the inside? A Yes, sir. 

Q Didn't you See him kick? A Yes, sir, he was kicking. 

Q What wa'S'he kicking? A I am not sure whether he was 

kicking the door or part of the partition. 

,Q* Was he kicking with his face towards the inside? 

A Yes, sir. 

Q Then he must have been kicking towards the inside? 

A Yes, sir. 

Q, Did you have any trouble to get in those storm doors? 

A No. 

Q, Were those storm doorslocked from the outside or from 

the inside? A They were not locked when I got there. 

Q, In order to get in the storm door you had to come in. 

from the Street? A Yes, sir. 

Q And you had to open that door to get in? A Yes, sir. 

Q Did you open it and get in? A Yes, sir. 

Q, And there is where you found the Captain? A Yes,  sir. 

Q, With his feet kicking inside'? A He was kicking at 

something. 

Q You told us that you saw Capt. Gorman's condition that--
was 

night. Will you tell us what Yr Torelli's conditionkthat night 

when you saw him behind the bar? A His face was covered with, 

blood, and the collar was torn, Homething like the Captain's; 

it was open and the_grt was covered with blood. He had his 
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hand up to his face. 

9, Was he cut on his face? A Yes, sir, he appeared to 

be bathing it. He had his hand to his face like that (illustrat-. 

i g). It appeared to be he was bathing it or something. 

9. Behind the bar? A Behind the bar. 

Q And. there were other men in the place on the side? 

A Yes, sir. 

Q What were they doing? A Near the side entrance they 

seemed to be trying to effect an escape. 

Q You were a police officer and in that precinct? 

A Yes sir. 

Q How many days or weeks or months were you in that pre-

cinct? A Over six years. 

Q Was that your precinct or post? A Yes, sir. 

Q Where this man Torelli's place is? A Within twenty-five 

feet of it. 

Q Have you patroled that post for the past six years? 

A No. 

Q,'How long have 

A Yes, 

you patroled that post? A A few months. 

Before tht few months had you been there before that? 

sir. 

I mean patroled in that neighborhood? A Yes, sir. 

Q Do you know the reputation that Mr Torelli's place has 
_! 

that neighborhood? 



Objected to'as immaterial. 

Objection sustained. 

Defendant excepts. 

,BY E. STECKLER: 

Q Did you ever see any violation of law of any, kind or 

character in Mr Torelli's place while you were patroling that 

post? 

Objected to. 

• Objection sustained. 

Defendant excepts. 

BY :MR, SIECKLER: 

Q ,Do you know what the reputation of Mr TorethisperSon-

ally? 

Same objection, ruling and exception. 

• THE COURT: You have laid no foundation. 

BY MR. STECKLER: 

. q How longhave you known Torelli? A I didn't know him. 

Q- Didn't know him that night? A I didn't know it was 

Torelli, but I know his brother and he resembles him. 

How many years or days. do you know Mr Torelli? A I have 

not known him only since that night. 

Q, 

sir. 

You  didn't know him before that at all? A No. 

You knew his brother? A I knew his brother-- yes, 
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How long was that place kept there by Torelli and his 

brother? 

Objected to as immaterial. 

17 MR. I''EltrASI 

Have you daring the time you patroled that place ever 

had any complaint of any kind of character against the Place? 

Objected to. 

Objection sustained. 

Defendant,excepte. 

BY MR.-STECKLER: 

Q, Or against Torelli? 

Objected to. 

Objection sustained. 

Defend-ant excepts. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q, Can you fix the exact time when you got to the vesti-

bule door of, this saloon? A I knew that the other saloons were 

- closed, and I was on the other corner, what they call Quinn's. 

corner. And as a rule they have quite a crowd i# nights, and 

the bartender asked me --

Objected to. 

BY THE COURT: 

Nevi-er mind that. I want you to reason from those things, 

without stating them, and state if you can fix about the minute, 

• • • 
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how many :minutes of twelve it was, When you reached this saloon 

of the defendant? A I heard a party in the corner-- I ordered 

this bartender to clear the saloon, and it was after twelve then, 

And, I'heard a party--

Q That is Quinn's corner? A Yes, sir. 

MR. STECKLER: I submit that this is incompetent. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q, Now, without telling us why you came to the conclusion, 

reason it all out in your own mind, and think over the things 

that occurred so that you can fix the exact minute of the time 

you reached there. That is all I want? A I think it must 

.have been about 12:15. 

Q That is your best recollection of it? A Yes, sir.. 

BY MR. STECKLER: 

Q That was when you reached the outside? A Yes, sir. 

Q You don't know how long the Captain had been in that 

place prior to that time? A No. 

And you figured that 12:15 from your own reasoning, iS 

that it? Did you look at any. watch? A I heard a party in the 

corner7-

q Did you look at any watch? A I looked at the, clock in 

the cOrner before I went to the other side. It was 

and when I arrived there a party was asking another 

and,he said 12:10. 

12-:1O then 

one the time, 
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Ybu base it all on that? A Yes, sir. 

Q Usually it takes ten or fifteen minutes for all those 

saleons to•close-- they usually close about ten or twelve 

minutes after twelve? 

THE COURT': That is enough of re -cross, and it is 

immaterial. 

JOHN LAWRENCE SULLIVAN, called asawitness 

on behalf of the People, being duly sworn, testified as 

follows: 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. TOWNSEND: 

Q What precinct are you connected with? A 16th. 

Q, Do you recollect the night of the 12th of April? 

A Yes, sir. 

q About midnight where were you? A At the station house. 

What happened while you were there? A A telephone 

message came to the station house sergeant, telling him that  the 

Captain was being assaulted on Bleecker Street. 

Objected to. 

THE COURT': You got a telephone message. What 

was done? 

•THE WITNESS: I went right there on a run. 

BY R. TOWNSEND: 



61 

Q, That did You find when you got there? A I found a 

crowd in front of the door, and I jumped through the plate of 

glass in the door that was broken. The door Was closed and the 

glass broken, and I jumped through the door into the bar room of 

the saloon and saw Capt. Gorman. I recognized him standing at 

the bar, and the first thing I asked him what was the matter, and 
A 

he told me --

Objected to. 

THE COURT: Was Torelli there? 

THE WITNESS: No, sir. 

BY MR. TOWNSEND: 

Q, You spoke to the Captain? A Yes, sir. 

Q Don't state what you mid. Then what did you do? 

A I did what he told me. 

Q1 What was that? 

Objected to. 

THE COURT: State what you did. 

BY rt. TOWNSEND: 

Q What did Am do in consequence of what he said?' A Went 

upstairs and brought the man down that I found in the house. 

Q Did you arrest Torelli the defendant? A Yes, sir. 

Q Where did you find him? A In his bed room, 

Q That was he doing? A He was in the act of changing his 

shirt. 
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Q Did he say anything to you? A Yes. 

Q What was his condition, was there blood on him? A Yes, 

sir, he looked to have been mussed up a little; he had a shirt 

there that was bloody. 

Q Did he say anythdng to you about the Captain or anybody 

else? A Yes, sir; he told me he was sorry it occurred. 

Q What did he say in speaking about the Captain? A He 

first said, "I didn't know he was the Captain", or words like 

that. I says, "Come on downstairs". 

Q, Had you known Torelli before? A Yes, sir. 

Q Did you hear him make some statement to the Captain? 

A He Was so excited he could not say anything. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q, When you first went into this room what did you say? 

A I told Mr Torelli, "You are under arrest". I first had to 

knock on his door; he didn't answer that first knock; and he 

asked me who was there. I says, "Sullivan". "All right", he 

says. And I openedthe door, and he was in the act to take his 

shirt off. I says, "Come downstairs; you are under arrest, 

every man in the house". 

BY MR. TOWNSEND: 

Ddd he say anything then? A He didn't say anything. 

He said something, mumbled something. I can't recollect what he 

Baia: There were half a dozen talking, and everybody was excited. 



t44,, 

63 

didn't emy anything particular. 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY 1411. STECKLER: 

He said he was sorry it occurred? A Yes, sir. 

Q And that he didn't know it was the Captain? A Yes, sir. 

He made a remark to that effect. 

Q How long have you known TorelXi? A About nearly six 

Years now. 

Q Do you know his place there? A Yes, sir. 

Q Are you in the habit of meeting and seeing Torelli daily? 

A Not :meeting him personally. I have seen him at a distance 

when he passed. 

Q Do you know the reputation of his place there? 

Objected to. 

Objection sustained. 

Defendant excepts. 

BY MR. STECKLER: 

Q Do you know what Torelli's reputation is? 

Same objection, ruling and exception. 

THE COURT: You must lay the foundation, 

ITT MR. STECKLER1 

q Do you knowpeople that know Torelli? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Have you heard ITorelli talking about or discussed by the 

,bOrs or any people in the neighborhood? A Only 0400 thiS nei 
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case occurred. 

Q You have since then? A Yes, sir. 

And what was it? 

MR. TOWNSEND: I object to anything since the case 

occurred. 

Objection sustained. 

Defendant excepts. 

TEE COURT: If you want to prove good character 

you must proceed to lay the basis by showing that the 

witness knows other people, his neighbors, and others 

in the neighborhood, who have had opportunities of 

seeing and knowing him. 

BY MR. STECKLER: 

Q Prior to the night of this occurrence had you heard Mr 

Torelli discussed by people in the neighborhood, the kind of 

place he keeps, and the reputation he has? 

Objected to. 

THE COURT: Leave out "the kind of place". 

BY A. SIECKLER: 

Q And the reputation Torelli has for the keeping of the 

place? 

Objected to. 

THIDCOURT: The reputation of the place has nothing 

to do with the case. You can ask this, iX he has lobwn 
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,people Who knew the defendant prior to this occurrence, 

who have known him as neighbors, and have known him for 

a reasonable length of time, and what is reputation 

among them is. 

OY.7MR.:STECKLPIR 

Q Do you know or have you heard his reputation discussed? 

Yes, sir. 

Q And do you know what his reputation is among people Wht 

r` 

have diSoussed Mr Torelli and his reputation? 

Objected to. 

THE COURT: He may answer that. 

7HE WITNESS: It is good. 

BY MR, STECKLER: 

Q What sort of a place does Torelli keep there" I -don t 

mean whether it is good or bad or indifferent. Is it a hotel? 

A It is a hotel. 

Q, A restaurant? A A restaurant. 

What kind of people frequent the saloon and hotel? 

Objected to. 

Objection sustained. 

Defendant excepts. 

BY MR. STECKLER: 

Is' his place not largely composed of labor union bodieS-

that meet and have meetingoat his hall and place there? 
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Objected to. 

Objection sustained. 

Defendant excepts. 

MN" MR. STECKLER: 

Q Is not that the class of people? Do you kmuw the kind 

and character of people? 

Objected to. 

THE COURT: I have sustained so many objections 

in that line it seems to me you ought to refrain from 

going further. 

Defendant excepts. 

BY R. STECKLER: 

Q Did you bring down this man? A Yes, sir. 

Q Where did you find this man? A. Found him in bed. 

Q In what room? A Third floor, in the room back. 

Q Who was there with him? A Him and another young boy. 

q DO you know Mrs Torelli? A Yes, sir. 

Q. And you know the young boy's mother, the other Mrs 

Torelli? A Yes, sir. 

Q Were they in the room or either one of them? A I think 

they were-- yes, sir. 

You brought him down? A Yes, sir. 

q

 

That did he have on when you brought him down? A His 
0 

pants and shoes. I think his cap was off-- just shirt, and 

suspenders on. 
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Did he have a coat on? A No. 
7 
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When you brought him down did you bring him before Capt. 

Gorman? A Yes, sir. 

Q What did you say, if anything, when he was brought before 

Capt. Gorman? A I brought him down, as I did everybody else, 

for the Captain to look at him, and the Captain could not 

Positigely identify him at that time. 

Q What did he say? A I says, "Do you know him?" He says, 

"That looks like him, but I can't tell; we will give him the 

benefit of the doubt now", or words to that effect. 

Q He said something but he did not identify him? A He 

did not identify him at that time. 

The Court then admonished the jury in accordance 

-with Section 415 of the Code of Criminal Procedure 

and took a recess. 



AFTER. RECESS. 

p.RILIp 0 PPENHEI M R, called as a witness on 

. behalf of the People, sworn and examined, testified as 

fo llows 

D.IRCT EXAMINATION BY :MR. TOWNSEND: 

q What precinct are you connected with? A The 16th 

Precinct.. 

Q, Do you recollect the midnight of the 12th of April, 

1903? A Yes, s ir • 

68 

Q 'Where were you about that time? A I was at the corner 

of Bleecker and Sullivan, 

Q What time of day, about? A I was there about 12.164 

between 12.16 and 12.18, when I heard a rap of a stick, 

Q You heard a rap of a stick and what did you do? 

A I went towards where I heard the sound. 

NVIonere did it take you? A At Torrelli's saloon.. 

Q, 149 Bleecker street? A 149 Bleecker street. 

Q When you got there what did you find? A I found a crowd 

in front of the door. 

Q, What did you do? A I ran inside in the saloon. 

Q, Did you see Captain Gorman in there? A I seen the 

Captain holding himself at the bar. 

Q, What was his condition in reference to scars, wounds, 

blood, or anything else? A He was cut in the hand, his hand 

was 'bleeding.; he had a mark aor o s s the bridge of the nose, he 

rrrxent+,.......4.4 
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was bleeding at tiv bridge of the nose, and he had a lump on 

the side of his head. I asked him what was the matter 

Objected to. 

Never 'mind that. What happ ened while you were in there? 

. A There was nothing happened while I was in there. That is 

all I have seen. He was up against the bar when I came in there. 

Q. Did you see either of the defendants while you were 

there? A I didn't see them until after they brought them down 

from upstairs. 

Q, State   you saw? A I saw Torelli aai six or seven 

others brought dawn from upstairs. And he had a cut across the 

right eye. 

THE COURT: Torelli? 

THE WITNESS: Yes, sir, Torelli had a cut across the 

right eye; he was bleeding at the riit. eye. 

Q, Did you see the other defendant? A I see the other 

defendant, yes sir. 

Q, Where was he when you saw him? A They just all came 

down stairs in the barroom together. 

Q, Nothing happened wiile you were there? A Nothing 

happened while I was there. 

CROSS ErAMINATION- BY MR. STECHLER: 

Q Were'you there Whem Parentini was brought down? 

A I was. 

Q. What happened when he was brought clown? A I didn't 
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anYt4ing happen when he was brought dawn. 

Q 'What did the Captain say when he was brought there? 

A I didn't hear. I was standing at the door. 

He was brought to the Captain? A Yes, sir. 

And the Captain said he was not one of themem? 

THE COURT: He said he didn't hear'. He said he 

was standing in the door. 

TIfl WITNESS: I didn't hear what the captain said. 

Q Did you see the man' brought to the captain? A I saw 

him brought dowm there. 

Q Did ywheair what the captain said? A No. 

Q WAS he arrested? A Yes, sir. 

Parantini? A Yes, sir. 

Q Right away? A There was eight or ten put in the 

:patrol wagon. 

q He is one of the men that was arrested (pointing to 

defendant Parentini)? A I could not positively identify him. 

Q Was there any one brought down that the Captain failed 

to identify? A That I could not say either.. 

Q, Are you positive this mcn (indicating) was arrested that 

night? A No, I am not positive. 

THE COURT: Can you fix by your own recollectionv 

without stating how, about the time when you got there? 

MR. STECKTRIn One moment. I do not care to object. 

to your Honor's question; I prefer not to. But unless 
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thisoffiCer can in some Way. enlighten us how he fixes 

ithe )40.0.0r, I Shall object. 

TnE COURT: When he starts out to inform us you object 

.at once. 

MR. STECKLER: I object to the form of the question 

your Honor puts. 

TBE COMM With your last witness, the objection. 

was the reverse. Now I ask him to fix it according to 

his recollection, and then you can question him as to how 

he fixes it. (To witness) Now, without stating what vas 

said, state if you canr and fix it within a few minutes 

when you got there. 

THE WITNESS: I am pretty near positive as to the time. 

MR. STECKLER: I ask that that be stricken out. 

I object to this man's conclusion, and I ask that that 

be stricken out. 

THE COURT: I want him not to give his conclusions, 

but to state according to his own recollection of the 

time he came there, and then you insist that he must give 

his reasons. 

MR. STECEIER: I don't want his reasons but:how he 

bases it. 

THE COURT: Fix within a few minutes how you gbt 

there, so many minutes after twelve or before twelve, as 

nearly as you can recall. 

TUE WITNESS: It was between ,lB and 20 minutes after. 
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BY MR. STECKLER: 

Q, What time did you go on post? A Eleven o'clock. 

Q. Did you go by- your own watch? A Yes, 

Q When did you look at your own watch? A . When I went 

around closing up the saloons. 

Q What time was that? A Twelve o'clock. 

Q, What saloon had you looked at first? A I only got three 

Places on my post, three or four. places. 

Q What saloon had you looked at before you got to Torelliiii? 

A One on Bleecker street. 

Q Hew far from Torelli's place was that? A About 600 

feet. 

9, That time was it then? A About three minutes after 

twelve. 

How many minutes °lapsed before you heard this knock!? 

A I walked down as far as maills Building, and cane back. 

Q How long time elapsed? A I suppose eight ot ten minutes. 

You are guessing at it? A It was about eigjat or ten 

minutes. 

Q Are yo up guessing at it, yes or no? A No. 

THE COURT: He is giving his recollection. 

MR. STECKI.ER: I insist that my question shall be 

answered. Are you guessing at it? 

THE WITNESS: Yes, sir, I am. 
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THE,CORT: Explain at you mean by guessing at it? 

TEE WITNESS: I should think it was about that from 

the title seen the last place closed up, it was between 

ten and twelve minutes. 

MR. STECKLER: I ask that that be stricken out as 

net responsive. 

Motion denied, aid exception taken. 

MR. STECIR I ask that that be stricken out on 

the ground. that it is guess work, from thp witness's 

own testidtony. 

Motion denied. Defendant excepts. 

THE COURT: That is your recollection? 

TEE WITNESS: That is my recollection. 

Same objection, ruling and exception. 

THE COURT: It was ten or twelve minutes after you 

went to this last place beforc you heard this alarm? 

THE WITNESS: Yes, sir. 

Sane objection, ruling and exception. 

THE COURT: And When you heard the alarm what did you 

do? 

THE WITNESS: 

THE COURT: 

laiE WITNESS: 

I ran Where I heard tiiie sound. 

That was how far? 

About six hundred feet. 

Q You are basing all these conclusions upon guess work, 

are you not, as to the time? 

• 
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Objected to. Objection sustained. Defendant excepts. 

TEE COURT: What is guess w crk? 

T,B3 WITNESS: I am judging about the length of the 

block*, abbut the size of the block. 

BY TiBR. STECKLER: 

Q, How long would it take. you to walk up and dcwrr that? 

A It was about the size of a block. 

Q, And you are esti_mating the time it would take you 

to walk? A Yes , Si r. 

You don't know what time the Captain got into that 

place? A No, sir. 

1M. TOWNSEND: I offer the stick and the shirt 

in evidence. 

. STEMMER: I object to the club going in evidence 

Inasmuch as it has not been identified. 

THE COURT: There is some testimony identifying it; 

I don't say whether it is identified. The jury will pass 

upon the sufficiency of the testimony, but there is tes-

timony tending to identify it. 

MR. STEC I except. I make no objection 

to the shirt. 

MR. TOWNSEND: That is the case for the People. 

MR. ST14,CKIXR: I ask your Honor tq direct the 

District Attorney to elect upon which count of the indict-

ment he intends to go to the juryr, the first or the second 
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MR. TOWNSEND: I don't thisik we are compelled to elect. 

Motion denied. Defendant excepts • 

MR. Steckler opened the case on behalf of the defend-

PR ANK Mc C 0 Y, called on behalf of the defendant, 

sworn and examined, testifies as follows: 

DIRECT EXAMDIATION BY J. STECKLER: 

Q, Where do you live? A 45 West 35th street, New York 

0,1 ty 

Q, That is your business? A The manufacturing of cigars. 

Q, Where is your place of business? A 182 to 190 Avenue 

New York City. 

Q, How long here you been in business there? A Twenty.. 

five years in that place. 

Q, What ± s your firm name? A McCoy & Company. 

Q, You are the owner of the premises 149 Bleecker street? 

A Yes, sir. 

Q, Are you also owner of the premises in the rear, in 

C 

Thompson street? A No, sir. 

Q, That is rented 16 y Mr` Torelli from some one else? 

A I believe so. 

Q, You rented 149 Bleeckor street? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Describe the kind of building that is to the jury? 

TOWITSIND: I object. I don't see how it is 

material. 
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MR. STECIqER: don't mean as to respeetability. 

THE ODURT: It has been said that it was a four story' 

house,. with a saloon at the bottom, three or four steps 

down; is that correct? 

THE WIT S Ye a, 

STECKIER: 

Q Is it a private house? A It was formerly the 

Delancey Kane mansion. 

Q Was it renovated? A Yes, sir. 

-MR. TOWNSEND: If you are calling him for character 

let him testifras to character. Counsel is trying to 

bring into the case matter which is not material. • 
, - 

THE COURT: This is irrelevant, calling this witness 

as to his own personal business. 

MR. STMETREL: I am asking him to describe the 

condition. 

BY MR. STECKLER: 

Q Is there a storm door there? 

Objected to. Objection overruled. 

A Yes, sir. 

Q Describe how many doors there are Which lead into that 

saloon? A The storm door and the door for the main build-

ing. 

Q Are those the only doors? A 

enter the saloon. 

All that I know of that 

_ 
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(1, Will you describe :this storm door, how it is built? 

):hissof these temporary doors that seem to be put in front 

of liv,bilqp:laces. during the Winter; they can be removed during 

the smiMikar. 

:Q Id* long he you known Mr. Torelli, the defendant? 

A Since I first leased 

Q During that tirne. 

him the building about nine year s ago. 

how often have you been in the hit of 

seeing this defendant? A Hundreds of times. 

- .Q, How often a week or a month? A Half a dozen times 

a month, on an average, I suppos, during all those years. 

Q, In which way would you come to meet him? A Sometimes 

I would go to see: him in reference to the condition of my 

building., collect my rent, but more frequently to dine in 

his restaurant. 

q Do you know other people that know him? A Yes, sir. 

And have you had occasion to discuss the character of 

Mr. Torellt. with these, other- people? A I naturally had, when 

let him the building. Since then my own opinion has been 

sufficient. 

Objected to. 

Talb COURT: Your o!,}rn Qpinion is not sufficient here. 

BY :MR. STRCKIER.: 

Q You have talked with other people about his charqptee 
et. 

'MR. TOWNSEND: For peace and quiet -- not merelv bis 

character. 
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THE COURT: That is correct. The objection is sustain -

Defendant excepts. 

THE • COURT : You will Proceed on the basis as to his 

cbarac ter fer peace and quiet and, orderly conduct. 

Q Do you know what his reputation for peace and quietude 

is in this community? 

rrtIE COURT: Do you know it? 

A Yes, sir. 

Q, What is it? A Very good. 

Q In all the years that you have known him have you ever 

heard anything deroga cry to his character for peaare and. 

quietude? 

Objected to. Objection overruled. 

MR. TOWNSEND: You got your rent out of him 

regularly? 

THE WITNESS: Yes, r. 

MR. TOW Of 0 You want to keep him there? 

TEE WITNESS: Yes, sir. 

BY MR. ST]  II DI' 

Q, He is a good tenant? A Very good. 

Q, And has been a good tenant? A Always. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q, Rave you over visited him at his house socially? A Iro, 

sir. 
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Q, Has he visited yoU socially! A .No. 

Q, You only know him in connection with your business 

transactions? A And also as a customer in his restaurant. 

Ich are the people you refer to? A When I let him 

the place I called on several people, his previous landlord 

and other people as to his respectability; also because it is 

a liquor saloon, and I have to be careful as to the sort of man 

I rent t). 

Q You see a respectable man may be very respectable and 

yet quarrelsome? A Itle might be, but in the hundreds of times I 

saw him there was no evidence of it. 

BY IE. TOWNSEND: 

Q, Yoix look to his financial responsibility? A I look 

to his decency. It would not do for me to let him establish 

a hotel, if he was a diSreputable man. 
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BY MR. STECKLER: 

Q, Have you ever heard he was in any way quarrelsome? 

A_ No. 

BY MR. TOWNSEND: 

Q, You never lieard about t7-ris case? A Yes, sir, I read 

lots abOut this case. 

HENRY MAR qUE T', called in behalf of the defendant, 

sworn and exardned, testified as follows: 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY NCR. cITECICE,ER: 
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Q, What is your business? A Pharmacist. 

Q Where is your place of business? A 142 Bleecker, corner 

of West 13roadwar • 

Q. How 'far is that from Mr. Torelli's business? 

A About fifty feet; It is on the other side of the street. 

A How long have you known Mr/ Torelli, the defendant? 

A About seven years. 

Q, Have you during those seven years come in contact 

with Mr. Tore Ill frequently? A Every day. 

Q, Doyou know otber people that know him? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Have you talked about other people with Torelli? 

A About his good character, yes, sir. 

Q, What is his character for  peace and quietude? A Very 

good -- no question of it. 

Q, And you have seen it daily? .A Yes, sir, either him or 

members of his family. 

Q, In the ten years you have known him have you heard any.-

thing derogatory to his character for peace and quietude? 

MR. TOWNSEND: Objected to. He has already answered. 

No cross examination. 

HERMAN WE I LL E R, called as a witness on behalf 

of the defendant, sworn and examined, 'testified as follows: 

DIRECT EXAlaNATION BY i. STECKLER: 

Q, Where do you live? A In Phi lade lphia • 
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Q, Did you come on from Philadelphia this morning to 

testify in this case? A I didn't know I had to testify. I 

was told that the trial was coming up to -day. 

Q, And. you came on? A I came on -- yes, sir. 

Q, How long have you known Tore 111? A Twelve or -fifteent 

years. 

Whatit is your business? A Liquor business. 

Q, And in the twelve or fifteen years how often have 

you come in contact, -vt.th him or net Mr . Torrelli, the 

de lendant? A I guess hundreds of times. 

Q, Ha-ve you talked with otlr people about Mr. Torolli 

during those years? A Oh, yes. 

Q, What is his reputation, if you can tell, as to peace and. 

• quietude? 

INF COURT': You must lay the right foundation. 

'His talking to other people that perhaps did. not know him, 

does not lay it. You have to lay the foundation as to what • 

his reputation is among those who had the opportunity of 

knowing what it was, and show whether they availed the 

solves of that opportunity and did, know what it was. 

BY MR. STECKLIIR: 

Q Do you know otherpeople that know Torelli? A I do. 

.41 Have you talked with them in ruferflice to Torellj? 

Yes. 

Objected to. Objection overruled. 



Q. Durings.all those years, and during those 

:have you disclissed the character as to peace 

\Mr. Torelli? A The very best. 

THE COURT: Very bad? 

THE WITNESS: The very best. 

various talks, 

and quietude of 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY NR. TOWNSEND: 

Q 'Whom did you talk with about his character and reputa-

tion? A People in the neighborhood. 

Q In Philadelphia? A No. 

Q. Neighborhood of what? A Bleecker Etreet. 

Mention some of the gentlemen you talked with? A 

remember one distinctly, that is Mr. Bert ml. 

Q When was that youlalked with him? A I can't 

remember the time. 

Trow long ago? A Maybe four or five., years ago. 

Q What was the occasion of your talking with him about 

it? A One occasion was when his broher• died. 

THE COURT: Whose brother died? 

THE WITNESS: Torelli's brother.. 

BY 11613. TOWNSEND: 

Q Then it was necessary to talk ko him as to whether he 

was a peaceful man or not? A That he was a very good man. 

Q He went to church regularly, I suppose? A I don't 

know that. 
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4), Haut did-Alb question ame up as to whether he was good 

,or bad at that time? A The circumstances I remember very 

well, When his brother- died, we talked about Mr/ Torelli and 

his brother. 

TI13 COURT: Thy did you talk about Torelli and his 

brother/ 

'THE WITNESS: It was in the family, sympathizing 

with the famil3r when the brother died. 

ME COURT: Had you any business relations with the 

brother or Torelli? 

THE WITIMSS: yes, sir. 

TIM COURT: State what they were? 

TiM WITNESS: I sold them goods. 

BY MR. TONNSEND: 

Q, You never talked as to whether he was a peaceable or 

quiet man, that never came up for discussion -- there was no 

occasion for it? A That he was a peacable, quiet man. 

• Q That never came up for discussion -- those questions? 

A Ohl yes; we talked about that. We talked about his being 

a peaceful and quiet man and a good man. 

BY MR. ST-ME:LER: 

Q Is it not a fact  that at that time when his brother 

died his brother' was the active man in the business, and when he 

died this Mr . Toroth took up the reins of the business? A 

Yes, sir. 
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Is not that how tbe subject was broached? A Yes, sir. 

Q How many years ago was it that Louis Torelli, his broth-

. or, died? A I guess three or four years ago. 

Q Around that time? A Yes, sir. 

Q Did the subject come up then? A Yes, sir. 

BY MR. TOWN8END: 

Q It was more particularly whether he could pay his debts 

or not? A. He paid his debts. 

Q Were you not interested in whether he was going to pay 

for what goods he got? A That didn't come up at all. 

Q Only whether he was a peaceful aril quiet man? A Yes, 

sir,-- that he was a good man. 

BY MR. STECKIER: 

Q As a matter of fact, he does pay his debts? A Oh, 

yes. 

MR. TOWNSEND: We don't question that. 

JAMES A. RUSSELL, called in behalf of the defendants, 

being duly swcrn and examined, testifies as follows: 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. STECKLER: 

0, What is your business? A Stenographer. 

Q Amawyou are stenographer in what Police Magistrate's 

Court? A The First Division, Second District. 

••Q• Lid you on the 18th of April take tle stenographer's 

minutes of the testimony of Michael Gornan in the case of the 

tr. 

tlY 



85 

People on the cOpplaint of7M4dhae3. Gorman against Tore111? 

A. Yes, sir. 

'Q Have you got the minutes with you? A I have a trans-

cript :Of the minutes -- yes, sir. 

Q Are they a correct transcript of the minutes taken by 

-

 

you . that day? A Yes sir. 

Q Does that contain all the testimony given by Captain 

Obmwn at that time? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Will you look at page 14 and state yjhether. Captain Gorman 

at that time testified as follows: How long did you 

stay outside of Torelli's and look at that window? A About 

five minutes"? Did he testify to tTlat? 

MR. TaWNSEND: I object to that. I would like to 

ask the witness whether he made that transcript. 

T1T, COURT: Do you remember whether he testified to• 

that? 

Ti WITNESS: I do not. 

BY MR. STECKLER: 

Q Did you tahE down in shorthand a transcript of his 

testimony? A I did. 

Q Did yo u transcribe it from shorthard to longhand? A I 

either transcribed or dictated it. 

Q And when you trantribed it or dictated it, did you 

dictate it from the shorthand notes that you yourself took? 

A Yes, sir. 



A 

Q, was that a correct translation of the dictation? A It 

THE COURT: As far as your dictation was concerned? 

ME WITNESS! Yes, sir. 

BY MR. STECKLER: 

Q, Did you read it over-? A Yes, sir, in comparison. 

Q. Did, you find it was 6orrect? A Yes, sir. 

Q You found it a correct translation and a ,correct 

interpretation, aS your dictation shOwed, from what you trans-

cribed? A From my shorthand minutes -- yes, sir. 

Q Will you swear whether he answered that question in the 

manner-- I have now read to you -- did he? A I will swear that 

this is tJae record. -- yes, sir. 

Q Will you also look --

AIR. TOWNSEND: I object to his testifying, from any 

trans ar ipt he did not make. 

-THE COURT: Go on. 

, BY ER. S  CKTNR: 

Q, Will you look at page 15; will you look at the first.: 

question on the top of page 15 and the answer, and, tell us wheth.-: 

or he testified as follows: "Q, And, blue trousers? A Blue 
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trousers" -- did he swear to that? A Yes, sir. 

THE COURT: Do you remember that he swore -to that? 

THE WITI.CESS: I do not remember. I only know that 

that lo tbro record I made. 
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YOU took the minutes? A Yes, sir. 

, YOU toOk them in shorthand? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Are .you a stenographer? A Yes, sir. 

Can you read your own minutes, your own writing? 

A Yes, sir. 

(1 They were correct as you read them? A Yes, d.r. 

Q, When you read them off are. dictated them to a stenog-

rapher, were they correct? A Yes, sir. 

Q Did you make a comparison to see if it was correct? 

A Yes-, Sir. 

(1 And it was correct? A Yes, sir. 

BY TRE COURT: 

(I Did you ever make a mistake in putting down figures? 

MR. SCKTJiR I object to that upon the ground that  

it is incompetent, irrelevant and immaterial. 

Overruled. Defendant excepts. 

A Yes, sir; I have made, a mistake. 

GEROLAMO CELLA, called on behalf of the defendalt4 

sworn and examined, testified as follows: 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY AIR. SlECHIER: 

Q What is your full name? A Gerolamo Cella. 

0, What is your business? A Grocer. 
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Q What is your firm? A Cella Brothers. - 

Q Where do you keep? A 528 to 530 West Broadway.. 

(1 How long have you been in business there? A I have beeni 

in business there sixteen years, but we are in business thirty-

Seven years ago. 

Q And in this particular place sixteen years? A About 

sixteen years. 

0„ How far away is your- place of business from Mr. Torellils 

place? A About half a block, in West Broadway; and about half 

a block in Bleecker street, we are just in the rear. 

Q Hew many years haNe you known hr. Torelli? A Over  

• ten years. 

Q Do you know other -people that know him? A Many people 

I know that know him. 

Q rave you talked with other people about Tore lli? 

II Sometimes in conversation I do. 

As to his character for peace and quietude? A Yes, sir. 

Q What is his reputation for such? A It is good, for me. 

Q Have you ever heard anything against his character? 

A No, sir. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q What is your business? A Wholesale and retail grocery 

store. 

Was your acquaintance with Torelli a business acquain-

tanee? A Well, yes; 'Sem° times he buys of me. 
^,..aarea...amap.ao.y.aa 
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L OUTS PUGAZY, called in behalf of the defendant, 

sworn and examined, testified as follows: 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. STECKLER,: 

Q 'What it your business? A Broker and banker. 

Q Where is your place of business?* A 153 Bleecker street. 

Q How close 'are you, how far is your place from Torch's 

place? A One house between. 

Q How long have you known Mr. Torelli? A About eleven 

years. 

Q Have you lived together in that neighborhood for eleven 

years? A No, for nine years he has been near me. 

Q, During those nine or eleven years how often have youl 

had occasion to meet Mr. Torch? A All the time; I know he 

is a good man. 

Q, How many times a day or week would you see him? A I 

saw him every day and hour. 

Have you been into his place often? A Yes, many times. 

Q You go t here 4,nd eat? A No. 

Q You live at home? A Yes, sir. 

Have you ever talked with other people about Torch? 

A Yes, sir. 

Q, What is his reputation for peace and quietude? A His 

reputation is a good reputation. 

Q, In all the years you have known him do you knot anything 

derogatory to his character? Have you ever heard anything against 

lawl A Xo. 
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• Do you know what kind of a place he keeps there? 

Objected to. Objection sustained. Iefendant 

excepts. 

KR. TOWNSEND: Vie are not going to attack his 

reputation for peace and quiet; we don't know anything 

about t• 

, THE COURT: The easiest way is to go on with it. 

0 IT I LA VA G G I, a witness called in behalf of the 

defendant being sr fl and examined te stif les as follows 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. SlaCKLER: 

Q, What is your business? A Artificial flowers. 

Q, Where is your place of business? A 50 to 52 West 3rd 

street. 

Q Where do you live? A 147 West 4th street. 

How long have you known Angelo Torelli, the defendant? 

A About twelve years. 

Q, During those twelve years have you visited his family 

ani has he visited yours? A Not mine; but I have visited his. 

Q Are you a married man? A Yes, sir. 

Q, He is not acquainted with your family? A Yes, sir; 

he knows my family. 

Q You visit his house? A Yes, sir. 

Q Do you visit there with your. wife? A Yes, sir . 
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lei 'via don't do any business with him? A No. 

Q During the many years you have known him how often 

have You seen him?, A Mostly I can say every day. I go there 

'hale my lunch there every day. 

Ila.ve you during those years talked with otter people 

about Mt . TOrelli? A Sure -- yes. 

Q, Do you know what his character is for peace and quiet-

ude? A Very good as far as I know. 

Q, save you ever heard anything against his character? 

No cross examination. 

ANTON I A. CELL Al called as a witness in behalf 

'of the defedant, being duly swan and examined, testified 

as follows: 

DiRECT EXAMINATION BY KR. STECKLER: 

Q, Where do you live? A 139 McDougal street. 

Q, What is your business? A Artificial flowers. 

Q, Are you related to Tore Ili? A Not at all. 

Q How long have you known Torelli? A I know him before 

he started in business. 

9, How many years? A About eitihteen Irea rs • 

9, Do you visit his house, go to see him? A I go to see 

him very often. 

Q. And your f ami 1Y? 4 X not with ,my family. It 18oo 
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small.:I cam t take my farily out. 

airing all these years that you have known him, do you 

know Other people that know him too? A Yes, aLr. 
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Q, Do you know what his reputation is for peace and quiet-

ude? A Yes 

Q, at is his reputation? A Good. 

Q, Did you ever: heard anything against him? A No, sir. 

Q, In those eighteen years how often would you see him? 

A Three or four times a week. 

Q All that time? A Yes, sir. 

MR. STECKLER.: I would liirz to call a witness from 

the outside. 

TEE COURT: Call him. 

LOUI S BO NNE Z Z I, called as a witness in behalf 

of the defendant, being duly sworn and examined, testif led 

as follows: (Through the Italian interpreter) 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY Mit. STECKLER: 

Where do you live? A 354 Pearl street. 

Q, That is your business? A I an foreman in the house 

261 28 and 30 North William street, New York. 

Q, Vnaat business? A Drug business. 

How long Imre you been foreman there? A Seventeen 

years. 

Q, Do you know William Parent ml, this defendant? A Sure. 
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Q, Bow long has he been in the employ of that firm? 

A Over three. years. 

Q, What does he do in your business? A He is head in the 

cells; over three boys. Be is the head man in the cellar-, 

and he has three boys that work under his orders. 

Q, He is a foreman in the cellar? A In the cellar, but he 

is under my orders. 

Q, For thfea years? A Over that. 

Q, fla8 he worked during that time every day? A Every 

day. 

Q Vat time did he come to work? A Eight- o'clock in 

the morning. 

Q What time does he leave? A Five o'clock in the after-

noon. 

Q, During all that time have you had occasion to see what 

his character for peace and quiet is? 

Objected to. 

BY MR. STECKLER.: 

Q Do you know other people that know him? A Yes, sir. 

Q, And do you know, have you talked with o I.her. people: about 

him, at the time you took him in the employ, aid at other times? 

A I know it from a little boy, nine or ten years. 

T0W1151211): I object to that as irresponsive and 

immaterial. 

TIO COURT: He asks you, do you know other people who 

are acquainted 'with him, and who know him? 
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THE WITNESS: I know lots or people who know this 

yoUng loan. 

BY MR. STECKIER:• 

•, Q, Do you know what his reputation for peace and quiet is 

among them? A Very good; like a child. 

Q, He is a good, honest, hardworking boy? A 

Q, Reworks every day? A Never once absent. 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. TO NSDND: 

Are ry4 related to him? A Oh, 

Yes, sir. 

no, no; not at all. 

MARCUS S IMO Ni, a witness called on behalf of the 

defendant, being duly sworn and examined, testified as 

follows: 

DIRECT FZAMINATION BY MR. STEC 

Q Where do you live? A 32 King street. 

• Or. 

Q, Where s 'your place of business? A 143 Bleecker. 

Q, Where is that? A The corner of West Broadway. 

4, Is it on the same block and the same side as Mr • Tore 

business 1.15 ? A Ye5, sir. 

Q, What do you keep there? A Cigars. 

Q, How long have you known Toren!? A I think about six 

or seven years. 

Q During that time how often have you come in contact 

With bin, how often woul& you see him? 

94 
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Objected to .as lmrnterai. 

Doiyou .know other people that 'know him -- do you know 

what his reputation is for peace and quietude -- what is 

it?' A Al]. right. I never heard anything wrong. 

Q Do you recollect the night of the 12th. of April, 1903? 

A I do, the row. 

Q, Were you in youir. place of business that night? A Yes, 

• Q, What time of the night did you close your  store? 

A About ten. minutes to twelve. 

Q Who was with you? A Both my sons. 

Q, When you closed your store which way did you go? 

4- I went past the Torelli's• 

• Q, On the same side? A Yes, sir. I went toward Thompson 

street. 

Q, How far did you go before anything attracted your-

attention? A just about the corner.. 

Q, Of what? A Of Thompson street -- and I heard glass 

breaking. 

Q When you heard the glass breaking what, if anything, did 

you do? A I thought it was my own. 

Q, What did. you do? A We went back, and as I turned 

around -- it was raining -- and as I turned around I see- the 

crowd running towards Tore lli's place, and I knew it was not mine. 



Or. 

, 
96' 

When I seethe crowd- runningwe passed the opposite side. 

Q. You didn't go in? A Didn't go in -- no. 

gym COURT: 

You say you closed your place at what hour? A About 

ten minutes to twelve. Opposite me is two liquor stores, and 

they were open when we closed. 

Q Does that prove anything as to the time? A Not but 

when we closed the store I seen both of them open yet. 

Q Therefore you think it was before twelve o'clock? 

A It was before twelve o'clock, I am positive. 

Q How are ycu positive? A Through my clock. 

Q Did you look at your clock? A We generally close by 

the clock. 

Nhy do you close ten minutes before twelve? A It was 

raining that night, and tlere was nothing doing. We generally 

close aboUt ten minutes to twelve Saturday, and eleven o'clock 

every other night. 

Q And you say you looked at your clock? A Yes, sir --

generally look at it every night. 

Q And you also saw the liquor stores on the other side 

of the street were open? A Yes, sir -- open about closing. 

.Q, Have you any businessrelations with the defendant 

Toren'? A No. 

•••• 
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ANGE LO T OR E- L L I, called in behalf of the defendants, 

sworn and e5camined, testified as follows: 

DIRECT EXA.MINATION BY MR. STECF1ER: 

Q, Talk out loud. 'What is your business? A Saloon keeper. 

Q, What do you keep there in 149 Bleeckerr street? 

ber room, wholesale wine business. 

Q, And a restauirant? A And a restaurant. 

Q Do you import wines? A I import wine myself. 

Q You import wines from the other side? A From the other. 

side. 

A Hotel, 

Q, Then) you are in the saloon, restaurant, importing 

wine, and doing a hotel business? 

Q What other buildings 

A Yes, sir • 

have you go t besides 149 

Ble-ecker street, in connection with 149 Bleecker street? 

Objected to as immaterial. 

Objection sustained. Defendant excepts. 

BY MR. STEC 

Q, Have  you got an L which runs through to Thompson 

street. 

Objected to as immaterial. 

Objection su ained. Defendant 

BY MR. STECIMER: 

Q Ig that one building? 

excepts. 

Sams objection,, ruling and exception. 

MR. STIOCICEAZt My idea is, I want to show the 
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character of this 'man, and the kind of business he keeps, 

and tbis has a bearing on the case. 

THE COURT: You camot show it by the extent of the 

bui;ding he does business in. 

MR. STECKW: T am going to call witnesses that 

are boarders and lodgers in this house. 

THE COURT: You had better get down to the trial of 

this case. 

Q, Do you reraenber the night in question? A Yes, sir. 

Q, About what hour was it - was it around the hour- of 

five minutes to t-welve o'clock? How many people were in your 

place? 

MR . TOWNSEND: I object to anything that took. 

place prior to the entrance of the captain to that place, 

and his words with this man? 

TiE COURT: I will allow that. 

BY MR. STECKIER: 

Q How pmny people; wene in? A About twenty-five or thirty 

or thirty-five, I could not tell. 

Q Was there upon that evening, in your place, any meeting 

of any  body of men? 

Objected to. Objection sustained. 

MR. STECH1ER: I sUitmit that it is absolutely necess-

ary. 

THE COURT: It is not necessary. 

Defendant excepts. 
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BY MR. STECKIER: 

Q Was there an association of Range Workers who had a 

meeting at your. place? 

Objected to. Objection sustained. 

Defendant excepts. 

BY MR. STECKIER: 

Q When for the first time did you know'this complainant, 

Michael Gorman, was in yourr place of business -- what was the 

first thing you knew? Tell your own story from beginning to 

end? A The first is this: That gentleman there (pointing 

to the witness Gormon ) I don't know whether it is the captain 

or not ---

Q Did you ever know hirm? NG, I never knew him before. 

THE COURT: Let him answer the question. 

THE WITNESS: He asked me, "Why don't you close up?" 

• I says, 'What?" He says, 'Thy don't you closet up?" took out 

my watch, .c.Ind I show him it is five minuYes of tvelvel and 
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I says, "Anyway, I don't know you.." He says, "I am a Mills 

House man." And I says, "What doI care for a Mills House man? 

If my time is up I know better than you know", and I took 

out a few glasses of beer, and at the same time my nephew 

came down ard I looked for a bottle of magnesia. 

Who is the nephew? A Andrea Torelli. 

(1 How old is he? A Fourtoen years going on to fifteen. 

Re asked rac for a bottle of magnesia. I said, "I have no time, 
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am.in a hurry* to close up." And at the same time that gentle-

man there, (indicating the witness Gorman) he called for whiskey'. 

My nephew turned to me and said, "Uncle, this gentleman wants 

whiskey." 1 says, "Please pass that bottle with the glass." 

He.did, and at tle same time I gave him a bottle of magnesia, 

and heShaUld bring it to his mother.. 

Q Was anybody behind the bar but you and the little boy? 

. A No, sir, nobody else. Then I see the gentleman,Whe will 

drink the whiskey in a hurry, trying to get behind the bar. 

Q Which way did he go? A Prom here, ricrht, (illus-

trating). 

q In the rear where the opening is for the bar? 

A No. 

Q Is it this way (illustrating)? A Yes, sir. At the 

same time I seen this man come behind the bar, and I holler, 

"Hold out, boys, it is twelve o'clock", and I turned the light 

over the ban, and then I tried to turn the other lights, and the 

man tried to come behind the bar. And I says, "Where do you 

go?" He didn't say a word, but the man grabbed me by the col-

lar. 

Q What man? A That gentlaman there (indicating the wit-

ness Gorman). I didn't know he was the captain. If I know 

tiH 
he was a captain --- I call him a gentleman, because I didn't 

know he WasCaptain. 

'Q Ahat did he do? A He grabbed me here with one hand, and 

with the other hand he struck MB with the glass, and I see a 
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flane in my eye, and I said "Holy Jesus", that way, and a 

boy grabbed it and took it away from him. 

Q, Who? A Sone people there. And he tore my. tie. And 

then I run behind the bar right away, and took a towel, and 

I put some whiskey and put in my face, and I had my face covered, 
don't 

and I know anything about it after. A 

Q, Did you hit him? A No. 

Q, , Strike him? A No. 

Q, Did you take a glass and hit him on the head? A No. 

Q Did you fire a glass at him, and cut his hand? 

A No. 

Q, Did you fire: anything at him? A No, I didn't do 

anything to him. 

Q, Did he ever come into the place and say to you, "I 

ath the Captain of this precinct"? A No, sir. 

Q, And take his coat and pull it back and show his 

shieid? A Never ad anything like fri at. 

Q Did he ever show you his shield? A No. 

Q, Did he ever tell you he was the captain? A Never', 

Q Did you know he was the captain? A No. 

Q Did you know he was a police officer? 

THE COURT: You had better let your principal 

gitness testify. 

10R. STECICIZR: I am contradicting the testimony 

of the complainant. 

THE COURT: Won" beginning to end you are dictating 
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.411 01" Be has told what dccurred.. Now 
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I am contradicting the complainant. 

THE COURT: You aresaying did he do this and did 

he do that? Let him give his statement. I would muchl 

prefer you would go on regularly. 

Q After the captain struck you in the face with the glass 

did you ever talk with the captain? A I never opened my mouth. 

Q, Did you hit him or assault him, or have anything to d) 

with him? A No, sir. 

Q After he struck you what becaae of the captain? 

A Be was broken away outside. 

q Do you know how he got out? A I don't know anything 

about that. 

Q, When foe the first time did you know he was captain? 

A The first time was when I was upstairs changing my khirt, 

someone came up and says, 'What are you doing?" I says, "Noth-

ing." Be says, "Don't you know hp is the captain?" I says, 

"I never knew that." Anyway, I says, "If he was the President' 

of the United States, it is the same thing, I don't do anything , 

to that man. 

How old a man are you? A Thirty-four. 

Q Where were you born? A Italy. 

Q, How long have  you been in this country? A Since law. 

Q, And have you been in business ever since that time? 
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always was it bUsineee since the time I Was working. 

A How long have you been in business ? A About twelve 

A Por yourself? A Yes, sir„ 

In your entire life has there ever been a charge of any 

kind againet'you? 

- Objected to. Objection sustained. 

Defendant excepts. 

aYlatv. sranamw 

Q Have you ever been arrested or convicted of anyrcrime? 

Objected to. Objection overruled. 

A Never. 

A Were you ever arrested or convicted of violating the 

Ziciee Law, or any other law? 

Objected to. Objection sustained. 

Defendant excepts. 

Q, Are yo  a married man? A Yes, sir. 

Q Have you a wife? A Yes, sir. 

Q A family? A Yes, sir. 

Do they live with you in the house there? A Yes, sir.. 

Q How long have you lived together with your wife? A. 

Eleven years I have been married. 

Q Is Parentini, the other defendant -- what relation if 

any, is he to you? A Step -brother-in-law. 

Q is the step -brother-of your- wife? A Yes, sir, step..
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brother: of Ay Wife. 

4 Was Parentini in the saloon that night at the time the 

:coptairi:mme in? A No, sir. Parentini never put his foot 

beb144 rkir bar. 

Q Did he hit the captain, so far as you know, with a 

ClUb? A I didn't see Parentini there that night. 

Q Was the complainant in citizen's clothes, in uniform 

or what? A Citizen's clothes. 

Q, Had you ever seen the man in your life before that 

night? A Never before. 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY  TOWNSFND: 

Q You saw the Captain' there? A I see him now, yes, sir. 

Q He came up and told you to closet; that place? A Yesoir. 

Q You did not close it? A I was in my times; it was 

five minutes to twelve, and I showed him the watch. 

Q You sLd he went to the end of the bar, and there he 

called for whiskey and got it? A At the same time and place 

that he asked me to close up he didn't move; he stood there. 

Q Stepped to the end of the bar? A Afterwards. 

Q Did he ask you for a drink? A Yes, sir. 

What did you say? A He asked for whiskey, and the boy 

told me, "Uncle, that gentleman wants some whiskey." 

Q I asked you if he didn't ask you? A I didn't hear him 

ask for a drink. 

Q He stepped to one side? A No, he stand in the same 
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place* 

Q, And you didn't hear him ask? A No. 

hat did the boy say to you that he said? A He says, 

"That gentleman wants some whickey." 

Q, And so he got the whiskey, di d. he? A He got the 

whiskey'. 

Q, And he paid for it? A I don't know. I didn't receive 

the money. 

Q, You would have bee m apt to know if he had, not paid 

for it? A I don't know; there is lots of men come there 

-.drinking and I don't know .if they pay. 

Q, How long had this boy been behind the counter.? A He 

just .came that time fnom upstairs; he never came into the 

counter. 
not 

Q, Why 6id.youA' serve him with whiskey? A I had no time. 

Q, Anybody else talking to you at the time? A Sure. 

I took out three or four. glasses of beer in that time. 

Yet- you let this 'boy, who had no thing to d °with the 

place help him to whiskey? A That is ri t. 

Q, He had nothing to do but serve him whiskey? A No. 

Q, You let him collect the money? A I don't know if 

he di d. 

Q, You didn't try to collect it? A No. 

Q, You generally try to collect every cent for: whiskey 

you sell? A Yes, sir, if I see it. 
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-And for beer? A Yes,.slx. 

q And yctisee it goes into the register.? A We have to 

a heavy libens that is right. 

q$0 you watch that pretty carefully? A Yes, sir. 

-q lie could not get behind the bar. by going round in the 

War the young man was where he got the whiskey, c ould he? 

A Who? 

Q The captainP A Of c o,r se when I stopped him - 
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Q He could not get in there, at tle other end, 

of the bar? No, -- I don't know that you meant, 

BY THE COURT: 

q The entrance behind the bar is at one end, is it not? 

A Yes. 

Q. Is there one also at this end as well as that end? ' 

(illustrating) A This end. 

Q Is t ,ere one at this end? A Only one end. 

ME. STEC • Only one end -- that is conceded.. 

BY MR., TOWNSEND: 

could he, 

Q He colld not enter behind the bar at that end? 

A There is. only one place. 

Then the Captain told you to close up you said to him 

What ,:dd you say when the Captain told you that? A I told hitt 

this is five minutes to twelve, and I Showed the watch. 

Q What did he say? A. He didn't open his mouth, He .didn'f 

flay a word.. 
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Q, What did you say to hit then? A I went away. 

Q I thought you asked him who he was? A I did, and 

he says I told him', "It is five minutes to twelve and I 

don't knew. you," That is what I say'. 

CI at did he say? A He says, "I am a Mills House man." 

Q What did you say? A I says, "To hell with the Mills 

_House men." I says, "'When my time is up I will close up, .and 

I know better. than you know." That is what I told him. 

He didn't look like a Mills Rouse man, did he?. A Ye 

= sir,he did that night. 

Was he drunk? A I don't know if he was drunk; I could 

not tell you; I am no doctor. 

YOut can't tell whether a man is drunk or not? A No, 

after you see a man ---

Q Did he act as if he was drunk? A The way he did, - 

a tar 

ye s 

4, What did he do? A He tried to go behind that bar, and 

he had to be drunk or crazy, one of the two. 

Who hit him? A I don't know. 

Q, Did anybody hit him? A Maybe so. 

Q You didh't? A No, sir, I did not. 

Q, Was there any blood on him? A I didn't see any blood 

on him. I know I have big blood here (indicating); I had 

a big scar; I have got it yet. 
4 

Q, You would not let him go behind tho bar? A No, I 
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would not / If I knew it was the Captain ---

Q, How did Parentinji get out? How did he go? A He never-

put his foot in my bar-. 

Q, The one that was in there how did he get out? The one 

You say was there? A My nephew? 

Q Your nephew. A He went out of the door. 

Q How did he get by you with the Captain? A My nephew 

44 Went Out before the captain tried' to come behind the bar. 

Q, The captain says he went behind the bar to arrest that 

man. Now you say there was nobody behind the bar when he went 

there? A I was alone. 

What did he try to do? A I told you before. He tried 

to come behind the bar. 

Q, What did he say? A In a rush he tried to get behind 

the bar-. Then I stopped him:, and the first thing he grabbed 

me 'by the collar-. 

Q Did you asked him what he wanted? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Why didn't you tell that? A I says, "That do you 

'want here?" 

Q, Did he say anyt-htng? A NO -thing. 

Q, He made no reply? A That is all. 

Q, Go on. A And then he gi abbed me by the collar, and he 

smashed me in the face right here (indicating) this way. 

THE COURT': Anything in his hand? 

TIM WITNESS: He must have a glass or something. 

4MIL 



t.;”. 

t% 

"..anmatart,.. 

k• 

109 

Q Did you see anything in his hand? A No, I did. not. 

.Q fle smashed you in the face? A Yes, sir. 

Q• That became of you? A I went this way (illustrating), 

and the other people grablied him. 

Q Then you ran upstairs? A I ran, and I put some whiskey 

in my scar -- and I ran back in the kitchen and put some hot 

water and salt on, aid I put it on and. ran up stairs, and my 

wife was up; she heard the noise, and said "What is the matter?" 

and seen irie all covered with blood and. started to cry. I said, 

"Don't cry. Give me a shirt; it is nothing." I thought 

it was a tramp. I never thought it was a captain. I says, 

"The. policemen have got him, and I will go to the stationi 

house and. malts a charge." 

Q, Who attends bar with you? A My bartender. 

- Where was he that night? A He was there putt ing up the. 

partition. 

Q, Was he not behind the bar at that time? A No, s. 

Q, What time did he leave from behind the bar? A Twenty-

five minutes to twelve. 

Qs You heard the captain testify that 'there were three 

me n standing behind the iaar.? A He says lots of lies • Everythin..g 

he says is a lie. 

Q,, You ran upstairs. Did_ you go to bed? A No. 

Q Where d (-,1 you go? A To change my shirt. 

Q, Why?, A You think I go around with a shirt like that? 

a 

• 

• 
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q It was time to go to bed? A No because my place 

was open, after the trouble down there; the Captain broke 

every-window and every door. 

Q Busted in every door and every window? A Yes, sir 

net windqw, -- it Is a door -- five panes of glass he broke 

dawn. 

Q Did you offer to make a complaint in the station house? 

Objected to as incompetent, irrelevant and imam_ • 

terial. 

Objection sustained. 

RE-DIRECT ICKAHINATION. BY 1R. STECkIER: 

Q There are storm doors there? A Yes, sir. 

Q Is there any lock or any key, or anything to the 

storm door? A No key, no lock. 

Q, Is there any way in which you can lock those storm doors. 

• at all? A No; we never lock the storm. doors. • 

Is there any lock or anything on it? A Never. 

BY TI E COURT: 

q You say, when the captain tried to come in behind the bar' 

that you were theonly person behind the bar at that tine? 

A Nobody Oise, only me. 

Q And when you asked, - When he tried to come behind the 

bar, - what he wanted, he replied by striking you with his 

clenched fist? A With his fist. And I didn't know whlt he had 

in his hand. 
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You testified a little while ago he had a glass in his 

hand? A It must be a gig, s or something. 

It is what it was, not what it must be. A I could not 

say. 

Q, That is all the answer- he made when you said, "What do you 

\want here?" A That is right. 

Q, Before that he had not told you he was captain or 

displayed his shield? A No; never did. 

BY MR. STEM/a:ER: 

Q, Did. you at my request, have your- pictures taken? 

Objected to. Objection sustained. 

MR. STECIER.: We hay e t he photograph. 

Objection sustained. Defendant excepts. 

Q, Were you treated by a doctor for your- injuries afterwards? 

MR. TOWNSEND: 

with the case. 

THE COURT: I will allow that. 

A Yes, sir. 

Q, Who was the doctor that treated. you? A Dr-. Riggi. 

• Q, Is he in Court? A Yes, sir. 

MR. STECKLM.: Will the gentleman st and up? 

(A per son stands up.) 

THE WITNESS: That is '''the doctor. 

. BY HR. STECKLER: 

Q, }low many days did, the doctor treat you? 

Objected to as immaterial. 

Objected to. That has nothing to do 
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THE COURT: The doctor can teStify as to the 

character of the injuries. 

MR. SMOKIER: That is all. 

MR. STOCKIER: I want to offer in evidence 

the portrait mentioned in the testimony just now, 

and ask that it be marked in evidence. 

Objected to. 

THE COURT: It may be marked for identification. . 

Marked Defendant's Exhibits 1 and 2 fer identifi-

cation. 

MR. STECKIER: Does your Honor rule them out even 

though the photographer is here? 

ME' COURT: Certainly. The photographer-cannot 

tell anything about them except that he took the 

photographs; and you offer the photographs and they 

are rejected, and you have your except. on. 

MR. STEC al Dr I will have to prove the various de-

gress by which we produce these. 

THE COURT: You can mahe the offehat you

to produce photographs taken by the photographer. 

MR. STECKLER: Mowing bruiser and injuries to thie 

man's face a da:! or two da:Ts after the alleged assault. 

TIER COURT: 2 excluao eviuence. 

Defonaant excopts. 

TIN =Jib": There in no evidence of what mdlIt 
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have happened between the occurrence on which the indict-

mei* is laid, and the time tb.f the photograph. I exclude, 

them as they stand. 

2.STECKIER:. I had better put him back to show 

that the injuries which appear on hi5 pictures 

THE COURT: I will not allow him to be recalled for 

that purpose You can take your exception. If you want 

to show the character of any injuries he received, you can 

show it. 

WILLIAM .PARENTINI, called asawitness in behalf 

of the defendants, being duly sworn ard examined, testified 

as follows: 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. STECK:LER: 

q Bow old are you? A Twenty-one. 

Q What is your full name? A William Parentini. 

Q, 'Where do you live? A 149 Bleecker street, I board there, 

but my mother lives in Hoboken. I board at Torelli's place. 

Q Your home is with your mother in Hoboken? A Yes, sir. 

Q Whereabouts in Hobolton? A 606 john street,. Wept' Hoboken. 

Q .Virithwhwal do you work now? A Fugier & Co. 

0, What business? A Drug business. 

Q How long harm you been in that business? A Over three• 

ar • 

.Where ad you work before that? A At a machine shop. - 
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Q, Where? A On: 12th street. 

Q, Row long did you work there? 

Objected to as immaterial. 

ME COURT: Go on. He may answer. 

BY H. STEC 111 Di" 

A , A year. 

Q, 'How long were you working for a living altogether? 

A 'Five ye ar s. 

Q Have you been working steadily? A All the time, 

-yes, sir.. 

Q Did you go to school before that? A Yes, sir. 

Q, On the night of the 12th of April, 1903, the day 

that.M.r .• Torelli and you got into this trouble, where were you 

that night? A I was home• got out of the shop at half past. 

twelve We: worked half a day on Saturday. I went over to 

Hoboken to see_ my mother, and. I had supper with my mother 

and after supper I left t]Tere and I came right over. 

Q You left your mother-1E.; about what time? A Seven or half 

past seven, 

Q Vihen you left your mother's where dia you go? A Straight 

home, went .straigItt to bed. 

What time did ;Jou get home about? A Ab out ten o clock. 

When you gothome at ten o'clock where did you go? 

A .4ight upstairs to bed. 

Q, What room; o.,rdwhat part of the house was your room in? 

A On the top floor-. 

Miry, 
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Q, 'Who, if anybody, lept in the room with you? A ifr. 

Bonini. 

Q How long had. you and he been rooming together? A About 

six months. 

Q, Did you each have separate beds? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Did, you go to bed, or were you sit  jiig up, or what were 

you doing? A Went right upstairs to bed. He was in bed, and 

he asked me for some tobacco, and I gave it to him, and he 

started to smoke; and I went right to bed. I stayed just a 

little while there, after' falling to sleep, and. I heard a . 

crash of glass., and I looked out and seen a lot of people, 

and i-an• down and thought there was a fire. 

Q, Were you dressed when you ran down? A Only an under-

shirt, vest, pants, and shoes were not laced,. T didn't know 

what happened. 

Q, As you got down stairs where (Lid you go'? A I went to 

the second floor-, and my sister was there. I says, "What is 

the matter?" 

Q, Which s is ter? A Jennie. 

Q Is that the wife of this defendant? A No. 

Q It is the widow? A Yes  sir. 

Q, What aid she do? A I said, "What is the matter?" 

I hoard a crash of glass. I was going to go down, she stopped 

me. She said., "Don't do it." 

Objected to. 



Tr.n WITNESS: So she pulled me iia her rOara. 

was there about fifteen minutes and Officer Sullivan cane 

up and grabbed, me and took me down stairs. 

Q, That i.s this gent lemanl. ( indic at ing)? 

ME COURT:: Officer? 

TUE WITNESS: Yes, sir.. Re brought me down in 

front of this man, and says, "Is this one of the fellows?" 

Ile says "No". And then he let me go. And the next. 

clzky they arrested me and they brought me to the hospital. 

And he says I gave him a drink, En d I never worked in the 

place. 

Q, Were you in that bar. room that nidit? A No. 

Q, Did you serve any drinks? A No. 

Q, Did you ever serve any drinks? A No. 

Q,. Had you- anything to do with. the business? A No; 

ha-ve nothing to do with the business. 

Q, Did you see this man come into the saloon? A I 

didn't see: him at all. 

Thd you hit him with a cilia? A No, sire 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY 3VER R. T0WNSEND: 

Q, Where does your- mother- live? A 606 John Street, West 

Hoboken, New Jersey. 

70. SCR: Is your mother. here? 

Tfill WITNESS: Outside. 

:4,1; 
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Wha t time did you leave there? A Seven or half past 

Q, Which way did you go? A Right home. 

Q, What time did you get home? A About ten o'clock. 

Q, Did it take from half past seven to ten? A I took 

the car and the boat, end then I walked --

How many hours does it take to come from West Hoboken 

to your House? A Takes me an hour or an hour and twenty' 

rainute!,s,., but t might have talked to some body. 

Q, Did you stop? A No, I went right home and went right 

to bed. 

Q, Did ,you go to bed with ',.:rour shoes ote A No., sir. 

Q, How did. you come to convemiently wake up at tea • 

o'clock? A I heard the crash of the glasses down stairs, 

the crashing., and I got up. 

Q, You like to go to bed early? A I always do go to bed 

early. 

Q, And, yet you woke up at ten o'clock? A I don't say. 

ten o 'C lock. I woke up when I hear d t he no ice of t 1 glass. 

I didn't know what time it was. 

q Don't get excited. A I am in the right. 

You heard. the sound of glass? A Yes, sir.. 

Q So you popped up? A Yes , sir. 

Q, How many shoes did you put on? A Both shoes. 
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q What else did you put on? A My pants and, vest. I 

left my shirt' and bat and coat upstairs. 

Q .You ran down stairs and your sister- pulled you into hen 

roam? A She stopped me. I says, "What is tLe matter I 

heard such a noise down stairs?" She says, "I don't know." 

I says, "I am going down to see what is the matter", and she 

pulled-me into her roam4 

Q You were satisfied to let it go at that? A I didn't 

know what happened. I would have went dawn if she hadn't stopped 

me. 

Q. Then you didn't care what happened? A NO,. 

Q How old are you? A Twenty-one. 

0, You got up out of bed when you heard the sound of 

- breaking glass? A Yes, sir. 

Q How old is your sister? IL About thirty-three, i 

Q She pulled you in her room? A Yes, sir. 

0„ How long did ,you stay tlere? A About fifteen minutes. 

0, Sure you were not in hiding in that room? A No, sir, I 

was not. 

Did you run up in your sister's room first? A No. 

0, The officer said when he got upstairs you were under the 

bed clothes? A No, sir; there was a little boy in the roan - 

with me. 

Q He said your bead was under the clothes . Was it 

cold? A I was sitting down there, but I was under no clothes. 

• 
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MR. STidIER: there is no such evidence. 

.BY •MR. TOWNSEND: 

Q He says you pretended to be asleep? 

8TECKLER: 
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I object to that as not the testimony. 

  COURT: I don't think the officer testified to 

that. Go on, -and let the stenographer see during the 

recess idiat the testimony of the officer was. 

TOWNS.END: I withdraw the question. 

What did. you do when he shook you; how did he wake 

...you• Up? A I was sitting down. He says, "Come down stairs." 

Q: Where were ycu sitting? A On the bed. 

On the bed? A Yes, sir. 

Q You were not under the bed. clothes? A No, sir. 

Q, Sitting on the bed? A Yes, sir. 

Q, When the officer came in the room? A Yes, sir. 

And woke you? A Yes, sir. 

Q, .Not covered up with all the clothes? A No. 

Q What did the officer say to you? A Be brought me down 

stairs. 

Q Nam t did you s ay to him? A Nothing. 

Did you laugh at him? A No. 

Q When he woke you up? A No. He grabbed me by the neck 

and brought; lp down stairs. He caught me here. He grabbed me 

and sai,d, "Come on down stairs", and I went dawn stairs with him, 

and he told this gentleman was I to follow, and he says no. 
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Q, There did you ork? A With the E. Fugier- Company. 

•Q What time did. you leave there after work? A Five 

o'clock; half past twelve on Saturday I leave. 

Q, What time do, yogi get throught with your work? A Half past 

twelve on Saturdays, five o'clock on week days. 

Q What do you do evenings? A Walk out. 

Q• Do you, ever al:, into this bar room in the evening? 

A 'Which bar room? 

Q Torelli's bar room? A Sometimes I would be in there 

and have a drink and pay for it. 

Q Would you ever sit in the bar- roomr? A Sit down and halo 

a drink -- yes 

Q, Did you ever give a drink to anybody in your life? 

A Lots of people. 

Q Did, you ever serve the liii.uor? A No. 

Q Ever go behind the bar- in your. life:.? A No, sir, never 

did. 

Q Would you spend•most evenings in that bar room? A No. 

Q Where? A Outside., walking around. 

Q, Where? A With friends, taking a walk; go to the 

theatre. sometimes. 

Q, The night you did. not go to the theatre, where did. you 

go? A Sit and rest awhile and thon go to some otharplace. 

Q, What other places? A On tho corner., perhaps. 

Q, Cold nights? A On a cold. night I would go to the club. 
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.Q You a.lways kept shy of this bar room? A Yes, sir. 

Always kept out of it? A Sometimes I would be in having 

a dr ink. 

Q, You do drink? A Yes, sir, I do drink. 

Q, How many- times a week would you go in the bar rami 

• A I have got to pass the bar room every night, because I sleep 

up stairs; I b. ave to go through. 

Q, How many nghts woull you sit in the bar room?. A Maybe 

two or three nights. 

Q, How are you related to this man? A He is my step-

brother -in-law. 

Q.,  Who was the bartender- there? A I don't know; I can't 

say. 

Don't you know who the bartender was that niept? A No. 

Who Was usually the bartender? A The steady 

bartender? 

•Q Yes. A Mr • George, I think his name is 

Q, Did' they have any other- man that nix? A I don't 

Q, Do they have other. men there thai himP A I never se en. 

any. 

Q, Don t you know who is the bartender? A -Yes, sir, but I 

am no t t IT bar t e nde 

MB. STECKLER : He is here. 

. TCWITSIZTD: don't say he is not. 
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BY J. TOWNSEND': 

Q, Did Captain Gorman identify' you next day without any 

doubt? A He identified me, - yes, sir. 
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'What did he say the next day? A He said, "That was the 

fellow that served me a drink", and that I hit him on the head 

with a club. 

Q There was no doubt in his mind next day? A He says I 

done it, but I didn't. 

Q He didn't have any doubt then, did he? 

Objected to. Objection sustained. 

BY TiE COURM 

Q Your room is on the top story? A Yes, sir, up in the 

garret. 

Q, Is it front or rear? A Front. 

DR. SINPLICIO R I G H II called as a witness in 

behalf of the defendantlsWorn! 

follows: (Partly through the 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. STECHIER: 

Q You are a physician and surgeon? A Yes, sir. 

Q, You practice medicine? A Yes, sir. 

Q A graduate of what school? A New York. 

Q University? A 

and examined, testified as 

Italian interpreter.) 

New York State. 

Q Do you recollect on the 1th of April treating Mr. Torellt 
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for any injuries? A Yes, sir, I remember. 

Describe where his injuries were? 

114R. TOWNSEND: I object. How does this aid the 

Y in determining whether or not this man as

Captain. We  have nothing to do vrith this man 

was injured or not. 

MR. STECKLER: It brings home the circumstances and 

the probabilities of the story. 

TOWNSMID: I sulanit it has nothing to do with the 
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case. 

TEE COURT: I will allow the simple question to be 

asked and answered as to whether he treatedhim for in-

Vtrie s and w h at those. were . I allow the defendant to 

testify, notwithstanding my own view as to its materiality, 

. to the fact that he was struck by the complaining 

witness. Now, as to t he seriousness of that blow this 

doctor can testify but that is all. Ask him to des-

er-lbe the injuries. 

Q, Describe the injuries where ti-ey were? A He had 

about four or five little wounds on the right side near the 

eye. 

Q, Can you tell us whether they were made by the hart. or 

by a blunt -instrument or a sharp instrument? 

Objected to. 

THE COURT: Ask if he can toll by what they were 
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cgs,* 

made • 

BY ittR. STECKLER: 

Can you tell by What they were made?. A my opinio# is 

that it was done with a glass or with a bottle, a tumbler or a 

bottle. If I had any doubt about it my doubt was all cleared 

up vhen 1 put the bandage on, and I found a little piece of 

glass there. 

BY THE COURT: 

q What date did :/ou make this exapjnation? A I don't 

remember; one day or Lc ays after the trouble. I don't 

remember exactly. He Lelongs to a society and I belong 

to the Society. 

Q He belongs to a Society that you belong to? A Yes, siT 

I am the doctor of that Societ. 

Q What did ;ou do in treatment of that injury? A I made: 

only a strong local disinft-:ntant, and I 

for local disinfection. 

Tote him a prescriPtion7. 

Q That is the only ti 'pe .:01J :.E1A, him in (tGy,r,v,c t 1 On with 

ti.et? A "IMce I him. 

Q, When di6 you next se n iii? A Three or four days after 

the first. 

Did you treat him any further? A I went only twice to 

treat him. 

The Court then admonished the jury, calling their 
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attention to Section 415' of the Code of Civil Procedure,: 

and. :adjourned the further trial of the case until to-

rnorrqw, Friday morning, June 5th, 1903, at 10:30 o'clock. 

1. 
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New York, June 5, 1903, 10.30 A.M. 

OUIS ,SIMO N, called asawitness on behalf of de-

fendant, sworn and examined, testified as follows: 

MR. TOWNKPIND: I ask that all the witnesses be 

excluded, 

The Court directs that all witnesses on both 

sides in this case shall leave the Court room, and 

remain outside until called, and that all witnesses 

Who have already testified may remain in Court. 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. STECELER: 

Q Where do you live? A 32 King street. 

Q What is your business? A Cigar business. 

Q Where do you keep your place of business? A 143 Bleeck., 

er street. 

Q, Where is that? A Corner of West Broadway and Bleeck-, 

or street. 

Q, How many houses from Mr. Torellits place, the deferr• 

dant? A Three. 

Q, On the same block with him? A Yes, sir. 

9, On 121.e same side? A On the same side. 

Q How long la ave you known Mr. Torelli? A About seven or 

OP' 
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year. 

Q. Do you know other people that know him? A Yes, sir. 

What is hi s reputation among those who know him for 

peace and 440tness? A Very good. 

4 YoulemeMber the 12th of April, 1903? A Yes, sir, 

Q Saturday? A Yes, sir, 

Q Do you remember what time you closed your place of 

IIU40000 that night? A About ten minutes of twelve, 

A Who left that place of business with you? A My father 

and brother. 

Q How do you fix the time? A It was a rainy night, and 

by the time we had closed up and got on the sidewalk my brotk& 

er sayeto me, he says--

NB. TOWNTEINTD: I object to what he said, 

THE COURT: You cannot give the conversation 

you had with your brother. 

What impressed you outside of what he said? A The 

saloons on the other side were still open, two of them, 

Q, Where did you walk to? A Down through Bleecker 

street. 

Q To what street? A We passed Thompson street, 

Q When you got down in that neighborhood what attract-

ed your attention, if anything? A. We walked down another half 

bloOk and We heard the glass crash. We turned around and we 
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Saw a crowd running. 

Q *hat dld you do? A We walked back and in .lking back 

we heard More glaSs crash, and when We got down to the corner 

Of Thompson: street we stood still, and we int see the crowd 

running and that impressed us; we thought it was ours, be-

-Cause the crowd started from Thompson towards West Broadway, 

and  we thougit it was our windows being broke, but when we 

reached the corner we seen the crowd gather in front of Tor-

ellits place in the basement. 

Q, That is all you know/ A That is all I know about 

No cross examination. 

CHARLE S MURRAY, called on behalf of the defen-

dants, sworn and examined, testifies as follows: 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. STECKLER: 

Q, What i a your full name? A Charles Murray. 

q Where do you live? A 35 West 8th street. 

q What is your business? A Waiter. 

Q How long hve you been a wai ter?. A Eight years. 

Q Where are you waiting now? A At Coney rel end. 

Q Where were you before that? A 25 Park Row. 

Q What restaurant? A Dennett's. 



• 

4" 

129 

How long were you with those people? A I worked there 

six months. 

Q How long have you been a waiter altogether? A Eight 

years. 

Q, D0 you know Tirr. Torelli? A Yes, sir. 

Q, D0 you know his place of business? A Yes, sir, 

9, where is it? A 149 Bleecker street. 

Q Have you been in the habit of going to that place? 

A Yes, sir; 

Pig that headquarters for waiters? 

Objected to. 

Objection sustained. Defendant excepts, 

Q, Were you in Mr. Torelli's place on Saturday the 12th 

of April, the night of this trouble'4 A Yes,. sir, 

What were you doing there? A I -vas sitting down watch-

ing a game of cards. 

Q, How -many people were playing cards at , this table where 

you were looking on? A Four. 

Q, 

What were they playing? A Euchre. 

Were you playing? A No. 

Q What if anything attracted your attention at •that 

time while you were watching this game? 

Objected to. 

•ci Around ten minutes to twelve o'clock? 

MR. TOWNSEND: That is objected to. It took 
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place before twelve. Let him state what he eaw. 

Q Please state what you saw? A I was sitting down 

Watching a game of cards, and I was next the bartender; the 

bartender was putting up the door and the door kind of fell 

down on me. 

Q, You mean the partition? A A partition. 

Q, Where were thor.4epartitions being put? A At the end 

Of the bar, the fore end of the bar. 

Q You mean at the door or the end where the entrance 

is to the bar? A Way down, the entrance around •the bar. 

Q Go on. A I got up and I we Mr. Toren/ wiping the 

blood off his face. He had. a towel to his face wiping blood 

Up. Then I seen some kind of a shuffle or scrap going on 

over the door, and I went b Eck to the toilet and I came out 

again and going out of the do' an officer stopped me. He 

say" You have to wait here". 

Q Never mind what he said. Were you arrested? A yes) 

sir. 

Q Were you discharged? A Yes, sir. 

Q While you were in there, do you recollect a police-

man bringing down this young boy Parentini? A Yes, sir. 

Q And another boy? A Yes, sir. 

Q, WYlat if anything did you see' done there when they were' 

b OUght dewn? 
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Objected to, 

TIIS COURT: I will allow it. 

A Mr, Sullivan brougAt him down. He asked the captain, 

h0 stood hi0 up and says "Has any of these two boys hit you" ? 
at • 

He loOkedth,em. And Sullivan says "'Look at them good". And 

he looked theioNer for about two minutes and he said "Neither 

one". And S414vIn told him to go upstairs again. 

: Q And they both went up? A They both went up. 

-Q What else? A The Captain says to the officer "Go be.4 

land the bar and see what you can find there for evideme." 

Be went behind there and picked up an ice pick. He asked 

the Captain if he hit him with this. He said no. He picked 

up the bung out of a barrel, I should say a foot and a half -

q Is that the club here which is in evidence? A This 

was a bung which he picked up. 

(The club produced). 

Q was that what he brought out? A No. 

Q He brought out a bung first? A Yes, sir, 

Q, Go on. A He says " Take that along"; "lay it down 

and take it along". 

Q What did he say about the bung? A Nothing. He look-

ed at it and said "Take it along." He said that was what he 

t hm with, 
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. THE COURT: Then why did you say he said noth-

ing? 

• THE WITNESS: He looked at it. He says "Take 

that along." Ire made a few remarks about the 

club. 

Q Tell us what he said. A He said "Take it along"; 

it is what he hit me with". 

THE COURT: He said that was what he hit him 

with? 

THE WITNESS: Yes, sir. 

Q• What did. he say about the bung? A He said "Take it 

along." 

Q, What else. A I didn't hear him say anything else 

that I remember now. 

Q What about the club? A A few minutes after the offic-

er. found a club away down in the corner; he was seeking round 

in the corner among some rubbish and found the club. He 

showed it to the Captain sand asked him if he hit him with 

this. He said "Yes." And he said "Take and throw the bung 

away and take the club along." And they threw the bung back 

behind the bar and took the club along. 

(;), Are you. related in any way to Torelle ? A No. 



• 

• 

4w440:4, - 

133 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY B. TOWN SEND: 

•Q, How long he you known Parentini? A Pour years. 

Bow often would you. see Parentini? A What do you 

Mean? I don't know Parentini at all. I Only know him by 

sight; I don't know him to speak to him. 

Q Where did you ever see him? A I have seen him on 

1 the street once in a while when he passed through Bleecker 

estreoti by sight, that is all. 

Q Were ydu ever introduced to him? Did you ever know vhffat 

his name was? A No, sir. 

Q. Do you know that he is the man that was brought down 

• that n1 it? A Yes, sir. 

Q, .How do you know? A By sight, by looking at him.' 

Q How many times have you seen him to know him? A Half 

a dpzen times. 

Q And did not know hie name? A No. 

Q, And yet you. are willing to smear he was the man they 

brought down that night? A Yes, sire 

Q, Do you. go in there every night? A Not every night. 

Q, How often? A Some nights I go in there two or three 

times a week, sometimes four times a week. 

Q Do you sit in there every night as a rule or three 

or four times a week? A I go in there for an hour, sometimes 

two hours. 
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Q. Sometimes three hours? A Well, yes. 

• Q Do you drink any there? A I take a drink once in 

a while. 

Q You are a good friend of Torellite? A No, 

Q Are you not friendly with him? A Friendly with him, 

not a great friend. 

Q How long have you known him? A Four years by going in 

the place'. 

And have seen him three or four nights a week? 

. A Yes, sir. 

Ct Yet you are not friendly with him? A I um not a great. 

friend of his; I am friendly with him. 

BY MR, STECKLER: 

Are you friendly enoug4 to come here and commit per  

jury for him? 

Objected to. 

Obj ec tion f3U stained. 

Defendant excepts. 

13Y THE COURT: 
that 

Q You say the first thingAattraoted. your attention 

there out of the usual course was that the partition that some-

body was putting up fell over on you? A Yes, sir. 

Q Then you got up from where you were? A Yes, sir, 

Q, And then the next thing that attracted your attention 

wall you saw Torelli wiping blood off his faze? A Yess sir. 

• 
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'Ct And. the next thing was a scrap near the door? A Yes, 

Q. Mid the breaking of glass? A Yes, sir. 

EM IL JIANELL A, called on behalf of defendants, 

sworn and exanined, testifi(7d as follows: 

DIRECT ECAIIIINATION BY KR. STECKLER: 

Q Where do you live? A 56 Amblet Place, West Hoboken. 

Q D0 you know Mr. Torelli? A Yes, sir. 

Q How long have you known him? A About la or 13 :sears. 

Q Do you know. Par entini? A I know him. 

Did you know him beforethat night? A I knew him be-

fore.-- yes, sir. 

Q Did you ever see him wait, act behind a bar, or wait 

in any way? 

Objected to as leading. 

Objection sustained. Defendant excepts. 

Q Was Parentini in that place that night waiting at 

• the bar or attending the bar so far as you know? 

MR. TOWNgEND: Did you see him? 

A No, sir. 

Q Who was in the place that you knew? A My friend 

AYIn 
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Where does he live? A West Hoboken. 

. 4 What it your business? A Waiter, 

qVhere d0 you wait? A In a couple of places, downtown 

and uptown. 

Q 'Where?? A In the Mutual Life. 

Q In the cafe? A Mutual Life Insurance Company; it JO 

a club upetairs. 

4?, Where do you wait in the night time? A 41st street, 

at Nari.0_s. 

Q How long have you been a waiter altogether? A About 

seven or eight years. 

4 Do you know Mr. Torelli? A Yes, sir. 

Q Have you been in the habit of going into his place? 

A Yes, sir, every day sometimes, 

Q, Do you remember the ni41.t this trouble took place on 

the 12th. of April? A Yes, sir. 

q Tea us in your own way exactly what you saw of this 

whole trouble. Just tell us all about it from beginning to 

end? A That is what I saw. I was playing billiards with my 

friend, like we used to, and when it was about half past eleVeni, 

NIL TOWNSEND: I object to anything that 

took place at half past eleven. The captain was 

not there. 

Q1 Tell ua what you heard after that, Tell ue the first 
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You heard of any: trouble? A About the trouble-- we were 

right up to the bar, we had the last drink 00•••••in 

Q Had you stopped playing billiards? A Of course 

Q, You were at the bar drinking what? 

THE COURT: Let him testify. 

Tell us when you were at the bar what you saw? A 

Was' up to the bar and took the last drink and said to my 

friend.--

Q. Never Mind what you said to your friend. Tell us that 

happened then you were at the bar? A When I was drinking the 

laSt, drink, then all at once I turned myself, and I see a man 

smashing. a glass in Torellif s face, 

Q. Where was that, what part of the bar? A The other end 

of the bar. I was aboutthe middle of the bar, and it was 

right at the other end of the bar, the opening, 

Q, Towards the door, or where you go in the bar? A Where 

you. go in the .bar. 

Q Up to the time you saw this man hitting Torelli with 

a glass was there any trouble of any kind that you saw? A I 

see four or five men, they jumped on him ud started, to push tile raan 
out. 

Q Before you saw this man hit the glass in Torellits 

faoe, did. you see any trouble? A No, 

Q The first you saw that this man hit Torellits face 

with a glass? A Yes, sir. 
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Q, What happeneithen? A Torelli went with his hands 

right up to his face like that (illustrating), and my friend 

.:00-11t to hint. I don't know that he said to him; he just went 

to hIM and then I seen a crowd pushing the fellow out, 

Q.Which fellow/ A I don it know-- that man. 

Q The man that hit Torellli? A The same man. Afterward, 
ih 

at the front door, I heard m'inashing glasses front and I turn-

ed back and said to my friend "Now, there will be trouble; 

we had better sneak." And we walked out in the back door. 

Q Where did you go? A I went out in Thompson street 

and then we came right in Ble(:cker street; and even there we 

were hearing smashing glasses yet. Then I said to my friend 

"Well, let us go and catch our boat". We live in West Hoboken, 

far away. And he said "Let us go, there will be trouble." 

We seen so many people running, policemen and one thing and -

another, and we went home, we walked down. 

Q Walked to where? A To the Christopher street ferry. 

cl What boat did you go on? 

Objected to, 

Objection sustained. Defendant excepts, 

Q, What hour boat did you go on? 

Objected. to as immaterial. 

THIC COUPT: I will allow that. 
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.A The 15 'minutes past 12 boat. We used to take that boat 

mar: times. 

Q Did your friend go with you? A He was with me of 

course. 

_CROSS RX.AMINATION BY M. TM/NM-MD: 

Q What kind of a glass did this man have? A A small 

glass, whiskey glass; I hardly noticed about that. 

Q, Which hand did. he have it in? A That is one thing I 

canit remember now. 
nj.• 

Q You can't tell what kind, of g glass it was, or what 

hand he had it in? A It is one thing I can't remember. That 

business cane up all at once. 

Q, In the evening how many bartenders were there there ? 

A One. 

Q And Mr. Torelli? A Occasionally helping him out, 

Q, Don't they usually have three bartenders? A He never 

had three bartenders since I knew him. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q, What time did you we this man strike Torelli with 

a glass ? A It is pretty hard to tell. 

Q Say as nearly as you ()an? A It was about 12. It was 

the time), that was the time we generally took, me and my 

friend to take the boat, 

.Never mind about that. Tell me the time, not the ge rr• 
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•‘cliral tine, You say it MO about 12 when he hit him? A About 

12 03c1Ock, 

Ct And then your friend went and talked to Torelli? 

sir, 

Q Then you went out through the sneak, through the b Eck 

door and out on Thompson street? A I am used to that house, 

'Q What did you do that nignt? A I did-- yes, sir, 

Q You went around into Bleecker street again? A Yes" 

sir. 

Q And went in gront of Torellils place? A Yes, sir. 

Q Did you look into the place? A I didn't look. I 

see so much confusion, men running from one side to the other. 

I paid to my friend "Let us go and catch our boat." 

Q Where does the boat start from? A Christtpher street. 

Q How did you go to Christopher street? A We walked 

down, It is not far. 

BY MR, STRCkLER: 

Q How long did it take you to walk from there to Christ-

opher street ferry? A Ten or 12 minutes. 

Have you walked it often? A any many times. 

Q .You. didn't take a car? A We walked. There is no oar 

to be taken. We walked down. 

BY TBE COITRT: 

Q No cars running at that hour? A Yes, sir; but there 

•is no , oar to the ferrY. When we go to the 14th street, there 



Jkiluarasor.s, 

141 

10 the Illeecker street car that goes there, 

BY B. STECKLER: 

Q You have timed yourself often in taking that boat? 

A Yes, sir. 

Q, is that the usual boat you take? A Yes, sir, when 
, 

We stay out late. 

BY A JUROR  

Q How do you know you took a 12:15 boat? A We used to 

do" that. 

How do you know -that boat didn't leave at 12:30? 

A I am sure of it. I reached home, and when I reached home 

my wife says "You are pretty late to night", I says "No; it 

is about ten minutes to one, so it can't be late." 

Q, Is there a clock at the ferry house, Christopher 

street ferry'? A I didn't look at the clock; I have got a 

watch myself. 

Q You go very often; you ought to know? A I didnit 

notice that much. 

Q How do you know it was the 12:15 boat? A I am Burt 

of it. 

BY ANOMER JUROR: 

Havii you got a watch? A Yes, sir. 

Q Did you take 'that watch and look at it at the time you 
, 

took the boat? A Yes, sir; I did. 
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You did. look at the clock? A Yes,, sir, 

You said you did not? A I say, before I take the 

boat I said before I leave the place there, I said to my 

friend----

Q, I asked you did you pull out your watch when you got 

to the ferry, d.id you pull 

do you mean? 

Q, You  said there was a clock and you 

it. Did you pull out your watch and look 

A Not in the ferry boat. 

When you got to the ferry house? A Not in the ferry 

houst. I pulled it 6ut in Bleecker street, 

out a watch? A At the ferry boatl, 

didnyt look at 

at the time? 

Q, You didn't pull out the watch at the ferry house to 

see it was the 12:15 boat? A No, not at the time there. I 

pulled out mSr watch on Bledcker street and said. "We have just 

about 15 minutes walk," 

BY ANOTHER JUROR: 

Q How often do the boats run? A Every 15 minutes, 

BY. MR. ST1.4.TKLER: 

Q, After the hour) for instance, 12:15, 12:30, 12:45, 

1 o'clock? A Every 15 minutes. 

Q From the hour? A 15 minutes. 

BY MR. TOWNMND: 

Q, Your wife said you were pretuy late that night? 
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q Later than usual? A No. any times I am out, I am 

not an early bird. 

THE COURT: You don't take that 12:15 boat 

every night? 

THE WITNESS: Not every night. 

MaZIO6 STECKLER: 

Q You take it when you are out late? A Yes, sir, 

Q, When you work nights how late do you work? A I am 

working until half past nine or ten. 

Q It is a supper restaurant? A Yes, sir. 

Q Early dinner restaurant? A Yes, sir, 

L 0 MIS AYMO, called on behalf of defendants, sworn are, 

examined, testified as follows: 

DIRECT EXAMINATTiON BY MR. STECKLER: 

q Where do you live? A 228 Clinton avenue, West Hobok0.40 

Q what is your business? A Waiter. 

q Where do you wait? A I work in No. 13 Broadway, 4,nci• 

143 41st street evenings. 

Q What restaurant Broadway? A Braguglials. 

Q At *hat on 41st street? 

Objected to as immiterial. 
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.A Oritito. 

Hew long have you been a waiter? A 44 years. 

Q Do you know Mr. Torelli? A Yes, sir. 

Were you in his place on the night of the 12th of 

April, at the time this occurred? A Yes, sir. 

Q This trouble. Will you please tell us in your own 

Wayexactly what you saw there? A I was with a friend of 

mine, Mr. Emil Jianella, in the bar room. We were playing a 

game of billiards, and we got through with the gane about ten 

mlnUtes to twelve, and we went to the bar room and had a last 

drink. We were going to catch the 12.15 boat; and so while 

we were getting our last drink all at once suddenly we haard 

trouble going on. We looked and we see a man who wantel to go 

to Torellits bar room, back of the bar, and Torelli was there 

and titled to stop him, and all at once---

Q, Whet did he do, Show us what he did? A Torelli was 

stopping the man to go behind the bar. 

Q, What did he do? A Torelli didnlit do any. MVO. 

Q, How did he stop him? 

THE CaUDT: Did he put his hand on him or what? 

A I otly see when Torelli is stopping him, he says--

well, I didn't exactly hear what he says, but I allat once see 

a man strike him in the face with a glass. 

Q, This 1/184 struck Torelli in the face with a glass ? 
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A With a glass. And Tore111 put his hand up to his 

face and says "Oh, my God." After that I eent to Tore111 

myself. r went there to see what was the matter and of course 

the man that was alongside of me took hold•of this man e,r,r1 tried 

to grab him out, take him out. 

What was the condition of Torellile shirt? A Tore111 

was all bleeding. And Tore11i asked me, he says, "Louis, have 

I got my tie on, have I got my diamond stud in it?" And I 

found his tie between his tie between his vest and his shirt, 

all blooded. And I .told Mr. Told13.1, I says, "You had better 

wash yourself right away quick." 

Q What did you do? A All at once my friend Mr. 

il jianella came to me and he says "Louis, there is trouble 

going on, let us go away." And so we went. I left Torelli 

and we went through Thompson street entrance, we went down to 

the street in Thompson street and then went down Bleecker 

street, and ve• went to the ferry and we got the 15 minutes 

after 12 boat. 

Q, When you left Thompson street and came to Bledcker 

street, did you come up to Bleecker and stand in front of the 

place a few minutes? A No. 

Objected to as leading. 

Q, Did you hear breaking of glass? A I heard it when 

we were at the corner of Thompson and Bleecker. 
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Q .at did you do then? A We didn't pay any notice, 

we only seen a man running towards Torelliis place, police-

..men and 80 on, and we walked down to the ferry. 

Q Did. you walk or ride? A We walked to the ferry. 

Q, Have you often walked to the ferry from that place 

A Always. 

Q How long does it take you to walk from that place to 

the ferry? A Ten to twelve minutes. 

Q, What boat did. you get, if you know? A 15 minutes 

after 12 boat. 

Q, How do you know it was the 12:15 boat? A We usually. 

catch the 12:15 boat, espedially on SaturdaYy, me and my 

friend. 

#sually on Saturday nights? A yes, sir. 

Q, Did you look at your watch? A Yes, sir, 

Q Wiien? A Ju-t at the time I got to the ferry. 

Q What time was it then? A It was 14, 13 or 14 minute' 

after 12. 

Q, 

not any. 

And you got that 12:15 boat? A 12:15 boat-- yes, sir. 

Are you related to Torelli any way? A No, 

You simply go into his place? A Yes, sir, 

Have you any interest in this case at all? A Nov Sirs 
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CROSSWAMINATION BY MR. TOWNgENDt . 

Who walvbehind the bar that night with Torelli? 

A Nobody was behind the bar with Torelli. Torelli served 

US the last two drinks, me and my friend. 

.Q The captain swore he got a drink served to him fron 

'behind the bar by another man. Did you see the Captain get 

A drinic there? A No. 

Q, And another man give it in him/ A No. There was So 

Maltr Men I didn't notice. 

Q And TorelIi testified there was another man behidd the 

*bar? A I didn't notice no other man behind the bar. 

Q There was not any? A I didn't notice any. 

Q1 Would you have seen him if he had been there? 

A We were taking our drink and didn't pay any notice if there 

was any man behind the bar. 

Q How do you know it was ten minutes to 12 when you got 

through billiards? A We finished the game and wanted to get 

that boat. 

Q You say this man tried to get behind the bar and Torelli. 

would not let him? A Of course, 

Q What did Torelli do? A He didn't make any move.. 

q Stood still? A Torelli tried to stop the man He 

Q How did he stop him/ What did he do? A I didn't see. 
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Q You didntt see what he did? A Nol sir. 

Q Did you see what he did with his hands? A Not sir. 

Q, You could not see? A Of course I seen Tore111 was 

there; he just—tried to stop the man. 

Q, That did he do? A Just tO take the man and say 

*What do you want to do behind the bar?" 

q, Took him by the caat or how? A No, no, I didntt see 

that. 

Q He says "What do you want to do?" What did the man 

say? A I, didnet hear -that, 

Q What kind of a glass did the man have in his hand? 

A I didlitt notice. 

Q, How do you know it was a glass? A It was glass; I 

heard it smash on his face. 

Q You heard the glass smash? A Yes, sir. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q Did you notice whether the man who did that whether it 

was his right or left hand he struck it with? A Left hand. 

Q Did you notice whetherhis left hand was cut at all or 

bleeding? A No, I didn't notice that. There was two or 

three Inen alongside of me in the bar and they took hold of 

him and took him away. 

cz,l Took hold of whom? A of the man that struck Torelli. 

(4,

 

DU you see any of them strike him? A Strike Who? 
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q strike this man? A I see that he was taken away, 

and I *0..nt towards Tore 

Q. Did you see anybody strike him? A No. went to Tor,. 

olliand, tried to fix up his tie. 

Get his diamond pin and fix up his tie? it Yes, sir • 

ct_ Then you told him he had better wash the. blood off? - 

A Yeall sir. 

,Q Did he wash it off? A I didn't see him. I was away, 

Q Did he take a towel and wet it with whiskey? A I didn't' 

dk.. I didn*tt see it. 

Q Now I will aak you again. You say you didn't hear 

wht he said, but that he stopped his going behind the bar. 

Bow did he stop him. Did he put up a bar across it, or what 

did he do? A He went towards theman, the maa was coming 

this way (illustrating) and said "What are you doing here?" 

Ibu heard that? A No, I didn't hear it, but I see him move, 

Q How do you know he said that? A He would have said 

it. 

Q You say you didn't hear him say it? A Who? 

Q Didn't hear him? A No, sir, I didn't hear him. 

Q Then why do you say he said "What are you doing 

here"? Did he push the man back? A He stopped him from 

going behind the bar. 

(1, You have said that a number of times. How did he stop 
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tell. 

Q You didn't see it? A No  

Al]. you did see was that this man struck Torelli 

with a glass? A Yea, sir. 

A JUROR: The question was put to this 

witness if he saw. anything behind the bar. He said 

he didnitt see anything . I would like to know how 
him 

could he see that man strike with a glass? 
A 

MR. STECK1131: He didnit say that. 

A JUROR: He said he saw him strike him with 

a glass. Row did he see him if he didntt see 

anybody behind the bar. 

MR. STECKLER: He does not understand. 

A JUROR: He told the District Attorney he 

didn't see anybody behind the bar and he testified 

he saw the Captain strike Mr. Torelli with a glass. 

I would like to know how did he see it if he saw 

nobody behind the bar? 

THE WITNESS: I didntt notice anybody behind the 

bar because we were having a drink with a friend of 

mine, Mr. Enil Jianella. 

A JUROR: How did he see him strike him with 

a glass when he didn't notice anybody behind tlio 

bar? 
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THE COURT: I think he does not understand. 

(To witness) Did you see Tore111 then? 

THE WITNESS: In the bar-- yes, sir, 

THE COURT: Was he behind the bar? 

2E6 'WITNESS: Yes, sir. 

•THE COURT: He meant there was nobody else be.-

hind the bar. 

A JUROR: If he didntt see anybody, how did he 

see him strike him with a glass. 

THE WITNESS: I faw Tore111 making a move. 

BY MR. STECKLER: 

Q- Did you see the man hit with a glass? A I seen it 

r ght away that the man had his hand yet on Torenits fac' e, 

and the glass fell on the floor, the glass that smashed in his 

face. 

BY A JUROR: 

Q You didn't see him struck with the glass you said. 

You judged by the noise of the glass, did you? A Between 

the noise and the look of the man. 

Q, Did you see the glass in hie hand? A No, sir. 

BY MR. STECKLER: 

Q, Did you see the man put up his hand to strike him? 

A To strike 

Q The juror is in doubt whether you saw anybody behind 
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the bar. Ind You see anybody outside of Torelli behind the 

bile? 

A JUROR: He testified he didn't see anybody, 

Q . Did you say anybody was behind the bar? A I didn't 

noUte 44Y-body. 

Q Was anybody else behind the bar but Torelli? A I didn't 

See anybody. 

Q 'This stroke he struck Torelli-- did he go behind the 

bar or on the side of the bar? A On the side of the bar. 

4 Th18 did not happen behind the bar? A No, sir; right 

on the Side of the bar, like this (illustrating.) This is 

the, b8a7 and there it was, on one side, 

A JUROR: He said he went to the end of the bor: : 

and Torelli stopped him there, 

ANTONIO ZUCCA, called on behalf of the defendant, 

sworn and examined, testifies as follows: 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY 114 STECKLER: 

Q Where do you live? A 2402 Seventh avenue. 

Q What is your business? A Fruit and Italian produce. 

Q For years you were Coroner of this county? A Four 

years-- yea, sir. 

Q Do you know Mr. Toren.", the defendant? A I know hill 

yool 



153 

HOw long have you known him? A probably eight or 

nine years, or seven years. 

Q Do you knair what his reputation is, do you know other 

people that know him? A Yes, sir. 

. Do you kncm. what his reputation is for peace and 

quiettude? A We think he is a good man. 

Q And he is known as such among all the people that 

kriovt him? A By the Italian colony, yes, sir. 

BY WE COURT: 

How long have you known him? A Seven or eight years. 

Q He is a member of the Italian Society, is he not? 

A  I don't know. We meet in his place, all the Italian socie-

ties meet in his place, in the back of his place. He has a 

kind of headquarters for Italian societies. 

BY 1i/CR. STECKLER: 

Q His place is headquarters for Italian societies? 

A For a good marry. 

Q Has he g ot respectable place? 

Objected to. 

THE COURT: That will not do. It has nothing to 

do with the issue whether he assaulted the offioer 

or not. 

- 
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OBSARB C ONT I, called on behalf of the defendant, 

sworn and examined, testified as follows: 

DIRETT EXAMINATION 'BY MR. pnricpal: 

Q, Where do you reside? A 215 East 61st street, 

Q What is your business? A Banker, 35 Broadway, 

Q, I believe you are the correspondent of the Bank of 

Naples? A Yes, sir. 

Q And as such for how many years have you known Mr, 

Torelli? A 16 years, 14 or 15 years. 

(4, Have you bmn into his place often? A Yes, sir, 

q Do you know other people that know him? A Lots of 

them. 

Q What is his reputation for peace and quietude in this 

community? A Very good. 

Q, Is his reputation of the best among the Italian cow,. 

mmnity? A It is, sir, 

THOMAS G R A HA 1114 called on behalf of the defendant, 

sworn and examined, testifies as follows: 

DIRECT MAKIN AT ION BY MR. STPCKLEB: 

ta Where do you live? A 160 Bleeck:er street. 

CI What is your business? A Bottler. 

q WO* do you work for, whet firm? 'A G. B. Seely & 
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Q How long have you been in that business altogether 

working at it? A About five years. 

Q Do you know Mr. Torelli? ,A Yes, sir., 

Q Have you been in his place, were you in his place 

on the night of the 12th of April, the night of this trouble? 

A Yes, sir. 

Q, What were you doing there? A Playing cards. 

Q That were you playing? A Euchre. 

Q Who vas playing with you? A Mr. Anderson was4one. 

Q That is one of the men that were here? A Yes, sir; 

-and--Ioanz, and another fellow, I don't know his name. 

Q Do you recollect anything occurring around the hour 

of 12 o'clock? What if anything attracted your attention 

Around that time? Tell your own story in your own way, 

please? A About ten minutes to 12 we were told to get 

out, to stop playing cards, to get out. 

. q How was it? Who announced it, who told you that? 

How was it announced? A Tore111 says "Get out boys"; it 

Is time to close up". 

NB. TOWNSEND: Objected to, unless it is dlown 

that the Captain was in there. 

MB. STECKLER: I want to show what was done. 

THE COURT: I will allow it, as to the fixing . 



-t, 

156 

Of the time. 

i.OITOKLER: I claim that it has nothing to 

dO with whether he was violating the law or not. 

After you heard that what happened? A We heard a 

scuffle in the front bar, front of the room. The bartender 

had just put up the partitions-- one of the partitions was 

knocked down, I looked around to see what was the trouble 

and I see a lot of Men aruudd an old man trying to push him 

towards the doOr. They had hold of him. The old man was 

fighting and striking, and they got him through the door, to 

the outside; then he began to kick the panels of the door in. 

How did he kick them-- from where? A From the out-

side. 

Kicking in? A Kicking in.. I went on the outside 

then. We got out and NmInt on the sidewalk, and in about two 

or three minutes an officer came aad grabbed this an by 

the back of the nedk. 

Grab bd which man? A The old man that was kicking in 

the panels. He asked him what he was doing there. 

Q You can use the language he used? A He says "Hey, 

you old son of a bitch, *hat are you doing here?" He grabbed 

him and shook him by the back of the neck. 

BY IlgE COURT: 

The officer grabbed him and said that? 
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'A Yes sir, he shook him by the back of the neck, and 

he looked around and says "I am Captain of this precinct; I 

want you to go in here and make an arrest". The officer 

looked at him for a second and walked in the place, He came 

out afterwards and rapped on the sidewalk with his club and 

two of the other policemen came to his assistance. 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MIR. TOWN D: 

Q You had your hands in your pockets all the time? 

A I was standing on the sidewalk, 

Ct Looking on? A Yes, sir. 

BY MR. STECISER: 

9, Did you know Parentini before that night? A No, sir. 

9, Did you ever see him until after the arrest? A No, 

,9, was he waiting that night or tending the bar, so far 

as you know? A No. 

Q Did you see him there at all? A No. 

BY MR! TOWN5END: 

q Who was the bartender that night? A A fellow called 

Emilio. 

Q, 

, 
bar. 

He attended the bar? A Yes, sir. 

What did you first hear? A I heard a scuffling. 

'Where was that scuffling? A Out in the front 

/rent ot the ber. Did you me Tore] li then? A I was 
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behind the partition. 

Q Behind the partition? A Behind a partition. 

CI

 

You %e re not in the bar room at all? A Not where the 

bar is, after the partition was put up; I was back of the 

Partition playing cards. 

Q Always play euchre, do you? A Yeel sir. 

Q Never played any other game? A I have always played 

euchre there. 

Q Never played any other game in there? A I never 

plowed any other game in there. 

Q Did you ever see any other game played there but 

euchre? A I have seen pinochle played there. 

Q Is not poker played there? A No. 

Q Do yaU play it? A I can play it, 

Q You didn't take any hand in this proceeding at all? 

A No. 

Q You saw this old man being pushed out by the crowd? 

A I saw part of it-- yes. 

Q Washe in the saloon when you first saw him and they 

had hold of him? A In the saloon-- yes, 

Q Were the dos open? A The doors of the saloon? 

Yes. A I could not say. 

Q Did they Shove him through the doors? A The door was 

open when he went through the door. 
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q Who:Opened the door?  A I don't know. 

Q Theo you Say You went out? A I went out.,,- yes, sir* 

Q Afld he turned around, the Captain did, and broke in 

We panes of glass? A He was between the two doors, the 

OtOr0 door and theinside door when Iwent out--- kicking in 

the panels. 

Q Did he say what he was doing it for? A No, 

Q Did he make any statemert at all? A No. 

Q He was'just breaking in the doors? 'A Breaking in the 

panel's of the door. 

Was he under the influence of liquor? A I don't know,' 

IQ, Can't you tell when a man is drunk or not? A Not all, 

the time. 

How many drinks had you that night? A I didntt have 

any. 

Q You donft drink? A Not very much. 

Q What do you do for a living? A Bottler,-- soda water. 

Q In that neighborhood ? A No. 

Q., Where? A The last place was Sealy' s. 

Q How many times have you been talked to about this 

case? A ftice. 

Q By whom? A By the lawyer. 

Q Did you go down to the station house that night? 

A No. 



Q Did, you go to the police court? A yes, sir. 

Q Did you testify there? A .No. 

Q, Yaw not? A. I was not asked. 

J. STWICLER: There was no testimony there 

except the Captain's T object. The record is 

here. 

THE COURT: Counsel is questioning the witness, 

BY mR. TOW15END: 

Q, Who first talked to you about this case? A The law-

Where did he meet you? A I went to his office. 

Did he send, you word? A I was told to go down, 

By whom? A By Torelli. 

That did Torelli say to you? A He told me to go down 

there and give my statement of what I saw, 

Q, Did he ask you what you saw before you w,,,mt down? 

A No. 

Q, What time did th I s happen? A Which? 

Q T1,is trouble? A About five minutes to 12. 

How do you know it was five minutes to 12? A I was 

sitting opposite the clock, same as opposite that clock 

there, 

What did you, want to take any note of the time for? 

• A MY partner wated to go home, and he called my attention 

first to the fact that it was five xninutes to 12. He said it 
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was 400 We were home. 

A Ind yOu ever stay in there after 12 olliclock at 

.tightstA No, sir. 

Never? A On week nights-- yes, sir. 

YOU-staied inithere how late week nights? A Until 

Closing time. 

Q Rive minutes of one? A Yes, sir. 

q Never stayed there after one o'clock? A No, sir. 

Q Never stgyed there on Sunday morning after 12 

o'clock? A No, sir. 

q You have not any watch? A No I only go by the 

clock, 

CI Did -the Captain have any blood on him? A 1 didn't 

notice it. 

Q You saw him being pushed out of the door/ A I saw 

him being pushed out of the door. 

Q, Couldn't you see whether there was any blood on his 

fan? A I didn't notice any. 

Q Did you look on his face? A I saw the man, but didn't 

notice anything wrong with his face. 

Didn't see any blood on him? A No, sir. 
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dants, morn and examined, testifies as follows: 

' DIRECT EXAMINATION 13Y VA. STECKLER: 
Q, 

qa 
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What is your business? A Waiter. 

Where db you live? A 51 Greenwich avenue. 

Who do you work for? A 352 Third avenue. 

Hbw long have you been a waiter? A Nine or ten rears. 

Do you know Mr. Torelli? A I do. 

Do you go to hi s place occasionally? A About three • 

or four times in the week on the average. 

Q, Were you there on the night of this trouble the 12th 

of April? A Yes, sir. 

QTell us in your own way exactly what you saw? A At the 

time of the trouble we were behind a partition. 

Q Were you playing cards? A Yes, sir; re were playing 

cards, a party of four or five of us, behind the partition. 

Q, Was this last witness plaarjrng carde with you? A Yes, 

sir. 

Q Mr. Graham? A Yes, sir. 

Q Go on. A About 12 minutes to 12, as near as I can 

fix the time, some one in our party called oi,r attention to the 

fact that ws had just finished a game and it was then about 

12 minutes to 12; and somebody said "We can't play any more, 

It is too late." Just about that time somebody called out, 
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out-- twelve otclock," But we still made up our minds 

;we thbil-ght we cOuid play another game. So we started to play 

another ha0d. And with that we hear a noise inside, and some-

one in our party spoke up and said "Boys, there is trouble 

inSidei let us go out." And with that all the rest of the 

party got out, outside of me and I stopped to put on my over-

coat. . I had an overcoatAdth me; and they all p.ot out per-

haps two or three minutes ahead of me. We got out on the 

Sidelvalk. In the meantime the glass was being smashed and 

there was a noise inside; and as soon as I got out on the side* 

walk I discovered that one of our party was left behinds and 

we all consulted and somebody said "We ought to try and do 

something for Murray." And with that I went up and spoke to 

one of the officers on the sidewalk. And the officer said 

"Were you in there?" And with that he pushed me inside and . 

I Was arrested. And we all stayed inside and he brought down 

people from upstairs, two young men, Parentini is one, I be-

lieve. 

Q This young man here (indicating)? A Yes, sir, Ora.. 

cer Sullivan was the one that brought him down and he said to 

the Captain Is that one of them?" The Captain says "to". 

The Captain points him out and says "That is not him". Offi.. 

cer Sullivan says "You can go upstairs again." 

9, Was parentini in that saloon at all that night, so far 

as you knew?: A Never seen him in my life till he was 
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Was brOu0ht down. 

Were you discharged from the Police Court? A I was, 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY JAR. TOWIMEND: 

sir. 

You commenced to play a second gape of. cardSI A YeSi 

Q How, far had you got along in that game? A We had 

just dealt the hand outs that is all. 

That was after somebody had announced to you it was 

12 olclock? A Yes, sir. 

Q So you didn't go out promptly at 12? A As near as I 

could figure the time it was about three or four minutes be-

fore 12. 

Q, You said somebody says "Get out of here, it is 12 

olclock", and yet you went on playing cards another game? 

A. Tt is our custom to do that. The proprietor every night 

announces a few minutes before 12 to give an opportunity to 

finish a game. 

That place is running on railroad time, is it, Western. 

Union time? 

Objected to. 

(1. Do they he an electric clock there? A No; 

q Do you carry a watch? A No. They had a clock over . 

the door. 

Q Had, you looked at the clock? A I did,. 
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Q Everybody could see the clock up there? A Yes, sir, 

Q Al]. eyes were turned on the clock at 12 o'clock? 

Not just about twelve, a few minutes before twelve. 

Is there a gong that rings at 12 o'clock precisely? 

A No. 

Q You go in there every night? A Not exactly every 

night, three or four times a week, 

Q What do you do for a living? A I am a waiter. 

Q Mend your evenings in there? A As I say on the aver,. 

age three or four times a week. 

9, Mend your mon e3r in there? .A Some-- yes, sir. 

Q, What do you drink? A It depends how I feel; some-

times I drink skey, sometimes beer, sometimes soda. 

9, Did you drink anything that night? A very little; 

perhaps one glass of beer all evening; I was not feeling very 

well. 

Q Did you see this gray haired man hit Torelli with a 

glass? A I did not. 

9, You could not see because you were behind the parti-* 

tion? A Yes, sir. 

Q How many were in there at the time? A Eight or nine 

in our party and perhaps fifteen or twenty men as near as I 

can figure, outside of our party. 

Q, How many had hold of the old man putting him Out? 
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A I adult. know. 

Q„ Did you see them putting him out? A No, 

q Where did you go to? A I was behind the partition, 

Thie toOk place inside of the partition. 

Q, Did you hear a noise? A Yes, sir. 

Did you keep on playing cards? A No. It broke up the 

game. 

q What did you do then? A Started to go out,. put up 

the cards, Put my coat on and got outside as quick as I 

q What for? A I didn't want to get mixed up in any. 

trouble, 

Q, Did you go to where the trouble was? A No, 

Which way did you go? A Outside, 

Which door did you go out at? A At the side entranceo 

Did you see anybody hit the Captain? A I did not, 

Who had hold of him? A I don't know; I didn't ses. 

Did you see anybody have hold of him? A No, 

How do you know they had hold of him? A I don't knoW. 

Did you see them put him out? A No, 

Did you see him do anything/ A No, 

How-many blrtendere have they got there? A One bar—

tender, one waiter. 

q 'What is the Waiter's name? A I don't just know exact,* 
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ly, CastrUeoici, or something like that. 
r• 

9, Does he ever go behind the bar? A Occasionally, 

Q On a rush? A Yes, sir. 

q You have seen him help out there? A I wouldntt say 

I. have. I wouldn't say he has been behind the bar. I cantt 

recollect that I averlt seen him there. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q, Do you know Emil? A Gioggi? — yes, sir. 

Q What aoes he do? A He is bartender. 

Q Was he there that night? A He was there that night, 

putting up a partition. 

Q Had he been serving drin,Ks? A He liad been serving 

them to the waiter and the waiter served them to the tables. 

Q He was•notbehind there? A He was previous to his 

work in putting up the partitions, 

BY A JUROR: 

Q It was testified that the partition was just being 

put up. You and your companion said you were playing behind 

the partition. Where was the bar room/ Was the bar room back 

of the partition or front of the partion? A The bar was back 

of the partition-- in front of the partition, I mean, towards 

the street. 

Q You d.idntt see the bar room? A We could not seeit. 

BY THE COURT: 
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q You were playing cards? A Yes, sir. 

Q, What were you playing? A Euchre, 

sy STFICCER: 

Q, A part of the 'Partition was put up, part of it was 

being put up? A it was just about finished as this occurred. 

• THE COURT: Don't lead him. 

Q, What did you notice the bartender do that time? 

• A He was putting up the partition. 

•Q, Was the partition up where you were or down? A It 

,was just finished as this thing occurred. 

ElterIL GIOGG I, called on behalf of defendants, 

sworn and examined, testified as follows: 

DIRECT 'EXAKENATIOIT BY 111111. ST TIMER: 

R, where do. you live? A 47 Carmine street. 

Q What is your business? A Bartender. 

Q For whom? A Torelli. 

Q, How long have you been bartender for him? A Four 

years and a half. 

Q, Still bartender for him? A Certainly, 

Q, Do you remember the night of this trouble, the 12th 

of April? A Yes, sir. 

. Q, what were you doing at the time this trouble took 
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piaoe? A Putting up the partitions. 

Q Hew Many. had you put up, or had you put any up yet? 

Two of them. 

QThat were you doing with the third one? A carrying 

the partitions from the yard to the bar. 

Q, Who was helping uou? A The waiter. 

Q; What is his n.arne? A caetruccio. 

was there any other barkeeper or any other waiter 

there beside s you and him? A No, 

Q, Do you know Parentini here? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Does he ever wait or attend bar there? A Never. 

Q Did he wait or tend bar Mere that night? A Never, 

Q, While you were putting up these partitions what 

happened? A When I finished putting up the partition, I 

see an old man cote in the bar stop at the front of the her, 

Speak to Torelli, but I could Lot hear what he said, because 

people 
there wasAnear. I could not hear what he said to Torelli. I 

see the old man walking down the bar, and I see some fellows 

playing cards and after he walked up again and went in front of 

:the bar, I suppose to have a whiskey, I don't know, but I 

heard afterwards. 

•Q, You didn't see that? A No. 

Tell us what you saw? A I seen the old man come there 

to Torelli and get him by the neck; and he had in his hand a 
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glass of whiskey, and he mashed the glass in the face of 

Torelli. 

BY THE COURT? 

Q The glass of whiskey? A A regular glass of whiskey; 

a whiskey glass. 

4, Not a glass of whi dicey? A There was whiskey in the 

glass. 

Q And he hit him in the face? A Hit him in the face. 

:And the partition fell on me and another on Murray; and Mur-

ray helped, me pull the partition up. 

BY MR. STECKLER: 

9, Murray helped you put the partition up? A I told 

the other people to get out and I walked to the back yard, in 

the other saloon to see if anybody was there to tell those 

members who were at the place it is twelve o'clock, to go 

outside. I didn't notice anybody in there. I put out' the 

lights, closeithe windows and the door. And when ms in 

the yard again I heard the breaking of the window of the glass-

es. I didn't know what was the matter, and as soon as I reach-

ed the front of the bar, I seen the Captain grab him by the 

neck. 

Q, The Captain grabbed you? A No. One of the police-

men grabbed me, an officer grabbed me by the neck and said 

"You are arrested." 

Q Are you any relation to him, Tore1117 A No. 
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CROSS MOCA/aNATION BY MR. TOWNgEND: 

Did you see anybody touch the Captain? A No, I am 

.11 

1'71 

inside the .dining room. It is separate, the saloon and the 

dining root'. 

Q, Was anybody else tending bar besides you and Torelli? 

A Only To relli and me. 

You say you saw the Captal.n come in? A Yes, sir, 

Q, 

QJ 

And vient ups -to Torelli? A. Spoke in front of Tor-

Did. you 'watch him from that time on? A No; I see 

the old man speak, that fellow, but I didn, t bother with 

that, I was so busy. 

Then what did he do after that? A After that  

walked. through -the bar and see some fellows playing a card, 

and he stopped a few minutes and walked up in front of the 

bar again. 

Q The Captain did? A The 'old man. He went-- I dorret 

know if he asked for a whiskey or not. 

Vftto helped him to whiskey? A I don, t know. 

Q, Did anybody help him to anything? A Nobody; I didn't 

see anybody. 

Did you hear him call for whiskey? A No, 

Q, Did you see him drink any whiskey? A No, 

Q, was there anybody behind the bar beside Torelli at 
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that time? A ;Only Torelli at that time behind the bar. 

Q, Was there anybody behind the bar when the Captain 

first wept in and spoke to Tore111? A Only Torelli behind 

the bar at the time he came in. 
him 

Q, What about the young boy that helped to whiskey? 

A I didn't see the boy, 

Q, You saw no boy behind the bar? A I saw no boy behind 

the bar. 

Q You could. see behind the bar? A certainly. It is 

only about five feet from the partition to the bar. 

Q You swore there was nobody behind the bar when the 

Captain Aas talking to Torelli, and when the Captain walked up 

and down and in front of the bar only Torelli was behini the 

bar? A Only Torelli behind the bar. 

Q Will you swear the Captain didnyt get a drink of 

whiskey there that night? A I see the Captain come by and 

take up the whiskey--

I Q Who helped him to the whiskey? A I donItknow„ only I 

saw him get Torelli by the neck. 

Q, Did you see the Captain drink the whiskey? A No, 

Q See him helped to the whiskey? A No, 

Q, Did you see any whiskey? A I see whiskey inside the 

glass arid in his hand. He was walking through the bar to get 

inside of the •bar. 
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Q You have a cash register there? A Yes, sir. 

Q Did you see the Captain after this trouble was over? 

Never. 

Q Did. you see him *len they put htm out? A I (21.ont t 

• see him. I am inside the partition, and went in the back of 

the house to see if anybody was in there, I 'was afraid some 

.policeman would come and be trouble there and bring trouble 

,into the house. 

13Y THE COURT: 

Q Did you ever see that stick referring to Exhibit)? 

A Yes, sir. 

cl Where did you keep it? A In the front behind the 

bar. 

Q Was it there that nirsht? A Certainly. It was in the 

same place. The policeman came and took it. 

Q, Hanging behind the bar? A Hanging on a nail. 

BY R. TOWN5END: 

Q Did you see Torelli speak to the Captain? A No, I 

didn't see Torelli speak-- I heard him say "All out". 

And I see the old man walking quick to get behind the bar. 

Q, Did you me Torelli do anything to ate the old man? 

A Only. he spoke to him. I don't know that he said. I saw 

him grab him around the.--.eck and mash the glass in his face, 

BY THE cougr: 

9,4 Was the Captain there when Torelli said. "Boys get 
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of here, the time is up was the old man in the room 

then? • A Yes, sir; the old man was in the room. 

BY A AMOR: 

You saw the Captain smash Tore111 with a glass in 

f,we? A. Yes, sir. 

Q where did you go after that? A The last piece 

Of the partition was in my hand. 

Q And nobody touched the Captain then? A Nobody touch-

ed the Captain, only him touched Tore111 with the glass. 

BY MR. STECKLER: 

• Q Could you see whether anybody touched him? A I didn't 

see anybody-touch the Captain. 

DidnIt the partition?_ 

Objected to. 

Q, What happened to the partition when you saw that? 

A The partition fell on me. 

Q, Towards the b k? 

Objected to, 

THE COURT: I cannot allow you to put such a 

question. You are leading him right along. 

KR. ST:0030'2R: I insist on putting my question 

in that way. 

THE C OURT: I in si et t bat you shall not. 

Defendant excepts. 
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• 
Q HOW far was this partition away when the captain 

struck Torellil A A few feet. 

Q was that partition in front of the bar towards the 

Otreet or toWarde the entrance? ‘A Right to the front--

at the last of the hi-, not to the front. The partition is 

right here (illustrating), and the bar here, and about 

feet from the bar it was the last piece to put up. 

Q When you go behind the bar do you enter the br from 

the front or the rear end? A I go to the rear end. 

How long is that bar? A Eight or ten feet. 

Q And the partition is tO the front of the bar? A To 

the front of the bar. 

feet. 

seven 

Two feet from the front of the bar? A No, seven 

Q The bar is about 25 feet? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Seven and 25 makes 32 feet from the partition, the on-

trance to the bar from the back end? A It might be that 

much. 

BY NIL STROKLER: 

Q Was this partition in front of where you go behind the 

bar or behind that? A Behind. 

Q Here is the front entrance, say, (illustrating)? 

A Yes, sir. 

Q Thou the bar runs book? A Yes, o rio*- this way 
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llustrating). 

9, Then there is a way to go in the bar? A This side--

right here, 

q, Were you in the front of that side or was your parti-

tion behind that? A Right in the corner like that, on the 

frent of the bar. 

Q, Wasit in front of where you golLn the bar or behind 

where you go in the bar? A On the front. 

Q what do yoU mean by the front? A The partition is 

like that (illustrating) and you go wross here; and that 

corner they put the last pieces in. 

Q, Behind where you go in---

THE COURT: I will get it out for you. 

13Y TILE COUPS: 

Q, The place where you g0 inside the bar that is tovards 

the bEck of the building and not towards the front? A Ye so 

sir. 

Q, When you put up this partition it goes all around the 

bar, does it not? A It goes all around the bar. 

Q, Which end of the bar did you commence to put it up? 

A Mr. Torelli s. 

Q NeEr where you go into the bar? A Yes, sir. 

Q, How many pieces had you put up? A There was about 

fourteen pieces. 

Q ROw many had. you put up? A We had the last pieces to 
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c), Did. you say 14 or 4? A 14. 

Q How many of these had you put up already? A All-- I 

had only the last piece to put up. 

Q Where did you commence? A At the side door. 

Q Near where you go Into the bar? A No, 

Q You put up a partition that covered the bar? A Yes, 

sir. 

Did you commence nearer the street or back of the 

1101100 A Near the street and comirg towards the bar, because 

here (illustrating) is a door to come inside the bar. 

Q When you put up all these pieces does the screen cover 

the place where you go into the bar? A Yes, sir,. 

Q, Or is that left open for people to get inside? A That 

is to cover the bar and you make a hole for people to go 1.1114410 

of the dining room. 

Q There is a place to get inside? A Yes, sir, 

Q There is no part of the screen that covers the place 

where you getinsidethe bar? A No. 
• 

BY A JUROR: 

How many entrances are there to that bar? A only 0128 

You start from the strert? A Yes, sir. 

Is that bar a circle? A Square. 

uas it a cigar case on it? A No. 
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Q You can't get in that entrance, you jump over the 

bar, dont t you? A It has an entrance. 

Q Only one entranc e, from the rear of the bar? A The 

rear of the bar. 

Q, You dontt enter from the front? A No. 

Q Did you put the partition across the front or all the 

way round the bar? A All around the bar. 

You started from the front entrance? A From the front 

.entrance. 

Q By the time you. got near the end the Captain struck 

Torelli? A The first partition I got to put up is right in 

the front, I went towards the other end. 

Q, You were down near that end when the Captain struck 

Toren'? A When I got the'” last piece I saw the Captain 

walk in. 

Q, And the partition fell on you? A Yes, sir. 

Q, It didn't strike the Captain? A No. 

STICKLER: We h ave 1-,ere a diagram? 

MR. TOWN SEND: I obj ect. 

BY )11a. STPCKLER: 

Q, Mark it out for us. Suppose this is the front of 

the house (referring to diagram)? A Yes, sir. 

Q That is the bur. .Show us, if you walk in that dOer, 

where you turn into the bar? A This is the entrance. This 
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door. This comes through here. The partition 

O-OM!! here and goes away down here. That i s the entrance to 

the bar, I pulled out this partition, and after I came here 

I got here and I sec the Captain walking down here and he got 

Totefli here. 

Q YOUf were not in front of this part where you go in? 

A I am right there (indicating). 

.Q Right there in the bakk? A In the back of the par-

titien. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q, Did the Captain walk down between the partition and 

the bar? A The front of the bar. 

Q And between the partition and the bar? A Between 

the partition and the bar because he lid, to close lAp. 

Q It was testified that the captain went to the frovOr 

the br and spoke to Torelli? A Yes, sir. 

Q How could the Captain get to the bar when he could not 

get through the partition? A The front door is open. 

q You said the partition is around the bar. How did 

he get in front Of the bar? A when the captain spoke to 

Torelli then I have about; four pieces to put up. 

RI You didn't see him in the front of the bar? A I 

saw him come in and speak to Torelli and he . went through the 

bar. 
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Q, Where wa,s Torelli? A Behind the bar. 

Did he speak through the partition to Torelli? 

A No; the Captain is in front of the bar. 

MR. STECKLER: I object to this juryman asking 

the questions End confusing the witness on the 

question as to where this partition is, 

THE COURT: You have no right to impugn the 

jurymaxil s motive. 

VIR. STECKLER: 

Q, You have the diagram here, where is that partition; 

is it on this side of the entrance or on the other sideof the 

entrance? (Referring to diagram.) A The other side of the 

, entrance. 

Q, There is the door? A The door is front and there le a 

side door on the corner. 

Q What side of the door is the bar as you walk in? 

A In the front. 

Q, As you, go in the door, what side, as you walk in, whet 

side is the bar ? A From the partition? 

Q, No. As you, come in from the street what side is the 

bar? A This E3 Ice (indicating). 

Q Left side? A On the left side. 

Q, what side is the partition? A That side i io at*. 

ing). 
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Q is the partition on the other side of the door? A On 

the other side of the door-- yes, sir.. 

Q And there is nothing between the door and the bar? 

A Nothing between the do' and the bar. 

THE COURT: I must insist again that in exam-

ining your witnesses you must not suggest the 

answer's. I have told you that a number of times. 

• MR. STEER: nil s juryman apparently is pre-

judiced. 

• THE COURT: You have no right to cross examine. 

your own witness. 

MR. STECIMER: It is in the interests of 

justice. 

THE COURT: You must comply with the rules of 

the law and you cannot comment on the juror. Are 

you through with this witness? 

J. STECIt.'"IER: No, your Honor. 

BY MR, STITIMER: 

Q, Does the partition as you p;o into that bar room hide 

the entrance of the bar at all? 

Objected to. 

THE COURT: I will sustain the objection. 

Defendant exc ept s. 

THE COURT: It is a leading question and you 

have no rich.t.to put it. 
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Q Tll. us how many feet there are between the partition. 

and the bar as you come in from the front door? 

MR. TOWNSEND: I object to that. He has dready 

answered it. 

THE CCUFT: He mgy answer that. 

A. How many feet from the partition from the bar? 

ct (Through the Interpreter) How many feet is there be-

tween the partition and the bar? A Seven or eight feet. 

'Q And here is the entrance when the partition is up? 

A The side door? 

0, The front entrance-- is that between the bar and the 

Partition, or is it not? A It is between the partition and 

the bar. 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. TOWNSEND: 

Q What is your name? A Emil Gioggi. 

Q You were not discharged at the Police Court? A No. 

BY A JUROR: 

Q, Where is that side entrance? A Corner of the house. 

Q You my there is seven feet of room be  that bar 

and the partition? A About that much. 

Q, So there is a side door through the partition, or le 

it from the house? A Through the partition. 

Q From the side or front? A From the Side. 
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$iide, door-- and the CaPt kin went through . that aide 

door?' ':,)V No, he came through the front door, 

And the partition was not up when the Captain came 

in? A The front of the bar is all up. There is only a few 

pl000s to put up at the end, 

(1 And th0 Captain had to go round the side door to get 

1:o. ti  bar room? A No, came in the front door, 

MR. STECKLER: He could walk right in---

THE COURT: Counsel must not testify, 

BY' A JUROR: 

Q, The witness said the partition was up and he had- a 

few pieces on the end. The side door was On the side. He 

must have come throx4gh the side door? A He came in the 

front door. 

Q If he entered the house by the front door, how did. he 

pass the partition? 

(No re sponse ) . 

BY NR. STECKLER: 

Q, What side of the room is the side entrance, this side 

Of the bar or the other sideof the bar? (Referring to diao. 

gram.) A On the other side of the bar. 

BY THE COURT: 

On the other side of the bar or on the other side of 

the rood? 



ME. STRCIZER: On the other side of the room, 

TEE COURP: I asked the witness, do you mean 

on the other side of the bar or the other side of the 

room, and you interject, on the other side of the 

ro OM. 

MR. STECICGER: Tt is both, your Honor, 

BY THE COURT: 

Q The side entrance you say is the other side of the 

bar? A The other side° f the bar. 

Wh.ich do you mean, the other side of the room or the 

other sideof the bar? A On the corner of the house there is 

Q Is it on the other side of the room? A On the other 

side of the room-- yes, sir, 

Q, And not on the other side of the bar? A No, 

Q, It is outside of the bar? A Yes, sir. 

(?, And on the other side of the room? 

(No response). 

BY R. STECKLER: 

q Does that entrance you speak about--- is there a hall-, 

way that goes upstairs? A it goes upstairs. 

Q And that is the side entrance you are speaking of? 

A Yes sir. 

Q4 Is that the only side entrance? A The only side el/1(MM** 

*5*.: 



HENRY T 0 BELL I, called on behalf of the def en-

d,ants, *Worn and examined, testifies as follows: 

• DIRECT EXAMINATION 13Y R. STEMER: 

Q How old are you? A 14, 

q, Do you go to whool? A Yes, sir. 

Is Mr. Torelli, your uncle? A Yes, sir, 

Q, And is Mr. parentini here your uncle also? A Yes, 

0„ And your mamma is the widow of Louis Torelli? A yes, 

g He was the brother of the defendant Angelo Torelli? 

A Yes, sir. 

Now you live lit the house there 149 Bleecker 

street? A Yes, sir. 

Q, what time that night did you go to bed? A Nine o'clock. 

Q, Around 12 o'clock, or about that time, did. anything 

happen, was anything said to you? if so, by whom, and what 

did you do? A My mother woke me up and sent me downstairs and, 

says "Hurry up and go downstairs before the bar closes and get 

some magnesia." I went down and see my uncle was busy 

behind the bar. I walked behind the bar and I askedmy uncle 



for magnesia. He says "Look around for it". 
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vent the other 

side of the bar. I saw an old man call for Whiskey. I said 

"Uncle, that man wants whiskey". He said "Take that bottle 

and glass and put it over there." I put it over there and 

went the other side of the bar and my uncle handed me the 

magnesia and I went up to bed". 

9, Did you take it to your mother? A Yes, sir. 

Q Did you see any trouble in the place? A No, I was 

up in bed. 

q When you got upstairs how long after did anything 

. happen? A About five minutes afterwards my uncle came---

Q Your uncle who? A Will parentini, and he came and 

sat on my bed. 

Q Do you know who brought him in? A He came down him-

self. 

Do you know who brought him in from the hall? A MY , 

mother brought him in from the hall. 

Q, Were you in bed at that time? A Yes, sir. 

Q Do you remember what happened to you and him after-

wards? Where were you taken, if any place, after that? A 

was taken downstairs by Mr. Sullivan. 

Who else was taken be sides you? A Will, 

Q, when you frot down there what happened? A They drawed 

me in front of the old man and after he looked at me he sent 

me uP st air s again. 
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q, vtat &id he say about you and Willie? A He says "You 

go on up." 

Did you go up to bed then? A Yes, sir. 

Q Where did Willie go? A I did.not see. went right 

away up to ed. 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY NR. TOWNSEND: 

Q. How much did this man pay for his whiskey? A I didn't 

collect no money. I went right away up to bed. 

Qi How much did he pay for it? Did you see howmuch he 

paid? A No, sir. I went right away up. 

Q You let him take the Whiskey without taking or,co1lect4 

UM any money/ A my uncle told me to give him the whiskey. 

I knew my uncle will collect the money. 

Q How Old are you? A Fourteen. 

Q, when were you fourteen? A December 15th, 

Wh.at time did you go to bed that night? A Nine 

O'clock. 

Q Who woke you up? A My mother. 

Q Who was in bed with you when you woke up? A Nobody 

was in bed with me. I sleep alone: 

Q What time did parentini come to bed? A About five 

-Minkites after, I came to bed he came to my room; I don, t know 

, what time he went to bed. 
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He didnvt sleep with you? .A NO1 upstairs in the: 

attic. 

Q Vas he Sleeping with you that night? A No, sir. 

q that roam was he in When he was arrested? A He was 

it MI r0001; he was' taken down with me. 

-Q He went into your room? A When he was arrested I don't 

know What room he was in. He was arrested on Sunday. 

0, That night didnIt the officer take you and he down? 

A Yes, sir. 

Q Were you both in bed together? A NO, he was sitting 

On the bed and I was lying down. 

Q In your room? A Yes, sir. 

Q Sitting on the bed? A 'Yes, sir. 

where had he been to sleep that night? A Up in the 

attic. 

Q Why did he go into your room at that time of night? 

A He came down to see what was the matter. my mother went in 

the hall are bTrought him inside. 

Q What became of him then? A Then Mr. Sullivan came up 

and took Ine downstairs and sent me up again. 

Q Your mother brought him inside of your room? A Yes,' 

air. 

q What did, She say? A 5he said "Stay in here." 

Q, when was that-- before you had one downstairs? 
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A NO, air. 

Q. Were there any partitions around the bar when you were 

there? A There was a part of the partition up. 

Q Only one? A Two; about two of them, two big pieces. 

' 4), Sure there were only two? A Yes, sir. 

BY TRH COURT: 

- 
Q1 That time did you go to bed that night? A Nine 

O'clock. 

'When your mother called you to go down do you klmr0 

about whattime it was? A No, sir, I could not tell you whet: 

time it was. 

Who did you say told you to give the man this whiskey?.: 

A my uncle. 

Q Which uncle? A Angelo. 

Q Which is Angelo? A Angelo Torelli. 

Q He is your uncle? A Yes, sir. 

Q What relation are you to Parentini? A He is my uncle., 

Q Then did you see your uncle parentini first that 

night?,, A I didn,t see him at all that night. I went to bed a 

nine o'clOck. 

q You said he came into your roam and sat on your 1301 

A After I came up with the magnesia. 

Q When did you see him first that night? A After i came 

With the magnesia he came into my roam, after the glass was 

broken. 
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Q was that where Officer Sullivan found him? A yes, 

took me and him downstairs. 

When he came into your room, whet did he have on? 

A His shoes, stockings, pants amd a vest, but no shirt on. 

GIO VANN I B ON IN I, called on behalf of the defen-

dants, sworn and examined, testifies, through the Inter-

preter, as follows: 

:DIRECT EXAMINATION BY 1.M. FIT1?,CIMER: 

Q, ,Where do you reside? A 149 Bleecker street. 

Q, Do you board or lodge there, or what? A I regularly 

board there, live there. 

Q, In the hotel with Mr. Torelli? A Yes, sir; 

Q, where is your room? A On the top floor. 

Q, Who sleeps with you, if anybody, in the room with 

you? A Parentini. 

Q, The defendant here (indicating)? A Yes, sir. 

Q, About what time that night did you go to bed, if at 

all? A Half past nine. 

Q 1,1rhat time, if you can tell, about what time was it 

that parentini came to bed, if he came to bed at all? A Half 

an hour after I went. 

Q, .Have you r;ot separate ivies or one bed? A Separate 

beds. 

.1 
• 
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CI What If anything, dO You know about this trouble? 

Nothing.. 

Do you recollect parentini leaving the room, if he 

left at all, and if so, about what time, and what attraeted 

your attention, if anything around that time? A He never re-

tired from the room after  he came in, and when it was midnight 

We heard the clicking of broken glass. We went to the window 

and 'Saw a great crowd around outside, and fearing there was 

some fire we quickly dressed and went downstairs, par entini 

Went downstairs at once and I tarried, and the policeman - 

came up and arrested me. That is all I am able to say. 

CROSS EXAMINATION 13Y NM. TOITTaND: 

Q, Did parentini go down to the barroom? A This 

- do not know. 

Q, How_ far did he go down? A Two stories. 

Q, VhEtt did he do there? A This I do not know, 

BY TI  COURT: 
Q, You say you went to bed at nine o'clock that night? 

A At half past nine. 

By MR, TOWN SEND: 

(), Did you have a watch? A There it3 an alarm clock 

there. 

Q, Did you look at the clock? A Yes, sir, 
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Q Did you look at the clock? A Yes, sir. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q Did you fall asleep at once? A No. par entini came 

up and I asked him for a smoke, 

BY Ifit. STECKLER: 

Did you give him a smoke? A Yes, sir. 

Q, That were you and Parentini 'doing in the room around 

the time you heard the clicking of the glasses? 

THE COURT: That cliff erence does it make? 

BY MR'. TOVINSEND: 

Q, You %ere not discharged at the Police Court? 

Objected to as incompetent, immaterial and 

irrelevant. 

MR. TOVINSEND: It is to show interest. 

Q, You are a co-defendant in this case? A Yes, I have 

heen accused. 

CASTRUCCI() GEMINIANI, calledonbehalf 

of the defendants, sworn and examined, testifies as fol-

lows: (through the Interpreter): 

DIRECT- EXAMINATION BY MR. ;:71‘CKLER: 

Q, What is your business? A Waiter. 

Por whom? A With Mr. Torelli. 
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Q How long have you been waiter for him? A I was there 

only five or six days. 

Q What were you doing, if anything, around the time that 

this  trouble occurred. on the 12th of April of this year? A I 

was helping the barkeeper to carry around the partition pieces. 

Where did you have to go to get those and carry them? 

A To the yard.. 

0.  Where were you at the time this trouble took place? 

A I was in the yard just carrying the pieces of the parti-

tion to the door. 

Q, Did you see any of this trouble at all? A Nothing at 

all. 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY NM. TOWN SEND: 

all? 

Q, You are a., co-defendant in this case? A Yes, sire 

Q, Yow did.nct see anything at all? A Nothing. 

Q. All the others who are not co-defendants they saw it 

Objected to. 

STYCF1ER: Obj ected to; and I , ask that the 

remarks of the Di stric t Attorney be stricken out. 

THE COURT: The objection is sustained and the 

remark stricken out. 

?, You ran out into the yard, did you? A Yes, sir. 
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(4, What did you run out into the Yard for? A I didn't  

q 'that did you walk out for? A No-- I was coming 

from the yard carrying the pieces towards the door. 

-3HRIO RIROR I, called on behalf of the defen.-

• danta, Sworn, and examined, testified as follows: 

.1.0TRECt E.XAKINATION BY MR. STECKLER: 

Q Where do you live? A I have moved; I live now at 

013 Hancock street, ,New York. 

Q that is your business? A Range mounter. 

You mean working on ranges? A working on ranges, put-

ting them together. 

Q Whom do you work for/ A Duparquet, 

Q How long have you been working for them? A 16 yeare. 

Q Do you belong to any association which meets at Tor., 

sill's? 

Objected to as immaterial. 

Objection sustained. 

q Were you there that night? A Yes, sir. 

Q What were you doing that night? A I was at the 

Meeting. 

Q, Where Was the meeting held? A In the back of the 

house. 
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Q, In ,Torellils house? A In Torelilts house. 

Q, Will you tell us about what time of the night that 

meeting adjourned? 

Objected to as immaterial. 

Objection sustained. 

Q, About what time did you leave the meeting room? 

Objected to as immterial. 

Objection sustained. 

MR. STECIMER: I ask an exception to all these., 

rulings. 

Q, Tell us what you did? A I cage out of the meeting 

room shortly before twelve o'clock. I go ahead of the bar 

and near the door to have a drink with a friend of mine. 

Q Who was your friend? A Marcello 

Q Is he here? A Right by the door. 

Q, Where is Baretti? A He is over there (indicating). 

Q, Outside or inside? A Outside in the hallway waiting. 

Q, Go on. A Onortly after I was there I saw a man come 

in there and have a drink. As soon as he had the drink, 

he took the glass along and walked towards the bar, near' 

Torelli, between that partition and the space where you go 

betwenn the bar and Torelli stopped him. And this man he was 

speaking, I don't know at he said, and he grabbed Torelli 
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by the tollar' gave him a good shake witivthe right hand and 

with the left hand he struck him with the glass in the hand. 

Ae 000n as I saw Torelli bleeding, all the other people grabb-

ed hOld of that fellow, and I thought there was going to be 
‘ 

troubLe and I walked out with my friend. 

BY MR. TO END: 

Why didn't you help Torelli? A I didn't want to be in 

trouble. 

You were afraid? A No, I was not afraid, but I nnit 

like to be in a scrap. That is the reason I walked out., 

BY MR. STRCKLER: 

Q, Did you ever have any trouble in your life? A No, no. 

O Were you ever arrested in your life? A No, never. 

BY MB. TOWNSEND CROSS EXAMINATION: 

Q What did you drink that night? A I drank a soda and 

wine. 

0 What kind of wine? A Regular California wine. 

(I Now many drinks did you have? A I had one drink, 

and ordered a second and I could not get it. 

Q Who served the gray haired man, who gave him the 

drink? A I can't hardly say. I Naw him drink, and I can't 

say Who gave him the drink. 

(;), Why not? A I didn't pay attention to that, I saw a 

man drinking there. When I saw him he had a drink there al.-
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read5r. 

1110 was behind the bar? A Torelli served me. 

vlati 'was behind the bar at that time? A I saw Torelli 

there. 

Only Torelli? A I SAWN Torelli, nobody else. 

Q, Didn't see anybody else? A No. 

Was there any boy there? A He was up ahead of the 

bar. 

Q, What boy? A One little boy. 

Did you see the gray haired man speak to Torelli 

before he • got the liquor? A No, not at all. 

Q, You didn't see much, did you? A I see just that 

told you. 

0 Did you, see Torelli take hold of the Captain? 

A I see when he stopped him. 

Q, How did he stop him? A Itlooked like he wanted to go 

between the bar and he stopped him there. 

Q, How? A With his hand. 

0, Show it? A He gave him kind of like this (illus-

trating.) 

9, Pushed him back? A Pushed back like that. 

Q, Did you see him tear the Captain's collar and 

shirt? A I was 'out then. I got away as soon as the trouble 

began. 
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BY Ti C 01.1142 

Q, You saw him strike Toren/ with the glass? A Yes, 

I did. 

was there any liquor in that glass when he struck 
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b.imi A No. There was nothing in it. He drank it before. 

MARC ELL 0 B ARE TT I, called on behalf of the 

defendants, sworn and examined, testifies as follows: 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY R. STECKLER: 

Q, Where do you live? A 19 John street. 

Q, Where do you work? A Monash & Co, 

Q, what is his business? A Range mounter.. 

months. 

How long have you been working for him? A About 18 

7 TOW SEND : Do you make good wages? 

TEE WITN.ESE,: Yes, sir. 

MR. STECKLER: I obj ec t to any such remark. 

NR. TOWNSEND: It is absolutely immaterial. 

THE COURT: it is immaterial. 

Q, How lolitg have you been in the range business? 

Objected to as immaterial. 

Objection sustained. 

Defendant acc ept s. 

c. were you at a meeting that night? 
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Objected to as immaterial. 

Objection sustained. 

Defendant 0 xc opts. 

Where were you on the night of this trouble the ,12th 

Of . A I am just in the front of the bar. 

q 'where were you that night? A I was in the meeting. 

(1 there was that meeting held?' 

Objected•  to. 

THE COURT: Ask him if he was in this place,  

q Were you at this meeting of the range workers? 

THE COURT: Don't speak of the meeting. Ask 

was he in the bar room at the time of this occurs 

renc e. 

Q Where were you that night? 

THE COURT: At 12 o'clock. 

A (Through the Interpreter) At midnight I was already' 

out away from there. 

Q, Before midnight where were you? 

Objected to. 

THE COURT: Immediately before. 

(TO Witness) What time did you leave tbat-, 

place? 

THE WITNESS: About ten minutes before 120 
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NM. STECKLER: 

Till us what you saw? A I see-- I stay just in 

the front in the bar, just around the doo,r and I see the man 

coming, I didn't see very well, •the man. I see the man is 

drinking from the bar. And I have a drink in there. I4d-see 

that man go to speak with Mr. Torelli and Torelli said. "Get 

out", I didntt hear that very well. And he put his hands 

like that (illustrating). I don't know what he said very 

well, I didn't hear, and I seen that man take the glass. 

He held the glass in this hand (indicating) and the other hand, 

he took him like that and he throwed the glass right in his 

face on this stet the left side, on the right side from Tor-

elli. 

Q, Were you with Ribori that evening? A Yes, sir,i 

Q You were drinking with him? A Yes, sir, 

Q What happened after that? A After that I seen trouble 

was coming and I walked out. 

9, With Ribori? A with Ribori. 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY 1‘11:R. TOWN ND: 

R. where did you go then? A I go in the street, 

Q, In the street? A Yes, sir, in the street, 

Q, Did you stay in the street? A No. 

Q, Where did you go? A I stayed there a few minutes and 

afterwards went home. 
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Q What _re you doing that few minutes? A I was 
lookg.

 

-

:Q Looking at what? A Looking at the people out in the 

street, 

Q, . Did you see them put the old man out? A No 

Q, • See anybody touch.the old man? A No, I don't see any-

thing Of that. 

When the old man struck Torelli, as you say, did any-

body take hold of the old man? A No, I didn't seenothing 

Of that. I see the trouble is coming and I take the door and 

-767:6-t out. 

Q What did you see? A I see when that man catched 

TOrelli from the right hand. 

Then what happened to the old man? who touched him?. 

Did anybody pull him off Torelli? A I see the other boys 

catching :him-- I don't know. 

Q, You became suddenly blind? A I took thedoor ard walked 

out. 

Q, Did the lights go out? A Certainly. 

The lits all went out? (Ao answer.) 

MR. ETYCKIJER: (To Interpreter) Ask him in 

Italian. 

(The Interpreter asks in Italian.) 

THE WITNEM1: I saw the lights put out, 

",$ 
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Were they altogether out or was there any burning? 

A They were all out. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q, *at kind of glass was it that the old man struck 

Torelli with? A I don't see the glass very well; it was a 

all glass. 

Qi was it a beer glass or whiskey glass or wine glass? 

A 'Whiskey glass. 

Q Did you notice when ,he struck him whether there was 

any whirkey in it? A No, I didniit see nothing. 

,137 B. STECELER: 

Q, At the time you saw this man hit Torelli were the 

lights burning or were they out? A ,The light s were burning. 

BY MR.. TowNci*IIND: 

Q Who put the lights out? A I 

Q, When did they turn them out? 

(No answer.) 

dent t know. 
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iB.FiTECKLER: Ask him in Italian. 

The Interpreter puts the question in Italian. 

THE WITNI13SS: The lights were already put out 

when the occurrence took place. 

BY R. STECKLER: 

Q When this man hit Mr. Torelli were the lights all out 

then or burning then? 
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Objected to as already answered. 

THE COURT: He may answer it again. 

A There were yet light s, those in front of the b ar. 

B•ATISTA B ARM A, called on behalf of the defen-

dant, sworn and examined, testifies as follows: 

DIRECT 3.3L43INATION BY MR. STECTMER: 

TOWNSE1TD: I will concede that he will 

swear to thv same facts-- that the Captain Mt him 

with a glass, and it was a whiskey glass. 

Q,, Do you work for Duparquet? A Yes, sir.-

• Q,

 

How many years have you worked for him? A Nine or ten 

years. 

Q, You were at that meeting? 

Objected. to. 

THE COURT: I insist that you shall not ask 

such a question. 

MR. STECKLER: I will take the concession of the 

District Attorney. 

MR. rPOWNSEND: Go on with your examination. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q, Were you in the saloon of Torelli at or about 12 

o'clock on the ni Olt of the 12th of April? A Yes, sir. 
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A:t what hour? A A few minutes before 12. 

BY MR, STRCKLER: 

Q Tell us what you sax there? A I speak Italian, 

(Through the Interpreter):--- I was at Torellits and had a glass 

ef 'Wine and, took a cigar and after drinking my wine I just 

vatted to light the cigar when I saw the man who came in through 

the door and he was drinking some whiskey. Then he took his 

glaSs into his hand, went behind the bar*, when he met Mr. Tor-

went around to the bar roam. 

' Mr. Torelli then asked him where he was going. 

could not hear all the words that were ex:changed, but I saw 

Mr. Torelli make a deprecatory motion with the hand. Then 

the Captain grabbed hold with one hand of Mr. Torelli and 

with the other struck him with the glass. I w that blood. • 

was flowing from Torellits face, and believing that that would , 

start a fight, I Immediately left. 

Have you ever be arrested before this for any 

trouble? A No. 

Q, Where do you live? A 436 Vest Broadway. 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY R. TOWNEEND: 

Q Who was behind the bar at the time the man got the 

drink of whiskey? A Mr. Torelli. 

Vho beside him? A Nobody else. 

41 



Q, Who serve him with liquor? A I saw the bottle on 

the counter. 

Q Where was the bottle' taken from? A I can't say 

because I was engaged in lighting my cigar and could not in 

the, moment see who served that bottle. 

3Y TKE COURT: 

Q, Who served you with the glass 

Q, At the bar? A Yes, sir. 

Q, was anybody else behind the bar at that time? A Not 

sir, I did.ntt see anybody. 

Q, Who was the barkeeper there? A I d.ont t know the mime. 

Q, Was it Emil? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Was Emil there? A Yes, sir. 

0, At the time you saw this was the screen up around 

the bar? A They were just Ergaged in putting it up. 

Who was engaged in putting it up? A The bartender. 

That Is Emil? A Yes, sir. 

MR- SaECKLER: That is Emil Gioggi. 

of wine? A Mr. Torelli.: 

1 P.M. The Court then admonished the jury 

In accordance with Section 415 of the Code of 

Criminal Procedure and took a recess until 2 P. M. 

of this day. 
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ANGELA TORELLI , called as a 'witness on behalf 

of tiite Defense, duly sworn and examined, testified as 

follows: 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. STECKLER : 

Mrs. Torelli I will you please talk up loudly, so the 

last gentleman here (indicating jury-box) can hear what you. 

have to say? A Well, I put—

@ Now, one moment . Where do you live, Mrs. Torelli? 

A 144 Bleecker street. 

Q And you are the wi fe of Henry Torelli , the little boy 

that was called? A The wife? 

The mb t her, I should say. A Yes, si r; the mo the r. 

Q, Your husband died several years ago? A My husband 
•• 

died; yes, sir. 

And the defendant, Angelo Torell"  is your brother-

in-law? A Yes, sir. 

@ He married your si ster? A Yes, Si r. 

And thedefendant P are nti ni I s your stepbro ther, is he 

not'? A My stepbrother; yes, sir. 

Q. Now, you live in the house, do you not , -- A Yes, 

Q, --where the store is? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Now, do you remember the night of this trouble, the 

12th of April, 1903? A Yes, si r. 

Q. Do you reale 10.) er about what time at ni (vat yoilr boy . 
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went to bed? A Yes, sir. 

Q What time? A I put all my children to bed at nine 

o'clock, sir. 

Q And now tell us if • thia boy got out of bed at any 

time aft erwards ; how he happened to get out; what you did; 

what he did, and what you know about this entire transaction 

from beginning to end. 

A All right, Si r. I put all my children to bed that 

night at nine o cloc k, and I wasn ' t feeling good that ni -ght ; 

I had a very bad headache. Later on I seen that I felt so 

bad I called ray big boy-- I went in his room which adjoins my 

bedroom, and I called him. I says, "Henry, hurry up and go 

downstairs and get me a bottle of magnesia, before they close 

because, I said, "I feelsick." He went downstairs, and he 

brought the magnesi a up; and very short after he brought 1:44) 

the magnesia to me, I heard a crack of glass. I ran out • 

in the hall to see what was the matter, and I met my brother 

WI 111am coming from up s t al rs , and he sai d, "What I s the mat-

t er? " - I Said, "I don't know. 

Q, How was he dressed, Mrs. Tore 111? A He had his p an 

hi s undo rs hi. rt and hi s ve St and hi s shoes . He want ed to go 

down. I says, "No , " I sal d, "don' t you go down, Willi am; 

because, I says, "there must be trouble ; " and made him 

come i n the bedroom wi t h my b oy, , and I c lo s ed th e door. 
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body 'come. upl A Yes, sir; an officer come up. 

@ An officer; and where was your brother at the time? 

A • In the bedroom with my boy. 

@ Well, where was he? A Sitting on my boy's bed. 

Q And were they b oth taken down by this officer? 

A Yes) sir; by the officer. 

Q, And how soon afterwards did anybody-- di d anybo dy come 

back afterwards? Who canTe up afterwards? Did the boy come 

back? A My boy came right up and went to bed; yes, sir. 

Q, How. about Willie Parentini ? A Well, Willie-- I don't 

know; he di dn t come back in my room. 

• He di t comeback in your room? A No, si r. That • 

'is all I know. 

Q, About the trouble itself you don't know anything? 

A • No, I don' t know; because I di dn t move prom my room. 

Q. Now, you are living in the house there wi th your 

children with Mr. Torelli since your hush and di ed? A Yes* 

Q, And he is taking charge of the entire family? A Yes. 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. OWN S END : 

q What time di. d Pare ntini c me home? A I don't know, 

sir, what tine he come home. 

Where were you when h e c ame home that iii.. ght ? A I 

Was i in my room. I don't know,sir, what time Willi an. Came 



Q. You d n 't know whether he was in the bastroom that 

.night or not do you? A No, sir; I don't know. 

BY THE COURT: 

Mr. Torelli, at the time you called your boy to go down 

in the bar, can you give the time precisely? A Well, sir, 

guess It must aim have been about ten minutes of twelve. 

Q, T en minutes of twelve? A Yes; about that time. 

Q, And then, how long after that was it that you heard 

the crash of glass? A Very shortly after, sir; very short -

Q, Could you cij_ ye any ± dea as to the time? A Well, 

about fi ve minute a. 

Q, Five minutes? A Yes, sir. 

.Q, And at this time the boy had returned to you with the 

magnesi a? A Yes, si r. 

4, And had taken it to your bedroom? A Yes, si r. 

4i, Then what did he do? A He went back to bed. 

Q, Yes? A Yes, si r. 

Q, And i t was, you say, about fi ve minutes aft er that 

that you heard this crash of glass? A Just as soon as he 

brought up the magnesia; very short ly after. 

Q Very shortly? A Yes, si r. 

Q You couldn't fix the time? A No, I couldn't exactly 
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say., but it was right after he brought up the magnesia I 

heard the crack. of glass. 

And  then, how soon after that did your brother 'come 

,down? A Well, si r, I went right out in the hall, end he 

come.-- he  was coming do lga fr cm upstairs. He wanted to go - 

downstairs, and I says, "No," I says, "Don't g o, "' I says, 

"because there must be tr oub le do wnstai rs ; " and I made him 

come in my room; and so he di dn ' t go do Aftastai rs at all, sir. 

THE DEFENSE RESTS. 

REBUTTAL TESTIMONY. 

MI CHAEL G 0 R M A N, recalled as a wi tness for the 

People, testified as follows: 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. TOWNSEND: 

CI To re 111 , the defendant, Captain, testified here that 

, you sai d. t o him t hat ni. gh t, "I am a Mi 11s Nous e mane" Di d 

you make any such stat anent to him? A No, si r. 

Q. Or anything like that? A Nothing like it. 

Ct It has been testified here by t he defendant and. other' 

witnesses that you took a glass in your hand and you struck 

the defendant Torelli on the si de of the head with that 

glass. 

MR. STECKLER: One moment. Objected to, as already 

testified to. 

THE COURT: What is the question? ( Question read 



by stenographer.) Well, that is not a question. 

MR. STECKLER: I object to it, on the ground that 

calls for a repeti ti on of testimony already in 

evidence. 

THE COURT: But there is no question there at all, 

as yet. I want t o hear the rest of the ,que stion. Will 

YOU finish the question, Mr. Townsend? 

( Continuing) Did you do anything of t he kind? 

A No, sir. 

MR. STECKLER: One moment: 

THE COURT: Objection overruled. 

MR. STECKLER: Excep ti on, upon the ground t hat it 

has already be en testifi ed. 

7 THE COURT: He has already te sti fi ed., and now he is 

testifying again, in rebuttal of witnesses that denied . 

his statements or asserted the c ontrary. 

MR. STECKLER: Very well. I except. Your Honors 

if the Di.strict Attorneys want to consult, I think they 

ought to do it, not in the hearing and presence of the 

jury. 

THE COURT: What is t? 

MR. STECKLER.: I say, I think i f' t he Di stri et At-

to me ys want to consult  it ought not to be in the pres-

ence of the 'jury, loud enough for them to hear. 



THE couRT : Oh, I do not think they do that. 

MR. STECkLER: Perhaps not intentionally. 

THE COURT: Well, I do not think they do it, even 

as a fact. 

it Captain, it has been testified here that when you were 

at the door of the place, going out, that one of the officers, 

one of your off! cers , came in and took hold of you and sal d 
are 

to you, "You old son of a bitch, whatyou doing ne re '?" Was 

anything like that said to you by any of the offi eery? A .He 

didn't use that lanc,uage, but he di dn' t recognize me at first,. 

the condition I was in. 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. Sr.CECKLER: 

Q. A policeman did take hold of you, didn't he? A No, 

he didn't. 

Q. Made an atten-pt to take hold. of you? A No. 

Q,. Didn't do anything? A Only spoke to me. He says, 

"What are you doing here?" 

et, You were kicking at the doors then? A No. 

Q, You were n' t? A No. 

Q, You heard officer Keenan yesterday testi fy, did you 

not? A Yes; he testi ed to something that was not so. 

Q. He did, eh? A Yes. 

BY THE COURT: 

At the time that this officer accosted you in that 
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way, where were you? A I was in front of the door, facing 

the st reef , and asking the people in front to get me assiLA-

ance. 

Q. In front of tie outer door? A In front of the 

outer door, facing the street. 

Q. When t hi s officer came? A Yes, sir. 

Q, You weren't between the doors? A No, sir. 

Q, Kicking at ,the inner door? A No, sir. I was at the 

outer door, facing the crowd in the street, and asking 'some- • 

body to go .and .get me assistance. 

BY MR. TOWNSEND: 

Q. Captain, was the whi skey, passed to you from in -front 

of the bar or from , 1,1 7k, uy oeni no.. tae bar? A Behind the 

bar. Q, From behind the bar. At t -tat time, how many were 

behind the bar? A Three. 

MR. STECKLER: Objected to, as having been already 

testified to. 

THE COURT t is absolutely proper in rebuttal; 

he  you have b rought a numb er of wi tnes ses here to 

-swear there was nobody behind the bar. 

MR. STECKLER: But he has already testified to that. 

The ref ore it is not rebutt al. 

THE COURT: He can repeat it in view of your con-

tradiction. 



MR. STECKLER: Exception. 

THE COURT: That is what rebut t all s intended for. 

MR. STF_CKLER: Exc ep ti on. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q, Go on, Captain. There were three behind the bar? 

A Three, sir; yes, sir. 

Now„Captain, at the time that you came in there, 

*as the screen or any portion of it, which is put up to con-

ceal the bar on Sundays, in posi tion? A No, sir. 

oi That you are po si ti ye of? A Po si ti ye; yes „ Si r. 

Q, AVhei you ordered this glass of whiskey, and you paid 

for it, I understand-- A Yes, sir; ten cents. 

Q --did you taste the whiskey? A Yes, sir. 

MR. STECKLER: One moment : 

THE COURT: He testiftod to that. 

MR. STECKLER: I don't like to object to your 

Honor's question. 

THE COURT: That is all ri it.,9  

MR. STECKLER: But I must submi t that thi s is not 

regular and proper on rebuttal. 

THE COURT: It is ab solute 1 y so . 

MR. STECKLER: Very well then. I except. 

THE COURT : Very well. 

Q, And did you go to the other end of the bar where the 

w-' 
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defendant was--

MR. STECKLER: Same objection. 

Q --with the glass in your hand? 

Same objection, ruling and exception. 

A No„ Sir. 

'iNhen you went t o the other end of the bar where he 

was, did you pass between the screen and the bar? 

Same objection, ruling and exception. 

sir. There was no screen there. 

q, And when he stopped you from going behind the bar, 

please state in what manner he stopped you; whether verbally 

or by any other means? 

Same objection, ruling and exception. 

A He placed his body there, and put his hand and shoved me 

back. 

Q, Shoved you back? A Yes, sir. 

Q Now, when had you informed him that you were captain 

of the p rec inc t and s howed him your edli eld? 

Same objection, ruling and exception. 

A When I asked him who was in charge-- ± f he was in charge.. 

Q, And his 'reply was? 
A 

Same objection, ruling and exception. 

A That he was the boss. 

,i Th en what next di d you to say to him? 



Same objection ruling and exception. 

A I told him--

MR. sTECKLER (Interrupting) : ) Upon the ground that 

It is going into the People's case again. 

THE COURT: Well, you have in ad e your obj ection and 

your exception, and you have preserved all your rights 

without arguing on the subject. 

MR. STECKLER: Exception. 

THE COURT ( To witne ss ) : Go ri ght on, cap fain. 

(Continuing) I told him to close up his bar and clear out 

the people in the bar. 

Ct What was his reply? 

Same objection, ruling and exception. 

A He says, "You go to hell; I don't care for you. I will 

goon." 

Q Were there any people in that room then? 

Same objection, ruling and exception. 

A Yes, sir. 

Q And were they entirely visible from the place where 

you conversed with the defendant? 

Same objection, ruling and exception. 

A Yes, sir. 

And were they entirely vi sib 10, from the place where 

he prevented you froth gbing behind the bar? 
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Same obj edtion, ruling and exception. 

A Yes, air. t is all one room. 

4, And you are positive that no portion of the screen 

had been put up at that time? 

MR. STECKLER: Objection and exception, to the form 

of the question. 

• ,A Yes; sir. 

. .4; Was the screen or any portion of it put up before you 

left that room and got in to the street? 

Same obj ec t i on , ruling and exception. 

A Yes, si r. There was a portion of it put up. 

Q, There was a portion of it put up between the time of • 

thi s occurrence wi th the defendant and your going to the 

street? 

Same oh j ec ti on , rulin g and e xc ep ti on. 

A Yes, sir. 

BY MR. STECKLER: 

Q Were the screens being put up before you were hit? 

A Afterwards. 

.„Q Not before? A Not before. 

Q, While this scuffle was going on somebody was putting 

Up the screens? A Yes. 

Q, That is the first time you not iced the screens being 

put up? A That j,s the f rs t time they c ommenced to put them 

I I 
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Whilethe scuffle between you and Torelli was going 

on? A Yes. 

at And you say that the testimony of officer Keenan that 

• he saw you in  there kicking the doors from the front is un-

true? A Untrue; yes. 

• et. He was under your-- he was one of your policemen upon 

that night? A Yes. 

•Q And you sent him in to make arrests, did you not? 

•it What s that? 

1), You sent him in to make arrests, did you not? A 

did; yes. 

(4, He is still connected.th the same precinct? A He 

is; yes, sir. 

at You are not? A No. 

BY THE COURT: 

Are you still connected with the police force, Cap-

tain? A Yes, sir. 

Retired? A No. I am an active member. 

Q, Active member? A Yes, sir. 

BY MR. SrTECKLER: 

Q, This Whiskey was sold, to you after you say Torelli 

told you to go to hell? A Yes, sir. 

Q And after you told, him you were a police captain? 



oit And after you showed him your shield? A Yes, sir. 

BY TAR. TOWNSEND: 

.Captain, do you recollect what you said to Parentini 

at the time you bought the whiskey from him? A What I said 

to 'him, sir? 

Q Yes. A I told him he was my pr i Boner. 

MR. STECKLER: Same obj ecti on as not being in re-

buttal. 

- (No ruling. ) 

Q, Use your words as near as you can? 

Same obj ec ti on , ruling and exception. 

A I says, You are a pr-isoner--" those were my words-- "You 

are a prisoner;" and I went around to go behind the bar to 

take charge of. him. 
BY THE COURT: 
4, Did you see a small boy, the boy that appeared here, 

young lorelli ? A Not until after all the trouble was over 

and he was brought downstairs. 

Q That was the first time you saw him? A That was the 

first time; yes, sir. 

ot. Did he hand out a bottle of whiskey to you? 

Same obj ection, mling and exception. 

A• No sirs 

Q. And when you ordered the shiwkey from the defendant 
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there it was at tfie other end of the bar from where Tore111 

Was, ',A Yes., sir; towards -the door or win do w. 

%.And. did Torelli say anything about putting out the 

bottle? .A No; he didn't speak at, all. 

•'.Q,; Was he near enough to hear your order? A I don' t 

think he was,; he was about twelve feet away. 

MR. STECKTYR: I ask that that be stricken out. 

THE COURT: Strike it out. 

BY MR. TOWNSEND: 

Q, Were there others between you and the defendant at 

the bar? • A About, eight or ten men. 

Eight or ten men, right up against the bar? A Right 

up against the bar. 

R, At the time you ordered the liquor from Tore Ili? 

A Yes, si I had to force myself between two men to get 

• to the bar. 

MR. STEcKLER: I object to all this. 

THE COURT: see you do; and your objections are • 

overruled, and you can have your exceptions. 

MR. STECKL.ER: Exeep tion , on the same ground. 

BY THE COURT: 

4, You say you are still on the active force of police? 

A Yes, sir. 

(4, In what cap ty? I am apolice captain. 
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But where are you situated? A I am in he Fourth 

A Precinct; what is called the Bridge police now. 

at Bridge police? A Yes; Brooklyn Bridge. 

.MR.. •STECKLER: What was that last? 

THE WITNESS: The Brooklyn Bridge. 

MR. STECKLER: Oh, in Brookl 3rn 

Now, did one of the officers there, when these men 

'were brought from upstairs, being out from behind the bar a 

bung-starter? A He di dn' t bring it out. He showed it over 

the bar. 

Q Showed it over the bar? A Yes, sir. 

Q, In what connection was that? A Nothing at all. 

told him to go behind the bar and get the club that they had 

used on me. 

Q, Simply to get the club? A Yes, sir. 

Q, And what did he do then? 

Same ob j ec tloii, ruU. ng and except! on. 

A Well, he went-- he showed different things. He showed, 

this bung starter and then he showed me this (indicating.) 

I said, "That is a weapon." 

MR. sTECKLER : Same obj ecti on and exc epti on. 

A (Continuing:) The blood was still fresh on it. 

Q, And did you tell him to bring the bung starter along? ' 

Same objection, ruling and exception. 
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, A No, sir; nothing said  about a bung starter at all. 

When you were struck on the head with that, did you 

make any at  empt to avert those blows? 

Sims objection, ruling and exception. 

A Not, with the 'club ; no, sir; because they had me on both 

sides, Torelli on one side and that witness with a light 

m“ache, and whiskers, Bonita I think his name is, he had me 

on. the other; so that I couldn' t use my arms. 

Well, can you explain-- You say there was blood on 

that club; can you explain how that blood Lgot on it? A It 

is my blood. 

Same objection, ruling and exception. 

(4. Your blood? A Yes, sir. 

Ct From the wound in your head? A Wound ± n my head; 

yes; si r. 

(4 He struck You twiee, you say? 

Same objection, ruling and exception. 

A Yessjr. 

JOHN LAWRENCE SULLI VAN, a witness for 

the People, recalled on rebuttal, testified as f011°113: 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. To Vti\T SEND : 

44 How long were you in that precinct, officer? 

Objected. to on the same ground as before. 

, 
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Objection overruled. 

Excel) ti on. 

q How long? A Six years. 

4/ Six years. Do you know Parentini ? A Yes, 

(I, Did you know him before he was arrested? A Yes, si r. 

THE COURT: Speak loud enough f or the jury to hear 

you.. 

• Have you ever seen Pa ren tini in that ID arroom prior: to 

that night? 

Same ob j ec tion, ruling and except! on. 

A Yes, sir. 

Q, You have? A Yes, sir. 

Q, On how many occasions? 

Same ob j ec ti on. , ruling and exception. 

Q, Well, I saw 1-din there on several 'occasions. 

t What, I f anything, was he doing when you saw him/ 
, 

Same obj action, ruling and exception. 

A Well, I saw him running around in the barroom there and 

back into an alley, and working generally in the barroom. 

q How was he dressed/ 

Same objection, ruling and e )(cep tion. 

A We II, he usually had his • c ca,t off, in his shirt sleeves 

or shirt, and I have seen him on their wagon, driving for Mr. 

Tox4e Ili • 



Was he acting as a waiter, at all, at any time that 

you Saw him there? A Yes. He was working in the barroom 

there, and in a kind of a dining-room and restaurant, where 

they served drinks and lunch, and so forth. 

ct Ever see him go behind the bar? 

Same objection, ruling and exception. 

A Well, I saw him at the end of the bar once, bending over 

by the bar working, but I never saw him back of the bar. 

9, Now, when you arrested him, that night, where was he? 

SaMe objection, ruling and exception. 

A He was upstairs. 

A Upstai rs? A Yes, sir. 

Q, What doing? A He was in bed. 

Q, In bed? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Was he sitting on the side of the bed? 

Same objection, ruling and exception. 

A No, sir. 

Q How about the coverings? A Well, I ti-ink the re was 

a quilt or blanket or sonething over him. 

MR. STECKLER: I object to hi s thinking. 

THE COURT: One moment, Mr. Steckler. I allow the 

whole examination on this point. It is in direct rebut-

tal, and you can have the benefit of one exception to 

all of these questions, without continually interrim tt 
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the examination. 

MR. STECKLER : Exc option. 
BY THE COURT: 
Q, He was i n bed I n what room? A I think i t is t.he 

t hi rd f loo r up, you .r Honor, in a room on the right hand side. 

There Were two ladies in the room and I think they had a bed 

on this 31d,e, and there was another bed on the other side. 

Q Was it a front room? A No; a kind of a back room. 

Q, A back room? A Yes; about the middle of t1'e house, 

I should think. There was another room back of it and one 

In front. 

ta Was there any other person in t he room when you were 

there? A There was another boy, smaller than this young man 

he re (In di c a ti rig de f en dan t Parer). tini). 

BY MR. TOWNSEND: 

Q, How was he dressed, t hi. s Pare n tini ? A He had hi s 

trousers on, an d. I think it was a shi rt or an un.de r shi rt.; I 

won't be positive of that; and shoes. 

Q, And shoes on? A Yes. 

Same objection, ruling and exception. 

Ct And were they in bed at that time? 

Same objection, ruling and exception. 

A Yes, he was  laying on the bed. 

q Under cover? A Yes; there was a quilt partly pulled 
over him like this ( indi cati ng) up on hi face; and I touched 



hiin on the shoulder like this (indicating). 

at'• What did he •do when you touched him? A He rose lap 

in that manner ( in di eating) , and said, "What is the matter, 

SUlli van?" and I Said, "Get up and come downstairs." 

Same objection, ruling and exception. 

(continuing) He said he hadn t done anything. That is 

the only thing he said to me. 

Q Well, on the way down, when you were taking him down, 

did you, take the small boy wi th him? A Yes, I took both 

boys down. 

Q. Did you stop on your way down? - 

Same objection, ruling and exception. 

A No; I walked right downstairs. 

Q Did you meo:q Mrs. Tore 111 ? A Oh, Mrs. Tore 111 Was 

In the room there when I was getting the boy up. 

QI She was there when you were getting the boy up? 

A Yes, sir. 

Q She was in the room? A Yes. Now, let us see. 

There was another lady-- there is two To relli ladies. 

Q, I know, but the mother of the small boy? Mrs. To-

relli, stand up. A This was a Mrs. Torelli talking to me, 

but I .am not posi ti ye whether I t was tit_ s woman or the o 

I saw two women t iere et the time. 

In t he room where you made the arrest ? A Yes. s 



woman, was telling me not to take him down, that he hadn't 

done anything. She was excited and talked in that manner. 

Q. ,And you took them both down? A Yes. 

ct You say there were two beds in that room? A No, 

there was a bed., I think-- I won t be po si ti ye of that. I 

know those two ladies were standing on the left of the room, 

and on the right was this bed, and the two boys were in it. 

co, What two boys, this defendant Parentini and the small 

boy? A And the smaller boy, yes; and the two ladies were on 

this side here (indicating); and they were both excited and 

talking to me, and I an not positive whether there was a bed 

on the. left or not, but there was a bed on this side, On the 

left. 

BY MR. STECKLER: 

Q Was the little boy in the bed? A Yes, the little 

chap was in bed. 

Q, Was he .under covers? A Yes, I think he was. 

Were they both in one bed? A Both in one bed; yes'. 

9, Now, are you p051 tive that there was a cover over 

thi s b by't, or are you just thin.kinn; that ? A We U, he was 

the ins! de; the ii t t le fellow was on the outside. 

Where were his feet? A They were on the bed. 

They were dangling over the side, weren't they? 

Well, it was dark in there where he was lying, and I 

• 
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Couldn't be po si tive. 

You don't know vrhere his feet were? A I don't know 

• that, bat he was lying on the bed I know. 

Q, Did he have his shoes on? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Was he in bed with his shoes, or were his feet dang-

ling over the side of the bed? A He was in bed -with his 

shoes, I take it. 

Q Will you swear that he was? A I will sear that he 

was in bed, yes. 

Will you swear that his feet were in bed? A Well, 

it was dark in the room, and--

Youwon't swear his feet were in the bed? A Well, 

evid.ently they were when he was in there. 

Q, You won't swear to that, will you? 

, MR. TOWNSEND: I object to that form of question. 

The witness is under oath, anyhow, and is swearing to 

all the statements he makes. 

MR. STECKLER: I object to the District Attorney 

making any comments while the witness is on the stand. 

THE COURT: Well , you make mo re c omment s t ban t he 

District Attorney does. The witross has sworn to it a 

number of times. Now, you can get at it very easily 

without putting questions of that kind. 

Q,W11 you swear that this man's feet were in the bed? 

.6.4,•-‘444S; 

• 
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A Well, he was lying on the bed, and if his feet were over. 

a little to the left they might be ,sticking out. 1 wouldn't 

swear to that positively, but I know he was lying on the bed 

d the blanket pulled over him. 

Was the boy up against the wall? A I think he was. 

ta

 

And  was he on the inside or on the outside? A He 

was 'on the Outside; because I had to touch him on the shoul-

r-- shad to rea&i over to touch him. 

BY MR. TOWNSEND: 

Q, The young fellow was on the out side , and he had • 

Parentini on the inside; is that right? A Yes, sir. 

THE PEOPLE REST. 

TESTIMONY CLOSED: 

MR. STECKLitii: I now renew my motion to make the 

Dist ri ct Attorney eleet on which c aunt of the indictment 

he intends to go to the jury. 

Motion denied; exception. 
• 

I now move for the discharge of the pri saner, upon 

the ground that the evidence shows-- the preonderance 

of evidence shows that the defendants in this ease are 

not .guilty of the offense charged; also upon the further 

ground that the evidence uncontradi cted, is that the 

gefe ndants did not assault the comp lainant , and that, 



on the Contrary, the evidence •affinnatively shows that 

the eomplainant was the aggressor. 

Motion dehied, Exception. 

And upon the further ground that the People have 

failed to make out a case under the Statute. 

Motion denied. Exception. 

Mr. Steckler closed the case on behalf of the 

defendants. 

Mr. Townsend closed the case on behalf of the 

People. 

THE COURT: I will not give the case to the jury 

to-night unless they prefer it. I dislike to give a 

case to a jury at so late an hour in the evening; so I 

will let it go over f you de Si re, unt il Monday 

morning at eleven o'clock, and will charge you then. 

In the meantime, I must renew the statutory caution. 

that you are not to converse with One another, or with 

any one else, about this case, Ispecially as the evid-

ence is now complete, and not to come to any decision 

upon it until it is finally submitted to you. 

ADJOURNED, to Monday, June 8, 1903, at Eleven A. M0 

THE JURY POUND DPFT. TORELLI GUILTY OF ASSAULT IN TIM TITIRD DN-

GnE AND ACQUITTED DTIVT' PARENTINT. 
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TBE PEOPLB vs. =BELLI and PARENTINI. June Bth, 1903. 

THE COURT'S CHARGE. 

Nb-14AHON I.- Gentlemen of the .jury: The two de-

fendants at the Bar have been jointly indicted with five) 

others, for assault in the second degree. You have heard 

the case, so well and clearly summed up, and the testimony. 

ham been so carefully presented to you that it is not 

necessary for to refer to the testimony in detail, but 

simply to state to you the provisions of law which apply 

,to the case. 

Now, one count in the indictment charges assault 

in the second degree, in this, that these defendants did 

make an assault updn an officer while in the discharge of 

his duty, and the defendant Torelli, in making that saault, 

did it far the purpose of preventing the arrest of the 

• other defendant who is jointly indicted with him. 

That would constitute assault in the second degree, 

unlawfully resisting an officer in the discharge of his 

duty, or any assault perpetrated for the purpose of pre. 

vent a legal arrest, or rescuing a iirisdner arrested by the  

officer, wh 4tib't ersOji cà niiiitt ing4he afteratat 

The other other count in the indictment charges an as sltdt1 

in this, that these two defendants unlawfully assaulted the 
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Officer, net knowing that he was an officer, but un-

lawfully assaulted him, with a weapon likely to pro-

duce serious bodily injury. Now that constitutes also 

assault in the second degree, an assault wilfully and 

wrongfully commdtted with a dangerous weapon, or other 
1 

'thing lilcely to produce serious bodily harm, wl_thsIe-

uIt ee whetheir any harm was ' 

or was not produced, if the instrument or thing by which 

the assault was made was of a nature calculated to pro-

duce grievous bodily injury. 

This Ima„1.1a indictment charges these two defendants  

with assault grievous bodily harm, was inflicted, 

1-4.4 
and that also constitutes assault in the second degree, 

if the defendants unlawftialy and wrongfully inflicted 

grievous bodily-harm upon another, whether with or without 

a weapon. 

Now, those are all the three definitions that it is 

necessary for you to know in connection with the offense 

charged in this indictment. 

The People contend that the complaining witness in 

this case, a Captain of Police, who had been for thirty 

years, 1 think, 

Saturday night, 

upon the Force, entered this place on a 

a few minutes after twelve o'clock, at 

a time when it should have been closed, that he asked for. 

the person in charge and the defendant Torelli was pointed 

out to him. 
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You have heard the conversation as detailed by the 

Captain, Captain Gorman, and also the same conversation 

as detailed by the defendant in his own behalf. 

Captain Gorman swears positively that he informed 

the defendant upon, that occasion that he was the captain 

of the precinct, are. that he d-isplayed his shield. He was,: 

you Will remember, in citizen's clothes at the time; and 

he direeted them to close up • 

The defendant answered him insolently and defiantly, 

he testified. That he then went to the other end, of the 

bar and ordered a glass of whiskey, which was served by 

a person behind the bar, who, he claims, was the de -

fondant Parentini. 

The contention of the defense is that the Captain 

was still within his rights, in obtaining evidence such as 

would authorize him in making the arrest, as it was after-

the closing hour fixed by law. That he thereupon 

arrested Parentini and proceeded to the other end of the 

counter or bar-where the entrance was, behind the place, 

and attempted to go in to secure his prisoner. That there 

he was resisted by the defendant Torelli. 

Now, Gentlemen, no matter how forcible that resis-

tance was, if it was any resistance whatever, whereby' 

an assault was committed; no matter how harmlesT the 

assault in itself; if that was done for the purpose of 
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preventing the arrest, or trying to detain the defendant 

Parentini after his arrest by the officer, then it would 

constitUte assault in the second degree, provided the 

defendant knew, or -had gOod reason to know, that the com-

plaining witness was an officer, in which case he was act-

ing within his rights after he had duly made an arrest. 

Now, in that view of the case, the main thing for you 

to pass upon is, Had this defendant knowledge, or did he 

know or believe, at the time that Captain Gorman was in 

fact a police officer and. acting in the discharge of his 

duty? 

Neither he nor the other defendant had any right to 

determine as- to the legality of the arrest, and the fact 

that their watches might differ by a, few minutes would not 

justify' an assault made upon an officer' while engaged in 

the discharge of his duty. The remady is otherwise. 

If you are satisfied that this assault was committed 

by  the defendant and that he was aided or assisted by 

the co-defendant, Parentini, in order to effect the escape 

of the defendant Torelli, and thathe was taken into 

actual custody, and that they or either of them knew or 

had fair reason for knowing that this complaining witness 

was an officer and a Po lice Captain, then that would 

.bring it within the definition of the Statute, as assault 

in the second degree, resisting an officer in the die-
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charge of his duty, and for the purpose of prevetting an 

arrest 

If 'you are satisfied that these defendants did. not 

know that he was an officer, and that they believed that 

was going behind that 'bar as a trespasser, they had a 

rigit to resist trespass, even by force, provided the 

force used was not more than sufficient to prevent the 

apprehended trespass or injury. 

If, actually' believing that an intruder was endeavor-

ing to go behind that -bar, where he had no business, they 

attempted to prevent him, and used no more force than 

was actually neceSsary to prevent him, 'then they were 

acting within their rights. 

Now, it is for you to say, if you 'believe the testimo-

ny offered by the People, whether these injuries which 

the complaining witness claims to have received by being 

struck, not once, 'but several times, with glasses, and so 

forth, whether that indicates a greater degree 

force than was necessary to prevent his going behind that 

bar. 

.Again, if you find that a greater degree of force 

was used than was necessary to prevent a trespass or injUry. 

to the premises of the defendants, and was made without 

the use of a weapon, but did inflict, grievous bodily 

injury, then, again, it would bring the offense 
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within the definition of the St atute, as aSsault in the 

seeond 'degree. 

Of course.' there is a conflict in this as in all other 

similar cases, and it is for you7Oentlemen 'of the Jury, to 

Ate-
determine as best you may on which side liesAtruth.. 

The stories in their essential features cannot be 

reconciled. There are many discrepancies of a minor kind, 

which may arise from a defective memory, or lack of •obser-

vation. Very few witnesses in an affray like this ever 

tell precisely the s -me story,. but if you are satisfied 

that any one of the witnessesywhether for the People or 

for the defense, has wilfully sworn falsely here, in any 

, particular iithatever, then you are at liberty to disregard 

his entire testimony. And that rule applies both to 

witnesses called for the People arri. to witnesses called for 
414 

the defense). 

You must re Id embe r that "weight" Oe rnt necessari-

ly mean numbers of ,J.tnesses , nor preponderance in that 

respect. It may happen in cases that two witnesses may 

outweigh with a jury the testimony of twenty others. In 

this case the complaining witness was alone in this 

establishment, where there were, according to the ioweot 

computation, I believe, about thirty persons. What oc-

curred there was witnessed by all these persons who were 

associates of this establishments, and who appear-, as far 
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as ,t1e7 Were tbatdt for the defense. But if you find, 

that ;any of these witnesses., or that Captain Gorman him-, 

Self, in recounting what occurred when he was alone in 

that saloon v ith those people who frequent it, that in any 

Single point any of them has wilfully atparted from the 

truth, in giving his testimony here, you may disregard his 

entire testimony. 

Now witnesses have been called here as to the good 

aeacter of the defendants. There are cases, and it is 

for you to say, Gentlemenr whether this is one of them, 

where good character may itself inspire such reasonable 

doubt as would call for an acquittal. That is a question] 

for tle Y- You must bear in mind, however, that good 

ch arac ter I no .r.ktt ter how well established is no excuse 

for crime, and gives no license to commit it, although,' 

even in such cases, it may be considered in mitigation 

of punishment.. 

Good character is only useful to the jury in determine, 

ing whe the r or not t he de f e n dant did co mmi t the crime. 

Now, the People are obliged to H.alce out their case beyond 

a reasonPb le doubt. In other words, they have opt to 

satisfy you of the guilt of the defendant beyond a reasons,' 

ab Jo doubt before you can convict;and if any reasonable 

doubt remains in your mind, after a careful consideration 

of all the. testimony in the case, the defendants, one, or 



.238 - 

both, are entitled to the benefit of that doubt, and to an 

acquittal. 

The law presumes the defendant to be innocent, and 

that presumption remains with him until the verdict of a 

jury- removes it. You will bear in mind, however,, that 

the doubt must be ju st What the Words i4p ly - a reasonable 

doubt. That is, a doubt based upon reasons, necessarily 

upon good reasons; such a doubt as would control your 

action in the important business affairs of your daily 

lives; such a doubt as an intelligent person could give . 

a suffidient reason for entertaining. 

Therefore, if such a doubt remains in your minds, 

after a careful consideration of all the testimony, the 

defendant will be entitled to .an acquittal. 

It i s unnecessary, I take it, Gentlamen of the jury', 

to caution you against being influenced either by preju-

dice or by sympathy, or by a considera.tion of the serious 
- 

consequences that mi (lit follow your verdict, if it were 

against the defendants. I will say that that rests with 

the Court, and with he Executive, as to what may fo 1Tow 

should your verdict be that of "Guilty." 

Neither must you sympathize with the officer, because 

Of the fact thr t he clad= he was seriously injured, and 

in the discharge of duty. You will pass upon the facto 

independent of a Ja. t ho o c ircumst once , rnd determine the 
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one fact': Was he engagpd in the discharge of his duty, 

and within his ri&Its, and was that known to the defendant, 

or to the defendants, and had they good reason for knowing 

l. it? 

The case is in your hands. 

KR. STECKLER: I ask your Honor to charge the jury 

that, if the jury believe from the evidence that the com-

plaining witness was assaulted without announcing who he 

was, and, while he was at tempting to go behind the -bar, 

and while the defendant Torelli was protecting his prop-

erty, and person, the jury must acquit the defendant 

Torelli. 

TEE COURT: I have sufficiently charged upon that 

subject. I have charged it in substance, but more in 

the words of the statute. 

MR. STECKT._22: And that the defendant Torelli had. 

a right to use force in ejecting him from the place under 

those circumstances. 

THE COURT: I have already charged upon that sub-

ject. 

1r I except to your Honor's refusal to . 

charge as requested. 

THE COURT: I have not refused. 

MR. STIXICEER: As requested.. 

ME COURT: Oh, in the words. I prefer the words of 
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the Statute. 

14R. STECK:LUZ: Very well. I ask your Honor to 

charge the jury that, before they can convict tlese 

defendants, they must fin.d from. the evidence that it was 

the defendants that assaulted the complaining witness; and 

If the jury- are in doubt that the defendants did commit 

this assault, their verdict must be "Not Guilty." 

THE COURT: If they were acting in concert it is 

•immaterial who struck the blow. 

' MR. STECKLER: I ask your Honor to further charge 

the jury that it is the duty of the prosecution to show - 

who it was that struck the complaining witness, if he 

was struck. 

THE COURT: I will char €e on that point that, no 

matter who struck the defendant, if these defendants were 

there acting in concert for a common purpose, it makes 

no difference who inglicted the injury -- if they were • 

acting there for the purpose of preventing this arrest 

and preventing the officer from discharging his duty-. 

MR. SrrECKLER: I except to your Honor's refusal 

to charge as requested, and to your- modification. I ask 

your Honor to charge that, if the jury believe from the 

evidence that the defendants were not violating any* lawil 

that the hour of twelve o'clock had not arrived when the 

complaining witness attempted to male an arrest, and that 
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the complaining witness did not make his identity known, 

the defendants would not be guilty of the crime charged 

In the indiatiLent, even if the jury find that they so re-

sisted the complaining witness. 

THE COURT: I have charged sufficiently upon that. 

If the jury find that the defendants were not aware and had. 

no reason to be aware of the fact that he was an officer 

engaged in the dischar fe of his duty, then they cannot 

be held under that count of the indictment; but they nay 

be held upon the other count, provided the force used to 

prevent what was attempted to be a trespass was OM more 

than sufficient to prevent it. 

STE'CKLER: I except to your Honor's refusal to 

charge as requested, and, except to your modification. I 

ask your Honor to charge the jury that before they can 

convict the defendants they must find that these defend-

ants were violating a law, and, that the complaining witness 

waS attempting to make an arrest for such violation, and 

that the .defendant, knowing him to -be a police officer, 

interfered with him in the performance of his duties. 

4' THE COURT: I have already charged upon that subject. 

S'INCKLER: I except to your Honor's refusal to so 

charge. I ask your Honor to charEp that7unless there was 

a violation of the law in the presence of the complaining 

witness, Captain Gorman, he was not jutified in making an 
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9.2" re s t without a warrant. 

THE COURT': I will charge that. 

R. STEC=: I ask your Honor to char that 

Officer Kiernan having been called upon the stand as a 

witness for the prosecution, the prosecution is bound by 

• his, testimony. 

TIN COURT: I won't charge that. 

MR. STECKLER: I except to your Honor's refusal so to 

charge. 

THE COURT: The prosecution is bound by-his tes-

timony -- so is the jury- -- provided they believe him. The 

same applies to every other witness. 

MR. STEC or I ask your Honor to charge that, in-

asmuch as your Honor did quote some of the testimony of 

Officer Gorman -- I ask your Honor to charge that the 

defendant in this case, Pareptini, was not identified by 

any person, not even by the Captain, on the nit of this 
M1 

occurrence. 

`J HE COURT: I charge that that is a question of fact 

for the jury. 

MR. SIECKLER: I except to your Honor's refusal to 

so charge. 

TED a OUIRT : I will further charge that, whether 

employed or not, made no difference; if he was engaged in 

violating the '1asir in the presence of the officer the 



officer had a right to make the arrest. 

STECKIER: I except to the modification. 

ask your Honor to charge that the People •must produce 
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dence for the Ste to show that the defendants are guilty 

beyond a reasonable doubt? 

THE COURT: I will charge that. 

NiR• STP-CKLER: And that simply a preponderance of 

evi dence will not convict. 

THE COURT: I have charged that sufficiently. Pre-

ponderance of, evidence does not mean numbers of witnesses. 

MR. STXKIER: I except to your Honor's refusal to 

char*  as requested. 

TPE COURT': I have charged it already. I have 

charged it more in your favor than you request. 

MR. S'lECKLER: But in the language I put. 

THE COURT: I know, but I prefer the languatc of the 

Statute. 

MR. STECKLER: I ask your Honor to ch arge the jury. 

that, if tl.By reach the conclusion) that the defenda 

previous character has been good, it is tiEir duly 

that into account in forming a determination as to 

TVIP, COURT: I be charged that.. 

TI E COURT: You have charged that they may! 

THE COURT: I have charged, that sufficiently. 

MR. STECKLER: Very well• I 0ant to except to your 

nts' 

to take 

guilt. 

•4 
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Honor charge in which you state as to the degree of guilt 

that the jury must find the defendants guilty of. 

ME COURT: In what respect? 

MR. S'EXKLER: In your Honor's charge your Honor 

states that, even though the defendants did. commit an 

assault, with or without an instrument, they must find 

tlE defendants, if they find them guilty at all, guilty 

f assault in the second degree. 

aa E COURT: I did not charge that. 

l. SC=R: I ask your Honor to charge that it 

is within the province of the jury to find them guilty 

of any assault. 

THE COURT: I did not charge that. I charged that, 

if they find that these defendants wilfully and wrongfully 

con:flitted an assault, acting together, and in concert, and 

in that assault produced or inflicted serious bodily in-

jury upon the person of the complaining witness, wether done 

with or without a weapon, that it was an assault in the 

second dezree. 

MR. STMKTIP,R: I ask your Honor, in view of what 

your Honor has ju at said rd your charge, that your- Honor 

must submit to this jury all the various degrees of 

assault. 

ra COURT: Well, what, for instance? Assault in 

t e first degree!? That is not charged. 
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MR. STEMMER: No sir, there is no indictment for 

that. 

TBE COURT: Assault in the third degree is simple 

assault and battery, Ge pt 1 emen Mere ly putting your  hand 

upon another for a hostile purpose, no matter what: degree 

of injury is inflicted, is simple assault in the third 

degree.. 

La. STECKLER.: I accept to your Honor's refusal. 

TBE COURT: And I will say further, that where a 

particular offense is charged in the indictment, the jury, 

if the testimony warrants it, may find the defendant, or 

defendants guilty' of any lesser degree of that offense, or 

of any offense included in it,. Now, of course, assault 

in the third degree in included in assault in the second 

degree. The only difference is this: Assault in the 

second degree must be made by a dangerous weapon, or 

other thing likely to produce grievous bodily injury, 

whether it does produce grievous bodily harm or not, 

whether it produces serious bodily injury or whether it 

was mpde with or without a weapon). Now, if you find 

that the defendants did make an unlawful assault upon the 

person of the complaining witness, and did produce grievous 

bodily harm, why then you would be justified in finding 

them or either of them guilty of assault in the third 

degree. 

STECKLITR: Unless they find that the assault was, 
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justified. 

TEE COURT: I my that were the assault is wrong-

6,1.11'  of course. There is no assault if it is justified. 

MR. STEGKL7. : New, I desire to take some exeep-

I presume I can take those when the jury re-

tires, unless your Honor prefers I should tale them now. 

TEE COURT': No, not after the jury retire, because if 

there is anithing there that you are entitled to have 

I Will give you the benefit of it. 

;EZ. STECKLER: I tale exception to your Honor' 

charm in that you say that all of the witnesses for the 

defendant or) if your Honor did not use the word 

"all," that some of the witnesses for the defendant were 

associated with the defendant Torelli's place. 

TEE COURT: What I meant to say was were fre-

quenters of the place. 

1.M. STEMMER: I except to the charge as made, and 

to the modification. I also except to that part of your 

Honor's charm in which you say that apparently it is a 

question between the complaining witness and. the defendant 

as to whether their watches differed or not. 

THE COURT: I did not char m anything of that kind. 

STRCKTER: Well, on the subject of the watches 

in question, whether the watches differed between them. 

Your Honor did use langua ft. of that character. 
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TAT COURT: I say this: If an officer is engaged 

in making an arrest, ani any bystander thinks be is not 

aatingWithin the law, and interferes, he does so at #is 

peril. 

1MR.. STEIMfLER If, however,...# was prior to the tine 

for the closing up, the defendants would not be guilty 

of any offense. 

TFZ COURT: It does not excuse the interferenee with  

that officer, becauEe a bystander or citizen thinks he 

knows the time better than the officer, or anything else 

that goes to the essence of the crime. The aggrieved person 

has his remedy, and it is his duty to submit to the 

authority of the lam, and any outsider who questions 

does so, I say, at his peril. 

MR. STECKLER: I ask your Honor to charge the jury 

that, if the jury find frexi the evidence in the case that 

the complaining witness used a glass in assaulting the 

defendant, that the defendant was justified in protecting 

his person from. such assault, if he used no more force 

than was necessary. 

TEE COURT: Well, as a simple proposition I see no 

objection to that, provided the complaining witness Was 

not an officer engaged in the performance of his duty, 

and used no more force than was necessary to discharge 

that dutY. 

It 



xonaot 

248 

MR.  SCR: Even though he was the aggressor --

if he wae tie aggressor, the defendant was justified in 

protecting his person. 

TBIll COURT: I charge simply that an officer is en-

titled to use force to accomplish an arrest, but that he 

is bound "by the ordinnry rules of justice not to use more 

than the necessary force. 

STECKLM: Very well. 

The jury retired at 11:30 a. M. 

The jury returned to Court at 3 p. m. 

THE COURT: Gentlemen, in reply to tie inquiry sub-

mitted _through your foreman, I desire to say that in a ease 

of this kind, where defendants are jointly indicted, you 

are at liberty to convict one and acquit the other, if 

the testimony warrants It. 

The jury then, without leaving the box, returned 

the following verdict through their foreman: "The 

jury find the defendant Torelli guilty of assault in 

the third degree, and desires to acquit Parentini." 
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